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Performance indicators

in EUR million 2019 2018

Net interest income 950.5 945.1

Risk result1 55.9 111.8

Net commission income –34.5 –33.7

Administrative expenses 541.4 474.7

Profit/loss before taxes 297.8 301.2

   

Cost/income ratio (CIR) in % 56.7 51.5

Return on equity (ROE) in % 9.5 10.2

Balance sheet figures

in EUR million 2019 2018

Total assets 83,754.4 77,387.6

Equity 3,426.7 3,340.4

CET1 ratio in % 9.1 9.7

Client receivables 69,526.3 65,932.5

Client deposits 60,766.5 54,336.1

Client figures

 2019 2018

Number of clients 4,367,494 4,073,875

Number of retail current accounts (DKB-Cash) 3,248,569 2,980,293

Employee figures

 2019 2018

FTEs | headcount as at 31 Dec. 3,839 | 4,148 3,431 | 3,731

Average age in years 42.7 42.9

Average length of service in years 8.1 8.4

Gender breakdown m | f in % 44.6 | 55.4  43.8 | 56.2 

Gender breakdown by management position m | f in % 64.2 | 35.8 62.4 | 37.6

Workforce availability in % 95.3 95.1

Training days/employee 4.0 3.8

1 Risk provisions until 2017
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Company profile

Deutsche Kreditbank AG (DKB), with approximately 4,148 employees and total 
assets of EUR 83.8 billion, is one of Germany’s top 20 banks. Our products are 
leaders in the market and are distinguished by fair terms. We serve more than 
4.3 million clients. They are able to conduct their banking transactions com-
fortably and securely online using the latest technology. Our industry experts 
assist our business clients in person at their offices. 

Entrepreneurial and sustainable actions are of great importance to us: this is 
why we use around 84% of our net assets for loans, such as for the construction 
of apartments suitable for the elderly and families, energy-efficient real estate, 
outpatient and inpatient health facilities, and for construction projects in 
schools and day-care centres in Germany. With client relationships built on a 
foundation of sustainability, DKB is a market leader in many of these sectors, 
and has been for some years. Since the financing of a first wind turbine in 1996, 
numerous renewable energy projects in the wind, solar and water sectors have 
been realised with DKB as a banking partner.

We foster a culture of appreciation and togetherness – both among ourselves 
as well as with our clients and business partners. A variety of tasks and devel-
opment opportunities for our employees and optimal framework conditions 
for daily working life make us a responsible and attractive employer. The 
DKB MANAGEMENT SCHOOL is our in-house further education and training 
academy for strengthening our employees’ and clients’ competencies. Our 
social commitment through our foundation, the DKB STIFTUNG, is proactive 
and comprehensive.
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Letter from the Board 
of Management
Dear Sir or Madam,  
dear #geldverbesserer,

In many ways, 2019 was a challenging year for DKB. The 
industry environment, which remains difficult, is character-
ised by the ongoing phase of low interest rates and high 
regulatory requirements and expenses. On the costs side, 
substantial investments and efforts in the digitisation of 
our products, services and processes are necessary. These 
challenges heighten the already intense competition 
and increase the pressure to develop client-centric and 
innovative solutions. Nevertheless, we managed to grow 
significantly in the year under review and to strengthen 
our position among the top 20 banks in Germany, thus 
bringing the 2019 financial year to a successful close. Our 
attractive offers for our clients, the continuous improve-
ment of our banking services and the ongoing clear focus 
on our sustainable business model were the key to this.

Our profit before taxes under IFRS amounted to EUR 297.8 
million at the end of the year, almost reaching the previous 
year’s record level of EUR 301.2 million. Net interest income 
amounted to a strong EUR 950.5 million (2018: EUR 945.1 
million) despite the low interest rate phase. The risk result 
improved to –EUR 55.9 million (2018: –EUR 111.8 million). 
As a result of the extensive investments in digitisation, 
the implementation of regulatory requirements and the 
recruitment of new employees to accelerate our digitisa-
tion initiative, administrative expenses rose to EUR 541.4 
million in the same period (2018: EUR 474.7 million). 

With these investments in digitisation and personnel, we 
are setting the course for a successful future on our way to 
becoming a technology company with a banking licence. 
Because the fact is: in order to remain competitive in the 
future, we as a bank must now more than ever think in 
terms of processes, efficient structures and the constant 
client focus of technology companies. Our mission is to 

provide digital banking products for our retail and busi-
ness clients that are tailored to their needs and provide 
them with a compelling client experience while maintain-
ing the highest security standards. To this end, we also 
work with other financial services providers and establish 
platform economies to continually expand our range of 
solutions. In this context, for example, in 2019 we launched 
a cooperation with the Swiss fintech company Loanboox, 
whose platform we use to successfully offer municipal 
financing for business clients and to increasingly digitise 
our sales channels.

The introduction of Google Pay and Apple Pay in the year 
under review was an important milestone in the innovative 
expansion of our payment solutions in retail banking. This 
means that we are extremely well-positioned in the mobile 
payment segment and that our anchor product DKB-Cash 
has become even more attractive. At the same time, we 
developed new credit card functions for our clients, such 
as Card Control and the 3-D Secure procedure, which has 
been significantly simplified. This has enabled us to focus 
even more strongly on the issue of security when making 
payments. 

The continuing strong growth in client numbers shows 
that our products and services meet the requirements of 
the market. In 2019, DKB had more than 4.3 million retail 
clients. We will continue to do everything we can to offer 
our existing clients added value and impressive customer 
experiences, and to convince new clients with our services 
every day. To achieve this, we are increasingly focusing on 
the scalability and acceleration of our retail and corporate 
customer business by automating internal and external 
processes and making them more efficient. In 2019, the 
focus was on the consistent digitisation of the lending 
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process and the expansion of automated decision-making 
channels. 

We link our growth targets and transformation to becom-
ing a tech bank with entrepreneurial actions that are in 
harmony with ecological, social and economic goals. Sus-
tainability has been part of the DKB DNA for many years. 
We were able to defend our position as “Industry Leader” in 
the ISS-ESG sustainability rating in 2019. Since mid-2019, 
we have been using #geldverbesserer to convince people 
throughout Germany to open an account with DKB and 
thus automatically promote sustainable projects, e.g. in 
the field of renewable energies and education.

In the 2019 financial year, we demonstrated that we are 
one of the most sustainable banks in Germany and that 
we are very responsive to the growing sustainability 
requirements of our clients, of politicians and regulators, of 
society, science and the media and – last, but not least – 
of our employees. With a social bond and the first blue 
social bond, we successfully issued two further sustainable 
capital market products. In addition, “DKB-Crowd” was 
introduced, an investment platform for financing sustain-
able projects from various sectors. We have developed and 
adopted a new, comprehensive sustainability strategy that 
contains ambitious goals and will again take sustainability 
at DKB to a new level.

Our excellent business result is the result of the cooper-
ation of a strong team. As the Board of Management, we 
would therefore like to thank our 4,148 employees for their 
high level of commitment and superb work in 2019. We 
would also like to thank our clients and business partners 
for their confidence in us: without them our success would 
not be possible!

It is in this spirit that we want to continue and build on our 
current good starting position. The overall conditions for 
the banking industry remain demanding, but we are facing 
up to the challenges and have ambitious goals. In 2019, 
we resolved to further develop our strategic orientation 
and will start implementing it in 2020. This means that we 
intend to reach 8 million clients by the end of 2023, which 
will not be possible without even faster and more intensive 
digitisation of our products and processes and a compel-
ling user experience. 

We look forward to actively shaping the future together 
with them and you as #geldverbesserer!

The Board of Management

March 2020

Thomas JebsenStefan Unterlandstättner Tilo Hacke

Alexander von Dobschütz Jan Walther
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Stefan Unterlandstättner 

Chair of the Board of Management

•	� Strategy and investments
•	� Business with savings banks
•	� Human resources and legal
•	� Sustainability
•	� Treasury
•	� Corporate communication, marketing
•	� Digital transformation
•	� Internal audit

Tilo Hacke 
Member of the Board of Management

•	 Retail clients
•	� Business clients 

–  Food and agriculture 
–  Renewable energies 
– Tourism

•	� Central and South-East sales region

Thomas Jebsen 
Member of the Board of Management

•	� Business clients 
–  Housing sector 
–  Local authorities and social infrastructure 
–  Energy and utilities

•	� Individual clients
•	� Sales regions North, South, Berlin-Branden-

burg, South-West, Magdeburg-Hanover and 
West

Alexander von Dobschütz
Member of the Board of Management

•	� Risk controlling
•	� Compliance
•	� Back office
•	� Workout

Jan Walther
Member of the Board of Management

•	� Finance
•	� Organisation
•	� Operations and banking services
•	� IT
•	� Data protection and occupational safety
•	� Non-financial risk

Executive bodies
Board of Management
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Supervisory Board
Shareholders’ representatives: 

Stephan Winkelmeier
From 21/08/2019
Chair of the Supervisory Board
Chair of the Board of Management of 
Bayerische Landesbank (CEO)

Michael Bücker 
Until 21/08/2019
Member of the Supervisory Board
Member of the Board of Management 
of Bayerische Landesbank

Bernd Fröhlich
Chair of the Board of Management
of Sparkasse Mainfranken
Würzburg

Stefan Höck
Deputy Head of Department
Public Sector Holdings, Foundation
Bavarian State Ministry of Finance  
and the Interior 

Michael Huber
Chair of the Board of Management  
of Sparkasse Karlsruhe

Marcus Kramer
Member of the Board of Management
of Bayerische Landesbank

Dr Ulrich Netzer
From 20/05/2019
Member of the Supervisory Board
President of the  
Sparkassenverband Bayern 
(Association of Bavarian Savings Banks)

Walter Pache
Until 20/05/2019
Independent financial expert

Dr Markus Wiegelmann
Member of the Board of Management
of Bayerische Landesbank
Independent financial expert

Dr Edgar Zoller 
Until 21/08/2019
Chair of the Supervisory Board
Deputy Chair of the Board of Manage-
ment of Bayerische Landesbank (CEO)

Honorary member:

Günther Troppmann
Former Chair of the Board of Manage-
ment of Deutsche Kreditbank AG

Employee representatives:

Bianca Häsen
Deputy Chair of the  
Supervisory Board
Employee of Deutsche Kreditbank AG

Michaela Bergholz
DBV representative
(Deutscher Bankangestellten-  
Verband; German association  
of bank employees)

Carsten Birkholz
Member of the Supervisory Board
Employee of
Deutsche Kreditbank AG

Christine Enz
DBV representative

Jörg Feyerabend
Employee of
DKB Service GmbH

Jens Hübler
Senior employee of  
Deutsche Kreditbank AG

Maria Miranow
Member of the Supervisory Board
Employee of Deutsche Kreditbank AG

Frank Radtke
Employee of Deutsche Kreditbank AG
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Frauke Plaß
Claudia Polaschewski
Thomas Pönisch
Roland Pozniak
Wolfgang Reinert
Johann Scheiblhuber
Burkhard Stibbe
Wulf-Dietmar Storm
Ralf Stracke
Thomas Teuber
Karsten Traum
Holm Vorpagel
Ekkehard Weiß
Jürgen Wenzler
Paul Westphal
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Thomas Wolff

Trustees
Dr Bernhard Krewerth
 
Dr Christian Marburger 
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Report of the Supervisory Board
Dear Sir or Madam,
On behalf of the Supervisory Board, I hereby report on the 
following monitoring and consultation issues handled by 
our Board in financial year 2019. 

Despite continuing difficult conditions that are posing 
a challenge to the entire banking industry, such as the 
ongoing low interest rate policy, high regulatory require-
ments and an intense competitive environment, DKB can 
look back on another good year.

As the Supervisory Board, we performed all the tasks 
incumbent upon us under the law and the Articles of 
Association in the 2019 financial year thoroughly and with 
great care, closely advising the Board of Management on 
the management of the company and monitoring the 
measures it implemented. Our Board believes that the 
Board of Management’s activities were lawful, appropriate 
and correct at all times. The Board of Management met its 
public information obligations at all times and informed 
us of events and measures relevant to the company on a 
regular basis, promptly and comprehensively. 

In the 2019 financial year, the Board of Management con-
sisted of five members and the Supervisory Board of 16.

Priorities of the Supervisory Board
During financial year 2019, the Supervisory Board held 
nine meetings. The main topics of the meetings in March, 
June, September and December included strategy and 
planning, business development, major projects and moni
toring the risk situation. This always included a discussion 
of current market developments.

A new member of the Supervisory Board was elected at 
the two extraordinary committee meetings on 25 January 
2019. In addition, the committees were reconstituted and 
the chairmanships were partially reassigned. 

 
The Supervisory Board meeting held on 14 March 2019 
was mainly devoted to the annual reports. The Supervisory 
Board initially dealt with the annual and consolidated 
financial statements for 2018, which it approved at this 
meeting after detailed examination and discussion and 
with reference to the audit reports of the auditor, who 
was also present. The Board then dealt with the respective 
annual reports on internal audit, prevention of money 
laundering, terrorism financing and economic crime, 
securities compliance, MaRisk compliance and informa
tion security. The meeting also focused on the DKB risk 
strategy, the internal governance principles and the 
efficiency review of the management and Supervisory 
Board activities in 2018. The Board also dealt with the 
initial individual and collective suitability assessment 
of the members of the Supervisory Board, the Board of 
Management and the key function holder.

The Supervisory Board met again on 19 June 2019 and 
focused on DKB’s conflict of interest policy and the focus 
report on the retail clients segment. In addition, updates 
on key projects such as the digitisation of the credit 
business were on the agenda. The establishment and 
review of the contingency plan was also discussed, and the 
reappointment of the remuneration officers was resolved.

Personnel topics were on the agenda at the meetings held 
on 21 August 2019 and the Supervisory Board dealt with 
the composition of the Supervisory Board and its commit-
tees. 

At its meeting on 19 September 2019, the Board dealt in 
particular with the further development of the strategic 
orientation of DKB. The meeting also focused on the topic 
of Group management in the BayernLB Group. Reports 
were also given on the on-site audit of the European 
Central Bank, the Remuneration Regulation for Institutions 
and the IT strategy.
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On 20 September 2019, the Supervisory Board met for a 
training session on the topic of earnings and risk culture 
and IT architecture at DKB. IT security and current regula-
tory developments were also on the agenda. 

At the last meeting of the year on 4 December 2019, the 
focus was again on the future strategic orientation of DKB 
and the corporate investment in Loanboox. The Super
visory Board also dealt with multi-year planning as well as 
capital, risk capital and liquidity risk planning. 

The Chair of the Supervisory Board was also in regu-
lar, intensive contact with DKB’s Board of Management 
between meetings. The Board of Management informed 
the Supervisory Board in a timely manner when appro-
priate. The Board was also notified of important events in 
writing between meetings. Where necessary, the Super
visory Board also passed resolutions between meetings.

Personnel changes in the Supervisory Board
The following personnel changes took place in the Super-
visory Board in the 2019 financial year:

From 25 January 2019 to 21 August 2019, Dr Edgar Zoller 
held the office of Chairman of the Supervisory Board. 
The Supervisory Board and the Board of Management 
thank him for his trusting cooperation. With effect from 
21 August 2019, Stephan Winkelmeier assumed the role 
of Chairman of the Supervisory Board. 

Walter Pache left the Supervisory Board on 20 May 2019. 
Dr Ulrich Netzer joined the Supervisory Board with effect 
from 20 May 2019. Michael Bücker left the Supervisory 
Board on 21 August 2019. The Supervisory Board and the 
Board of Management also thank them for their trusting 
cooperation. 

Committee work
In order to effectively carry out its tasks, the Supervisory 
Board formed five committees: Risk, Audit, Nomination, 
Compensation Control and Mediation Committees. The 
four-member Mediation Committee did not meet in 2019. 
The four other committees were involved in the work of 
the Supervisory Board through regular meetings. They 
prepared topics that were discussed or resolved by the 
Supervisory Board and passed their own resolutions 
within the scope of their decision-making powers. 

The five-member Risk Committee held four meetings in 
2019. In line with its remit, the committee dealt with issues 
relating to the risk situation, risk provisions and risk strat-
egy as well as current regulatory issues. Decisions were 
also taken on loans requiring submissions.

The Audit Committee, which has five members, met seven 
times in 2019. It supported the work of the Board in moni
toring the accounting process and the annual audit as well 
as the effectiveness of the risk management system, in 
particular the internal control system and internal audit. 
In addition, the topics of compliance, external audits and 
monitoring the independence of the auditor fell within its 
area of responsibility.

The Nomination Committee, which consists of four mem-
bers, met nine times in 2019. The main focus was on the 
preparation of nominations for the election of members 
of the Supervisory Board, the implementation of the ESMA 
and EBA Guidelines on the assessment of the suitability of 
members of the management body and key function holders 
and the performance of the efficiency review of manage-
ment and supervisory board activities in accordance with 
section 25 (11) nos. 3 and 4 KWG.

The Remuneration Committee, consisting of four mem-
bers, held a total of six meetings in 2019. It supported 
the Supervisory Board in setting targets for the Board of 
Management and in drawing up proposals for the design 
of the remuneration systems and reviewing their appropri-
ateness.
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Annual audit
The consolidated financial statements and the combined 
management report, as well as the accounting records 
these documents are based on for 2019, were audited 
by the auditors appointed by the shareholders’ meeting, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungs-
gesellschaft, Berlin, and provided with an unqualified audit 
opinion.

After a detailed discussion and review of the consolidated 
financial statements, the Supervisory Board endorsed the 
results of the annual audit. No objections to the result 
of the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
and the combined management report were raised as at 
31 December 2019. At its meeting today, the Supervisory 
Board approved the consolidated financial statements 
presented to it by the Board of Management.

The Supervisory Board thanks the Board of Management 
as well as all the employees for their great dedication and 
outstanding results in financial year 2019.

Berlin, 13 March 2020
On behalf of the Supervisory Board

 

Stephan Winkelmeier
Chair
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Structure and business model

One of the 20 largest banks in Germany
Deutsche Kreditbank AG (DKB), with total assets of 
EUR 83.8 billion, is one of Germany’s major banks. DKB 
is headquartered in Berlin and is a 100% subsidiary of 
Bayerische Landesbank (BayernLB). From a geographical 
perspective, our business activities focus on the Federal 
Republic of Germany. We are represented here locally at 
26 locations for our clients. 

As of the end of 2019, the DKB Group employed 3,839 
staff members (previous year: 3,431 employees). As at the 
balance sheet date, the DKB Group posted client receiv-
ables in the amount of EUR 69.5 billion (previous year: 
EUR 65.9 billion) as well as client deposits in the amount of 
EUR 60.8 billion (previous year: EUR 54.4 billion). The net 
interest income realised in the financial year amounted to 
EUR 950.5 million (previous year: EUR 945.1 million). Earn-
ings before taxes amounted to EUR 297.8 million (previous 
year: EUR 301.2 million). The profit on the ordinary activ-
ities of DKB AG reached EUR 230.7 million (previous year: 
EUR 295.1 million).

DKB passes approximately 84% of its net assets on to 
companies, local authorities and retail clients in Germany 
in the form of loans. The remaining 16% is attributable to 
highly liquid collateralised debt securities and central bank 
balances for liquidity management purposes.

Two-pillar model
DKB’s business is based on two pillars: retail/online bank-
ing and business clients. As an online bank, we provide 
online and mobile banking services to over 4 million retail 
clients throughout Germany. As a bank for business clients, 
we develop financing and investment solutions together 
with our clients at 26 locations. We focus on selected and 
primarily sustainable sectors and promote, for example, 
the construction and operation of wind, water, bioenergy 

and photovoltaic plants, the renovation and construction 
of residential buildings, schools, kindergartens and health 
centres as well as projects in German agriculture.

Sustainable and digitally focused
Instead of maximising short-term profits, we strive for 
long-term and valuable business relationships. The financ-
ing is based on people’s needs and, as a bank, we therefore 
make an important contribution to a society that is fit for 
the future. Our goal is to remain one of the pioneers of 
sustainable banking. Our sustainability strategy is based 
on the United Nations’ Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDGs) and the related objectives in the German sustain-
ability strategy. This allows us to create coherence with the 
highest national and international sustainability stan-
dards and to apply them to our activities in a measurable 
and comprehensible manner. This means that we ensure 
compliance with environmental and social standards when 
granting loans. In addition, we endeavour to conserve 
resources in-house and take our responsibility as an 
employer seriously. We also meet our obligations to society 
through the independent DKB foundation for corporate 
responsibility (the DKB STIFTUNG). More detailed informa-
tion on our sustainable business model is provided in the 
section Non-financial performance indicators on p. 45 f.

In the spirit of sustainable, successful business manage-
ment, we have been pursuing digitisation for years. At the 
beginning of 2000, we established the first online bank 
without branches and, from the outset, have consistently 
relied on the technical possibilities offered by modern 
online banking processes, innovations and targeted coop-
eration in order to create added value for our customers. 
We also benefit from the DKB Code Factory – our 100% 
subsidiary with a high level of flexibility and distinctive 
digital expertise. DKB Code Factory develops solutions 
and services with a focus on customer-focused financial 
products. 

Basic principles of the Group
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Market cultivation via three segments
We divide our activities into three market segments, as 
well as the segments financial markets, which includes our 
treasury, and “other”.

In the retail clients segment, we support Internet-savvy 
private clients and individual clients in the healthcare 
and liberal professions segments with the modern 
financial services provided by an online bank. Here we 
also focus on transparent services at competitive terms. 
The product range essentially comprises the DKB-Cash 
and DKB Business account packages, construction finance 
and retail loans, medical practice and law firm finance, 
real estate finance, investment products, and the partner 
(co-branding) credit card business. 

In the infrastructure segment, we offer customised financ-
ing and investment products to clients in the fields of local 
authorities, social infrastructure, housing, administrators, 
energy and utilities. Products include local bank and devel-
opment loans, term loans and overdraft facilities, sureties, 
deposit banking and the offer of business accounts includ-
ing payment transaction services. 

The corporate clients segment comprises clients from the 
areas of environmental technology, food and agriculture, 
and tourism. The products and services on offer corres
pond largely to those in the infrastructure segment. We 
provide a high level of expertise in integrating develop-
ment aid and civic participation when creating appropri-
ate client solutions. 

The financial markets segment includes DKB’s treasury 
activities. It is also responsible for interest book manage-
ment and regulatory liquidity security. Two significant refi-
nancing instruments are Pfandbriefs and uncovered bonds 
in the form of green bonds and social bonds. This segment 
also includes the regulatory liquidity portfolio. 

The “other” segment contains cross-divisional transactions 
and contributions to earnings which cannot be allocated 
to the segments according to source. 

Management and supervision

Close collaboration between executive bodies
The DKB AG Board of Management comprised five 
members in the past financial year: the Chair Stefan 
Unterlandstättner and the other members Tilo Hacke, 
Thomas Jebsen, Alexander von Dobschütz and Jan Walther. 

The Board of Management runs the company indepen
dently and is responsible for its operational affairs. It 
develops the strategic alignment, coordinates this with 
the Supervisory Board and ensures its implementation. In 
order for the Board to effectively perform its tasks, areas 
of responsibility are assigned to the Board members, who 
then take charge of the associated operations. Important 
strategic decisions as well as lending decisions are taken 
by the Board of Management as a whole. 

The Board of Management of DKB AG is appointed by the 
Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board advises the 
Board of Management in matters relating to the running of 
the company and monitors its business management. To 
perform this task effectively, it has formed five committees. 
The topics that were the focus of the Supervisory Board’s 
work and that of its committees in financial year 2019 are 
set out in the Supervisory Board’s report. At the end of 2019, 
the Supervisory Board comprised 16 members, with equal 
numbers of shareholder and employee representatives. 

In the meetings and outside of meetings, the Board of 
Management and the Supervisory Board work closely 
together. The Board of Management reports regularly, 
promptly and comprehensively to the Supervisory Board 
with regard to all issues concerning corporate planning, 
strategic development, the earnings and financial situ
ation, and the risk situation of the company. The cooper
ation between and within the executive bodies is regu-
lated in the Articles of Association and in the respective 
rules of procedure. In addition, DKB’s conflict of interest 
policy governs the handling of any conflicts of interest of 
the Board of Management and Supervisory Board.
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Corporate governance principles as a core value
The Board of Management and the Supervisory Board of 
DKB AG are committed to responsible corporate manage
ment and supervision that is focused on long-term value 
creation. The principles of corporate governance form the 
basis of and are the guiding principle for the conduct of 
all members of the company. In performing their duties, 
the Board of Management and Supervisory Board are 
guided by DKB’s corporate governance principles. These 
are derived from the provisions of the German Corporate 
Governance Code and are regularly reviewed for their 
effectiveness and regulatory compliance. As soon as 
the legal requirements or the shareholder’s regulations 
change, or new experience suggests a revision, the prin-
ciples are adapted. The corporate governance principles 
apply to both DKB AG as well as all the other companies 
of DKB. In the opinion of the Board of Management, good 
corporate governance particularly strengthens the trust 
that clients, business partners, investors, employees and 
the public have in DKB AG. It increases corporate trans
parency and supports the credibility of our company. From 
the perspective of the company’s management, good 
corporate governance also means a strict understanding 
of compliance. For us, lawful conduct is a basic prerequisite 
for lasting and stable business relationships and for long-
term, successful corporate development. The Board of 
Management sees the topic of compliance monitoring 
as a key management task and expressly commits itself 
to lawful, socially minded and ethical conduct. Our 
demanding understanding of management and conduct 
is also reflected in the conduct standards and guidelines. 
These include the criteria employed for strategic corpor
ate decision-making, which are oriented towards long-
term success, and the Code of Conduct, by which all our 
employees are guided. At the reporting level, DKB AG 
complies with corporate governance requirements, such 
as via the annual publication of a remuneration report in 
accordance with the company’s remuneration policy that 
can be viewed on the company’s website.

Corporate management

Strategically embedded control system
The organisation of the management and control 
processes in the company is based on a differentiated 
strategic planning. This is accompanied by a regular 
assessment of opportunities and risks. A comprehensive 
risk management system is designed to safeguard the 
stability of the Group. 

The planning is carried out with different time horizons: 
the starting point is the multi-year planning, from which 
we derive our short- and medium-term goals. These 
objectives are incorporated into the operational planning 
of the organisational units and are linked with corres
ponding measures at the operational level.

Key financial figures provide information on earn-
ings and performance
The commercial management focuses on achieving a 
net assets and financial position that is stable in the long 
term, and focused on positive earnings performance. To 
this end, we use key financial figures relating to earnings, 
profitability and value. Specifically, we use the following 
IFRS-based financial performance indicators for manage-
ment purposes:

–	�� Total assets: The performance of total assets provides 
information on the achievement of our volume targets.

–	�� Cost/income ratio (CIR): This KPI measures the relation-
ship between costs and income, and provides infor-
mation on the economic efficiency. The CIR represents 
the ratio of administrative expenses to the total of the 
income items of net interest income, net commission 
income, gains or losses on fair value measurement, 
gains or losses on hedge accounting, gains or losses on 
financial investments, other comprehensive income and 
the result from the disposal of AAC-category financial 
instruments (as part of the risk result).

–	�� Return on equity (ROE): This KPI measures the relation-
ship between earnings and equity, and provides infor-
mation on the return on equity employed. The ROE is 
calculated as a quotient between the profit before taxes 
and the assigned regulatory hard core capital.
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–	�� Net interest income: Given the significance of the trad
itional lending and deposit business for DKB, the net 
interest income (difference between interest income 
and interest expenses) is a key control parameter and an 
important performance indicator.

–	�� Profit before taxes: The profit before taxes figure is taken 
from the income statement and does not take the tax 
item into account.

–	�� Risk result: The performance of the risk result provides 
information on the achievement of the risk targets.

On the basis of the German Commercial Code, we consider 
net profit for the year before profit transfer to be a control 
parameter.

To assess the achievement of the growth targets, the 
following performance indicators are also considered at 
the segment level:

–	�� Volume of receivables (nominal),

–	�� Deposit volume and

–	�� Number of clients in the retail clients segment.

Development of qualitative company factors 
represented by non-financial data
Our business success is influenced not only by financial but 
also by non-financial indicators. The issue of sustainability 
is of particular importance in this context, as we pursue 
both our financial and non-financial corporate objectives 
with due regard for sustainable corporate development. 
As an organisation, we want to combine economic, eco
logical and social goals in a meaningful way. This includes 
employee concerns such as employee satisfaction, further 
training and health.

In order to measure the achievement of objectives, we use 
quantitative indicators as well as numerous contributing 
measures. 

The “Non-financial performance indicators” section 
explains the measures we take as we generally seek to 
achieve the various non-financial objectives.
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Report on the economic 
position
Economic environment
 
Development of the macroeconomic 
environment 

Global economy suffers from weak economic 
activity
In 2019, the global economy only grew by around 3.0% 
(2018: 3.6%). Rising economic and geopolitical tensions, 
uncertainty about the timing and modalities of Brexit and 
Italy’s temporary political instability created a climate of 
unease in the countries, in Europe and beyond. The year 
was marked by the trade dispute between the United 
States and China, and it remains to be seen how global 
trade relations and international cooperation will look in 
the future. 

Advanced economies suffered in 2019 above all from 
declining industrial production, which was particularly 
noticeable in the export-oriented eurozone and the United 
Kingdom. Industrial production in the emerging markets 
stagnated at a very low level in 2019.

Recently, the stock markets have exhibited an optimistic 
view of the future, with rising share prices also being a 
consequence of the low level of interest rates.

The euro exchange rate weakened over the course of the 
year. Above all, Brexit and a generally weaker euro econ-
omy weighed on the currency. 

The yield on ten-year German government bonds is highly 
volatile and at an absolute low level.

The German economy suffered increasingly from the sub-
dued global economy in 2019. The domestic economy was 
supported by private consumer spending, which remains 
high thanks to a robust labour market.

The inflation rate – measured by the consumer price index 
(CPI) – weakened yet again.

Development of the industry environment

No end to expansionary monetary policy in sight
Countries around the world have introduced supporting 
measures to offset the negative consequences of the 
stalled global economy. In the middle of 2019, the US Fed-
eral Reserve (Fed) cut interest rates for the first time since 
the global financial crisis of 2008 in order to protect the US 
economy from the weakening global environment despite 
continuing solid US growth. In addition, other countries 
such as Australia, Brazil, Indonesia and Turkey have also 
eased their monetary policy.

The key interest rate of the European Central Bank (ECB) 
remained at 0% in 2019 and is weighing on the earnings 
situation of the banking sector. At the same time, the ECB 
cut the deposit rate to –0.5% in September 2019. It also 
resumed the bond purchase programme and introduced 
a two-tier system to accommodate banks with excess 
liquidity. 

Banks remain under high competitive pressure
The banking industry is still in a state of transition and 
competitive pressure is increasing at various levels. On the 
costs side, the digitisation of traditional banking processes 
requires large investments. Internet and technology 
Groups, as well as fintechs, which are also entering the 
market, are setting standards when it comes to innovation 
and customer experience. Products and services should 
be accessible at all times and everywhere, in a fast, secure, 
convenient, innovative, holistic and cost-effective way – 
including those products and services offered by banks. 
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Companies that do not understand the exponential 
dynamics of technical advances or integrate them into 
their own business model will lose touch with the cus-
tomers of today and tomorrow. The willingness of young 
retail clients in particular to switch service providers is 
increasing. Partnerships with tech experts are one way for 
banks to bring innovative features to the market and offer 
customers added value. In addition to the high IT costs, the 
burden is increasing due to rising regulatory requirements. 

On the revenue side, the difficult low interest rate environ-
ment is leading to increased pressure on margins and is 
eroding banks’ net interest income. Banks are in a dilemma 
in this respect, as it continues to remain difficult to divert 
dwindling net interest income to the commission side. 
Customers are used to receiving banking products such as 
current accounts free of charge and the majority are not 
yet prepared to pay for them in the future. 

Business performance
 

Overall performance of DKB

Positive business performance in 2019
We continued to perform according to plan in the 2019 
financial year. The forecasts made in the 2018 Annual 
Report were confirmed and in some cases exceeded.

Thanks to our client-focused product and service port-
folio, we were able to increase our customer deposits to 
EUR 60.8 billion (previous year: EUR 54.4 billion). This was 
associated with significant balance sheet growth to EUR 
83.8 billion.

This growth enabled us to maintain our profit before taxes 
of EUR 297.8 million at the excellent level of the previous 
year (EUR 301.2 million). 

A major driver of this growth was the good earnings situ-
ation in our client business; net interest income after the 
risk result improved by EUR 61.2 million, or 7.4%, to EUR 
894.5 million. 

An improvement in the fair value result by EUR 46.9 mil-
lion to EUR 49.7 million also had a positive effect. In 
addition to the positive development on the international 
stock exchanges, we benefited here from the restructur-
ing of the DKB funds. Here, too, we focus on sustainability 
and realigned our funds in May 2019. The newly launched 
funds “DKB Nachhaltigkeitsfonds Europa”, “DKB Nach-
haltigkeitsfonds Klimaschutz” and “DKB Nachhaltigkeits-
fonds SDG” are focused on Europe, climate protection and 
a positive social impact, respectively, and enable us and 
our clients to contribute to global ecological and social 
improvements.

With the cross-media campaign #geldverbesserer we have 
been implementing our sustainable business philosophy 
in the media since the summer of 2019. The campaign 
specifically addresses customers who want to invest their 
money in sustainable and social projects and thus literally 
become #geldverbesserer. This authentic message has 
created positive effects, for example in terms of brand 
relevance and brand image. In line with this, we will con-
tinue to adhere to this strategy in the future and develop 
and offer additional products that make us and our clients 
#geldverbesserer. 

In order to be able to offer our clients the best possible 
service in the future, we will continue to invest in our digi-
tal infrastructure and the necessary personnel. The related 
investments in 2019 resulted in an increase of EUR 66.7 
million in administrative expenses to EUR 541.4 million.
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The forecast/actual comparison is as follows for DKB’s 
performance indicators:
 

DKB Group Forecast 2019 Actual 2019

Net interest income 
 
 
 
 

Slightly above 2018 
(previous year: EUR 945.1 million1) 

 
 
 

Forecast exceeded 
Net interest income of EUR 950.5 million was slightly above  

that of the previous year. This positive development is 
primarily due to the slight improvement of EUR 8.7 million to 

EUR  1,245.3 million in net interest income from the  
lending and money market business.

Risk result 
 
 

Slight improvement on 2018 
(previous year: –EUR 111.8 million) 

 

Forecast exceeded 
Due to the continued good economic development  

and an improved portfolio structure,  
the risk result improved to –EUR 55.9 million.

Profit/loss before taxes 
 
 
 
 
 

Slightly below 2018 
(previous year: EUR 301.2 million) 

 
 
 
 

Forecast exceeded 
Profit before taxes of EUR 297.8 million was at the same level 
as the previous year. As forecast, good earnings in the client 

business were offset by increased expenses for internal projects 
to digitise processes and implement regulatory requirements. 

In addition to the improved risk result, the result was also posi-
tively influenced by a good fair value result.

Total assets 
 
 

Slightly above 2018 
(previous year: EUR 77.4 billion) 

 

Forecast exceeded 
The receivables volume increased significantly to  

EUR 83.8 billion. This growth resulted primarily from the  
increase in customer deposits and receivables.

ROE 
 
 

Slightly below 2018 
(previous year: 10.2%) 

 

Forecast achieved 
Return on equity amounted to 9.5%.  

While the result remained at the previous year’s level,  
regulatory capital increased as expected.

CIR 
 
 

Slightly above 2018 
(previous year: 51.5%) 

 

Forecast not achieved 
The cost/income ratio stood at 56.7%.  

Compared to the previous year, administrative  
expenses rose more sharply than income.

1  Previous year’s figures have been adjusted; see Note 2 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

DKB AG Forecast 2019 Actual 2019

Net profit before  
profit transfer 
 
 
 

Slightly above 2018 
(previous year: EUR 295.1 million) 

 
 
 

Forecast not achieved 
At EUR 230.7 million, net profit for the year before profit  

transfer was down on the previous year further than expected.  
The main difference to the consolidated result is due to  

the different regulations of HGB accounting, especially with  
regard to the consideration of fair value changes.
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Overall performance of the segments

Forecast/actual comparison of key performance indicators 
 
Segments Forecast 2019 Actual 2019 

Retail clients 
New clients:  
Receivables volume:

 
more than 350,000 
slightly above 2018 (EUR 12.4 billion)

Forecast achieved 
443,000 

(EUR 12.8 billion)

Infrastructure 
Receivables volume:

 
slightly above 2018 (EUR 40.2 billion)

Forecast exceeded 
EUR 43.0 billion

Corporate clients 
Receivables volume:

 
slightly above 2018 (EUR 13.1 billion)

Forecast achieved 
Receivables volume: EUR 13.5 billion

Deposit volumes  
in the client segments

slightly above 2018 
(EUR 50.5 billion) 

Forecast exceeded 
EUR 57.2 billion

Retail clients segment

Market environment still evolving
In the overall economic environment, the GDP growth rate 
in 2019 compared to the previous year was 0.6%. On the 
whole, the German economy grew at a slower pace in 2019 
than in previous years. In contrast, private consumption 
increased by 1.6%. The unemployment rate fell by a further 
0.2% year-on-year to an average of 5%. 

In 2019, retail banking continued to be dominated by the 
topics of low interest rates, regulation and digitisation. 
Traditional banking business models are no longer up to 
the new challenges and customer requirements in some 
cases, and financial service providers will have to make 
large investments to adapt to the new conditions and 
survive in the highly competitive market. The tougher 
market conditions in the banking sector are leading more 
and more to consolidation. This is making itself felt in the 
public-sector savings banks, the public-sector financial 
institutions and the cooperative financial group. 

In addition to innovative fintechs, Internet and technology 
Groups which previously served other industries, such 
as retail, are pushing into the banking market. Customer 
requirements, especially in terms of convenience and 
usability, are oriented towards the services of these big-
techs. IT companies thus set the direction for future bank-
ing innovations and business model developments. Big 
data and artificial intelligence play an important role in this. 

By cooperating with fintechs, banks themselves can 
become platforms and occupy new digital economic areas 
within the meaning of platform economies. 

With the entry into force of the European legislator’s 
Payment Services Directive 2 (PSD2), registered and 
licensed third-party payment service providers (TPPs) 
were also able to integrate their services via central tech-
nical interfaces (banking APIs) as of 14 September 2019. 
This allows third-party account accesses, for example, to 
be viewed and managed easily and conveniently. Third-
party providers are digital payment service providers that 
are subject to the supervision and control of BaFin and to 
which banks must grant access to individual account infor-
mation with the express consent of the account holder 
and in compliance with certain security requirements. This 
resulted in changes and improvements in payment trans-
actions, e.g. with regard to security and online banking.

The most important goal is to increase client benefit, 
while at the same time maintaining the highest security 
standards, especially in data protection. In order to find 
out what our clients think of our products, what they have 
experienced, and what they want, we set up the online 
community “DKB Meet” in 2018. Through the community, 
we were in regular contact with our clients on all aspects of 
DKB-Cash and carried out interactive tasks, short inter-
views and small-scale tests with them. After a successful 
pilot phase, the second phase of the project started in 
February 2019 with an extended time frame and a larger 
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number of participants. Within this framework, clients will 
continue to be involved in the development of products, 
communication and services. 

Furthermore, we continuously measure client satisfaction 
on the basis of the international standard, the Net Pro-
moter Score (NPS). The NPS is a key figure calculated by 
simple, standardised customer surveys and serves as an 
“early indicator of future business development”. In prin
ciple, the NPS can lie between –100 and +100. We attained 
a value of 58 in 2019, which is above the NPS of all online 
banks in 2019 as a whole. The proportion of clients with a 
high propensity to recommend us to others, “promoters”, 
which was determined as part of the Net Promoter Score, 
was again almost 70% in 2019, and thus at a high level. 

Client-focused value-added services for  
debit cards and credit cards
Against this background, we continued to work towards 
expanding our product and service portfolio in the retail
clients segment in 2019 in a targeted manner in order to 
meet the requirements of our clients and offer them added 
value. 

Our key anchor product “DKB-Cash” continued to 
enjoy great popularity among clients in 2019 and once 
again allowed us to remain in the position of market 
leader among online banks for current accounts. The 
distinction between “active client” and “non-active client” 
continued to apply, with correspondingly different 
product and service offerings, although more than one 
in two DKB-Cash clients are now registered as an active 
client and benefit from our extensive range of services. 
In addition to free payment and withdrawals worldwide, 
these include free participation in DKB live events and 
protection if a DKB Visa card is lost. 

In this context, 2019 saw the achievement of important 
milestones in the retail client segment, which contribute to 
our “no-cash strategy”. In May 2019, we launched Google 
Pay, which enabled us to enter the mobile payment mar-
ket. Using Google Pay’s Android app, our clients can use 
the DKB Visa card and their smartphone to make mobile 
payments in an increasing number of stores, apps and 
online shops. Shortly thereafter, in June 2019, Apple Pay 
was introduced, enabling our clients to take advantage of 
all the benefits of their DKB Visa card for mobile payments. 
This was in response to strong client demand and one of 
the most important payment trends of recent years. In the 
second half of the year, we expanded our range of services 
by introducing both Apple Pay and Google Pay for the 
Miles & More credit cards. 

At the same time, we further developed value-added 
services such as Card Control and 3-D Secure for our credit 
cards and increased our focus on payment security. With 
Card Control in the DKB Banking app, our clients can 
define the individual transactions with their DKB Visa card 
they would like to be notified about via push notifications.
In addition, they can block individual types of transactions 
or permanently block their credit cards in the event of an 
emergency. 3-D Secure provides additional protection, 
using the latest technical standards for online credit card 
payments. Payments at participating merchants are con
veniently approved by the client in the DKB Banking app 
via a mobile device.

Expanded product range through partnerships
With the help of partnerships, we have been able to 
steadily expand our product range. For example, we devel-
oped our services offered with the Lufthansa Miles & More 
credit card by offering individualised additional services 
for collecting miles, and additional insurance packages.

Our range of banking-related topics, such as insurance, 
is generally well received by customers. The partnerships 
entered into in previous years with the insurance robo-
advisor Clark and the Hamburg start-up Wechselpilot, the 
digital switching service for electricity and gas providers, 
continue to be successful. In line with client needs, we are 
constantly looking into further development stages and 
new partnership opportunities.
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Sustainable bonds and funds for  
#geldverbesserer
In 2019, the demand for sustainable investments con
tinued to rise significantly. We strengthened our position 
as the most sustainable top-20 bank, not least with our 
new brand campaign #geldverbesserer, and in May we 
issued a social bond for the first time, which also attracted 
retail clients due to its denomination. This was followed 
by the issuing of three sustainable funds in June, together 
with BayernInvest as fund manager, which follow the 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) of the United 
Nations in their investment approach.

Rules and regulations: PSD2 directive 
implemented
We implemented the switch on schedule and made a 
test portal available to third-party providers as early as 
March 2019. This allowed developers of the licensed and 
registered third-party service providers to test the new, 
future PSD2 API. In a second step, the test portal was 
expanded and released for live testing. The dedicated 
PSD2-compliant interface has been available to all PSD2 
service providers since September 2019. By the end of 
2019, around 500 third-party service providers, banks and 
savings banks had registered. In addition, we migrated our 
more than two million customers who previously used the 
iTAN method to either the chipTAN and TAN2Go backup 
methods, at the client’s choice. As part of this process, 
strong security authentication (SCA) was also introduced 
on mobile devices and PCs in September 2019, paying 
particular attention to usability. On the mobile side, this 
was implemented by linking the mobile phone, among 
other things.

Encouraging growth in client numbers
The number of new clients acquired confirms the success 
of our strategy in the retail client segment: in 2019, we 
succeeded in expanding our client base to more than 
4.3 million (previous year: 4.0 million) and defending 
our market leadership among online banks for current 
accounts.

Our anchor product DKB-Cash is one of the few current 
accounts that is still offered free of charge despite difficult 
market conditions. 

The lending business was under strong competitive 
pressure. Low interest rates motivated clients with existing 
contracts to make repayments. Nevertheless, strong new 
business enabled us to expand our volume of receivables 
(nominal) to EUR 12.8 billion (previous year: EUR 12.4 
billion). At the same time, the deposit volume rose to EUR 
40.8 billion (previous year: EUR 35.0 billion).

The securities business picked up momentum rapidly in 
2019. The number of retail client custody accounts rose by 
38% to more than 343,910 (previous year: 249,000). 

Retail clients deposit and receivables volume

EUR billions

40.8

12.8 12.4

35.0

2019 2018

  Retail clients deposit volume
  Retail clients receivables volume (nominal)
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Individual client division
Technological developments and regulatory requirements 
once again proved to be key drivers of change in the bank-
ing industry this year. In this context, the individual client 
segment was also required to flexibly align its processes 
and products to the respective client needs and to serve 
these needs in the best possible way. The segment, which 
mainly offers services for doctors, pharmacists, legal and 
tax advisors and wealthy individual clients, has therefore 
positioned itself in a more process-oriented manner and 
bundled market-related activities in its own specialist areas 
in order to intensify support for its demanding clients and 
to further increase its attractiveness for new clients in a 
highly competitive environment.

Compared to the previous year, around 25% more 
new clients were acquired in 2019. In total, more than 
3,580 new clients are among the approximately 63,000 
individually supported commercial and retail clients. 
Assets increased slightly. At the end of 2019, the receiv-
ables volume was EUR 1.68 billion (previous year: EUR 1.62 
billion). The deposit volume amounted to EUR 3.5 billion 
(previous year: EUR 3.4 billion).

Real estate financing for individual clients
In the period under review, our clients increasingly sought 
real estate financing. We successfully met the increased 
demand by using modern customer information systems 
and related technologies. The successful and efficient 
cooperation with external contractual partners was further 
expanded. Stable growth was achieved despite the intense 
competition in these client groups and the continued com-
petitive market environment. 

Starter package for lawyers in high demand
The DKB starter package for business start-ups, which was 
introduced in the previous year, continued to enjoy great 
popularity. With this package, we support aspiring lawyers 
in the process of establishing their own law firm. Clients 
can combine individual modules of the starter package 
according to their own needs. This gives start-ups the free-
dom to devote themselves to new professional challenges.

Derivatives advice for business clients
In 2019, we trained derivatives specialists for the first time. 
These are employees of the individual clients segment 
who advise our business clients on how to conclude or ter-
minate interest rate derivatives. Demand for this advisory 
service was already strong among our business clients in 
the reporting period. 

 
Infrastructure segment

Stable overall performance
In the infrastructure segment, the interest rate situation, 
economic development and public investments influ-
enced business development and intensified competition 
and pressure on margins. 

For 2019, the economic trend was generally subdued; 
trade conflicts that had begun or already been conducted 
affected the economic sectors in different ways. In con-
trast, the question of how to cope with the structural 
change caused by digitisation was of universal relevance. 
Construction activity continued to flourish; price trends on 
the real estate market were essentially expansive. Catch-up 
potential was seen in the area of public investments. 

Nevertheless, the asset volume in 2019 developed pos-
itively in all client groups in the infrastructure segment, 
while only two out of four client groups recorded a moder-
ate decline in liabilities overall. 

The establishment of digital platforms further intensified 
the competitive situation and increased the pressure to 
innovate. In response to this, we acquired a EUR 4.2 million 
stake in the Swiss fintech company Loanboox in January 
2019 as part of our digitisation strategy. The acquisition 
further strengthened the digital platform business in the 
public finance segment. The independent money and 
capital market platform for public corporations, large 
corporations, institutional investors and banks significantly 
simplifies the public tender process by intelligently linking 
borrowers and lenders and making offers comparable. In 
Germany, 550 cities, municipalities, administrative districts 
and municipal utilities are already active on the credit 
platform.
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New business with our clients in the infrastructure seg-
ment was further expanded in 2019 and amounted to EUR 
7.2 billion as at 31 December 2019 (previous year: EUR 
5.7 billion). As at the balance sheet date, the receivables 
volume (nominal) in the client groups amounted to EUR 
43.0 billion (previous year: EUR 40.2 billion). The deposits 
business increased to EUR 14.1 billion (previous year: EUR 
13.3 billion).

Infrastructure deposit and receivables volume

EUR billions

14.1

43.0

13.0

40.2

2019 2018

  Infrastructure deposit volume
  Infrastructure receivables volume (nominal)

 

Local authorities and social infrastructure:  
moderate growth
The local government and social infrastructure client 
group enjoyed moderate growth in the lending busi-
ness. The predominantly good financial situation of local 
authorities and the various development programmes led 
to increased investment activity in public and social infra-
structure and helped to reduce the investment backlog. 
At the same time, however, they also led to slightly weaker 
demand for loans. 

Local authorities invested primarily in transport, education 
and administrative infrastructure. The social economy, 
especially the welfare agencies, invested more in the 
creation of educational and health facilities such as day-
care centres, nursing homes or the creation of alternative 
housing such as residential groups for assisted living or 
outpatient residential groups. In addition, the social econ-
omy was increasingly concerned with the digitisation of 
processes and the implementation of new technologies in 
its fields of action. 

The asset volume of this client group amounted to EUR 
13.8 billion. The volume of liabilities amounted to around 
EUR 6 billion. Our client base increased to 11,617 clients. 

Energy and utilities: investment needs  
remain high
As expected, the investment needs of utilities and waste 
management companies remained at a high level in 2019, 
with increasing momentum in new loan business with 
energy utilities, water companies and the transport sector. 
Despite the continued strong competitive environment, 
the loan business in 2019 was stable.

New lending business continued to be dominated by 
investments in the energy, water / waste water and 
transport sectors. A trend towards investment projects in 
the areas of digitisation, broadband networks and smart 
cities was still discernible among public utilities and 
municipal (related) companies. In investing, the public 
utilities can act from a position of financial strength. 
The economic situation in Germany in recent years has 
enabled them to prepare well for the future.

The asset volume as of 31 December 2019 amounted 
to EUR 6.6 billion. Compared to the previous year, this 
represents an increase of EUR 205.0 million. The volume 
of liabilities amounted to around EUR 1.3 billion, which is 
around EUR 145 million more than in 2018. Our number 
of clients continued to rise to 2,038, up 120 clients on the 
previous year. 
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Housing: strong lending business
2019 was another strong year for our housing client group. 
The ECB’s ongoing low interest rate policy continued to 
favour investments in real estate. In the portfolio, invest-
ments were made in the adaptation and development of 
housing in line with demand. New construction initiatives 
in the major cities were continued, and an increasing focus 
on sustainability promoted energy-saving redevelopment 
measures. In addition to traditional bank financing with 
long fixed interest periods, demand for capital market 
or capital-market-related products (e.g. promissory note 
loans) continued to rise. Against the background of low 
interest rates, the debt reduction strategy for housing 
companies was also continued, particularly in the demo-
graphically weaker regions.

The housing client group recorded a very positive devel-
opment in the lending business with growth of EUR 1.8 
billion, while the volume of liabilities remained largely 
constant at EUR 2.0 billion. Our market share of housing 
companies amounted to 71% in 2019. The calculation is 
based on the housing companies organised in the GdW 
with their own housing stock.

Administrators: stable development
Our management business developed very well overall, 
with new client demand continuing to rise in 2019. In the 
year under review we were able to onboard 1,053 new 
clients. 

The assets managed in managed accounts increased to 
over EUR 4.6 billion (previous year: EUR 3.9 billion). At the 
end of the year, more than 11,159 commercial property 
managers with over 63,664 condominium owner associ-
ations managed their portfolios with us. Almost 65,000 
clients used our administration platform to manage their 
own and third-party properties, including over 50,000 
retail clients. In times of low ECB interest rate policy, real 
estate is still considered a good investment, although 
further development will depend on the issues of rent 
control, rent caps and property taxes. Despite efforts by 
the German government to facilitate access to residential 
property through financial incentives such as the child 
allowance for families building a house, housing construc-
tion subsidies and guarantee programmes, the number of 
approved owner-occupied apartments declined in 2019.

Civic participation: successful launch of  
a crowd investing platform
Our centre of competence for civic participation supports 
investments that are implemented in the regional environ-
ment of the local population. One of the focal points here 
is renewable energies (RE). In 2019, renewable energies 
contributed 42% to the electricity supply in Germany. With 
a share of approx. 40%, citizens are by far the largest group 
of protagonists in the expansion of renewable energies 
to date. As expected, the expansion of wind energy is 
clearly declining, partly due to a lack of building permits, 
although we are seeing that interest in citizen participa-
tion solutions for the remaining and requested projects 
remains high. 

In our segment of alternative forms of housing, we also 
noted increased demand in 2019, increasingly also outside 
the metropolitan areas. New neighbourhood and residen-
tial concepts are emerging on the market, ranging from 
self-organised – including cooperative – stakeholders to 
creative new design and architecture-centred concepts in 
metropolitan areas.

In 2019, the number of civic participation projects rose 
to 133.

With the launch of the DKB crowd investment platform, 
DKB-Crowd, a milestone was reached throughout the bank 
for the interaction between retail and business clients. 
In cooperation with DKB Crowdfunding GmbH, we have 
been offering a fully digital and streamlined way to involve 
citizens in our business clients’ projects since September 
2019. Crowdfunding by means of subordinated loans as 
economic equity combined with traditional bank financing 
creates a positive interaction and enables us to cover the 
total capital requirements of our business clients. For our 
retail clients, this results in a new asset class of investment 
with above-average returns and higher risk compared 
with traditional bank products. They can also participate 
directly in regional, social and ecological projects via DKB-
Crowd. In November 2019, the first project was successfully 
financed via DKB-Crowd.
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Corporate clients segment

Market position further strengthened
In the year under review, we recorded a significant upturn 
in growth in the lending business compared with the pre-
vious year in an increasingly competitive environment. Our 
new business, driven by the financing of renewable energy 
projects and investments in agriculture and food, more 
than compensated for the high repayments and further 
consolidated our market positions. Loans and advances 
to clients increased to EUR 13.5 billion (previous year: 
EUR 13.2 billion). Customer deposits performed according 
to plan and remained largely stable at EUR 2.3 billion (pre-
vious year: EUR 2.4 billion). 

In 2019, the syndicated business and leasing and factoring 
units were integrated into the corporate clients segment. 
Independently of the structural allocation to the corpor
ate clients segment, syndicated business of all our client 
groups is supported in this specialist division. With the 
strategic expansion of syndicated business and targeted 
network partner management, we have established 
ourselves as a professional and sought-after financing 
partner in the German banking market. As at the end of 
the financial year, our syndicated business portfolio stood 
at EUR 2.4 billion. In the leasing and factoring segment, 
we support selected leasing companies with the aim of 
purchasing lease receivables within the scope of forfaiting 
in the target client industries. Declining forfaiting rates 
were observed on the market, which led to a slight decline 
in forfaiting business. 

We have intensified our cooperation with commercial 
financing platforms. Furthermore, we adapted our Internet 
presence to the increased requirements of our business 
clients with our own online application channels and new 
landing pages. 

The transformation to a tech bank as well as changing 
client needs and markets in the digital environment 
require new structures, ranging from market research 
to development and cooperation with fintechs. A new 
department has been set up to design and coordinate this 
digital transformation in the corporate clients segment. 

Corporate clients deposit and receivables volume

EUR billions

2.3

13.5

2.4

13.1

2019 2018

  Corporate clients deposit volume
  Corporate clients receivables volume (nominal)

Environmental technology: receivables volume 
slightly higher
After an already difficult previous year, the situation in the 
wind energy sector deteriorated further in 2019. Numerous 
new projects are stuck in complex approval procedures. As 
a result, demand from market players for the existing ten-
der quotas was low. The reason for this, in addition to out-
standing permits, is the still-relevant influence of appeals 
against newly granted permits, which initially necessitate 
lengthy legal proceedings. The direct effects were particu-
larly hard on the plant manufacturers.

As a result of these negative general conditions, the num-
ber of new installations reached a historic low. Intense pric-
ing and terms competition among financing institutions 
arose for the few realisable projects. The impression that 
politicians were merely taking note of this negative devel-
opment in the industry persisted well into the year. It was 
not until the autumn that the first declarations of intent to 
improve the regulatory framework were issued. We took 
advantage of this problematic situation in new plant con-
struction by means of targeted sales campaigns in order 
to leverage discernible financing potential in the portfolio 
and thus partially compensate for the weak construction of 
new plants.
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In contrast to wind energy, new installations and thus 
also the demand for financing for photovoltaic systems 
developed very positively in 2019. Tender quotas are 
still significantly oversubscribed. In addition to increased 
demand for larger plants subject to tenders as well as for 
smaller plants below the tender limit of 750 kWp, there 
was noticeable demand for plant concepts and financing 
outside of the EEG funding for the first time. This was due 
to a further reduction in production costs, rising electricity 
prices and the previous limitation of the EEG funding to 
plant sizes of a maximum of 10 MWp. Against this back-
ground, we developed suitable financing standards for 
this new business model. All in all, we benefited from the 
positive market development and our continued strong 
market position in the photovoltaics sub-segment. 

We systematically tapped further new business potential in 
2019 under the “Energy Solutions” label. The Energy Solu-
tions label covers topics such as selected storage technol-
ogies, hydrogen, energy contracting, energy distribution 
and charging infrastructure for electromobility, thus lever-
aging further growth potential arising from the ongoing 
energy turnaround process. In particular, our focus is on 
sector coupling, i.e. extending the energy system trans-
formation beyond the electricity market to include the 
heating and transport sectors in Germany. 

Despite the very difficult situation in the former core 
sub-segment of wind energy, the total volume of receiv-
ables (nominal) in our environmental technology client 
group slightly increased to EUR 8.6 billion (previous 
year: EUR 8.5 billion). The liabilities business continued to 
decline as planned.

Food and agriculture: receivables  
volume up
After the drought in 2018, this year’s crop yields returned 
to an average level. Nonetheless, heat and drought again 
caused regional yield losses in the year under review. 
With good grain harvests worldwide, producer prices 
were lower than the excellent levels of the previous year. 
Apart from regional exceptions, adequate yields were thus 
achieved overall in crop cultivation. Producer prices in milk 
and pig production remained at a stable level. Pig farmers 
in particular are benefiting from brisk export demand, 
especially from Asia. With moderate feed costs, profitable 
animal production is thus possible in the segments men-
tioned. 

The investment activity of farmers remained weak. This 
was due not only to the previous year’s liquidity burdens 
that had to be addressed, but also to a lack of planning 
reliability as a result of changing social and political 
conditions. The investment climate in the food industry 
remains favourable. The focus in the lending business is on 
investments in production facilities in the food processing 
industry as well as for land purchases and the acquisition 
of agricultural operations in the context of generational 
change. DKB’s own online application process was intro-
duced as an additional sales channel. 

As part of our digital strategy, we have been offering our 
agricultural clients, as one of the major agricultural banks 
in Germany, a free digital intercompany comparison since 
the beginning of the year. This is an innovative service that 
allows farmers to compare the economic performance 
of their own farm with that of other farms. The compar-
ison results allow direct conclusions to be drawn about 
the yield and liquidity situation as well as the stability of 
the farm itself and show the potential for optimising the 
personal balance sheet structure. In addition, it is possible 
to present important key figures of one’s own company in 
condensed form and to display long-term balance sheet 
developments.

The volume of receivables in our food and agriculture seg-
ment increased and now stands at EUR 3.7 billion (previous 
year: EUR 3.5 billion).
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Tourism: receivables volume almost constant
The tourism market continued its positive development 
this year. Mixed-use projects within the framework of 
urban development measures and the market entry of 
new operators became increasingly important. Prime 
yields did not increase further and consolidated at a high 
level. Due to the lack of supply, the transaction volume 
was lower than in the previous year. New business doubled 
compared with the previous year and will be recognised as 
receivables on a pro rata basis in the following year. Thanks 
to the continuing high level of extraordinary repayments 
due to project sales, the volume of receivables changed 
only slightly and amounted to EUR 1.0 billion (previous 
year: EUR 1.0 billion).

Financial markets segment

Securities held for liquidity purposes reduced
The securities held for liquidity purposes decreased slightly 
in nominal terms. Market developments, however, led to 
an increase in hidden reserves and revaluation reserves.

Refinancing: retail social bond and blue social 
bond issued
We continue to rely on the three refinancing pillars of 
client deposits, development business and the issuance of 
bonds, with our client deposits growing significantly year-
on-year.

As part of our sustainable focus, we issued the first retail 
social bond in May 2019. Having already made progress in 
sustainable investments in previous years with two green 
bonds and one social bond for institutional investors, we 
now also enabled retail clients to invest their money via a 

sustainable bond. The retail social bond has been met with 
considerable interest. 

In November 2019, we followed up with the issue of the 
first blue social bond, which was extremely successful. The 
bond was launched on the market as a public Pfandbrief 
with a volume of EUR 500 million and is used to refinance 
loans in the areas of waste water and water supply. 

Parallel to the social bonds, we issued registered Pfand-
briefe with a total volume of EUR 108 million (previous 
year: EUR 50 million) last year.

Our refinancing sources

in %

6815

11
1 5

  Customer deposits 
  Development business 
  Capital market 
  Other liabilities 
  Equity
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Moody’s ratings remain unchanged at A2 for the 
outstanding senior unsecured bonds and Aaa for the 
public/mortgage Pfandbriefe.

DKB’s ratings

 Public-sector Pfandbriefs Mortgage Pfandbriefs  Issuer rating
 Senior unsecured bonds 

(junior senior unsecured)

Moody’s rating Aaa Aaa A1 A2

ISS ESG rating – – B– (prime status) – 

imug rating very positive (A) positive (BBB) positive (BB) – 

The overall volume of new business in programme loans 
with development institutions amounted to EUR 1.6 
billion in 2019 (2018: EUR 1.3 billion). Demand focused on 
products for the energy turnaround, with the KfW pro-
grammes “Energy-Efficient Construction”, “Energy-Efficient 
Rehabilitation” and “Renewable Energies Standard” being 
the main beneficiaries. The long-standing cooperation with 
the European Investment Bank was continued by calling in 
a tranche of EUR 50 million and concluding a further global 
loan of EUR 100 million for investments in infrastructure 
and renewable energies. 

Total transit and global loans amounted to approximately 
EUR 12.3 billion at the end of 2019 (31 December 2018: 
EUR 12.4 billion).

Other segment

The “other” segment contains cross-divisional transactions 
and contributions to earnings which cannot be allocated 
to the segments according to source. These include the 
central administrative expenses of DKB AG, the earnings 
contribution of DKB Service GmbH and the non-core 
business.

DKB Service GmbH continued its activities in line with its 
task profile for the DKB Group. In the first half of 2019, it 
again provided the majority of its services for DKB AG.
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Results of operations and net 
assets of the DKB Group (IFRS)
Results of operations
 

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Net interest income1 950.5 945.1 5.4 0.6

Risk result –55.9 –111.8 55.8 50.0

Net interest income after risk result 894.5 833.3 61.2 7.4

Net commission income –34.5 –33.7 –0.8 –2.4

Gains or losses on fair value measurement 49.7 2.8 46.9 >100.0

Gains or losses on hedging transactions1 –4.4 –11.9 7.6 63.3

Gains or losses on financial investments 0.1 0.4 –0.3 –78.7

Administrative expenses –541.4 –474.7 –66.7 –14.1

Expenses from bank levies, deposit guarantee 
scheme and banking supervision –51.8 –40.3 –11.4 –28.4

Other income and expenses –14.5 25.2 –39.8 –157.5

Profit/loss before taxes 297.8 301.2 –3.4 –1.1

Income taxes 0.1 –0.1 0.2 >100.0

Consolidated profit/loss 297.9 301.1 –3.2 –1.1

1 � �Previous year’s figures have been adjusted; see Note 2 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The DKB Group was able to maintain its consolidated net 
profit for 2019 at the previous year’s level. This was primar-
ily due to the improved net interest income after risk result, 
which was driven by the overall good business perform
ance of the market divisions of the DKB Group. 

The improved fair value result also had a positive effect. 
Here we benefited from the favourable development on 
the international stock exchanges, in particular through 
the DKB sustainability funds launched in 2019. 

This excellent earnings situation enabled the DKB Group to 
continue its investment strategy for digitising and improv-
ing internal processes, which led to higher administrative 
expenses.
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Net interest income

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Interest income and positive interest expenses 1,626.9 1,722.5 –95.6 –5.6

Interest expenses and negative interest income1 –676.4 –777.4 101.0 13.0

Net interest income 950.5 945.1 5.4 0.6

1 � �Previous year’s figures have been adjusted; see Note 2 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Net interest income is allocated to the segments as follows:

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Retail clients 381.8 424.1 –42.3 –10.0

Infrastructure 359.6 349.0 10.6 3.0

Corporate clients 183.1 190.1 –7.0 –3.7

Financial markets1 26.4 –26.3 52.7 >100.0

Other 24.6 25.9 –1.3 –5.0

Reconciliation/Consolidation –25.0 –17.7 –7.3 –41.2

Net interest income 950.5 945.1 –5.4 0.6

1 � �Previous year’s figures have been adjusted; see Note 2 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Risk result

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Risk provisions result –63.7 –104.8 41.1 39.2

Result from the disposal of AAC-category 
financial instruments 7.8 –7.0 14.8 >100.0

Risk result –55.9 –111.8 55.8 50.0

The risk result is allocated to the segments as follows:

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Retail clients 12.7 –25.8 38.5 >100.0

Infrastructure –7.2 –7.2 0.0 0.0

Corporate clients –64.9 –68.6 3.7 5.4

Other 3.5 –10.2 13.7 >100.0

Risk result –55.9 –111.8 55.8 50.0

Net commission income

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Credit card business 23.2 22.8 0.4 1.8

Lending business –21.2 –17.0 –4.2 –24.5

Payments –48.7 –46.4 –2.3 –5.0

Other net commission income 12.2 6.9 5.3 76.2

Net commission income –34.5 –33.7 –0.8 –2.4
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Net commission income is allocated to the segments  
as follows:

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Retail clients –51.8 –53.4 1.6 3.0

Infrastructure 4.4 7.1 –2.7 –38.0

Corporate clients 17.7 15.4 2.3 14.9

Financial markets –3.7 –3.1 –0.6 –19.4

Other –17.0 –16.7 –0.3 –1.8

Reconciliation/Consolidation 15.9 17.0 –1.1 –6.7

Net commission income –34.5 –33.7 –0.8 –2.4

Gains or losses on fair value measurement

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Result from derivatives in commercial  
hedging relationships 2.7 5.8 –3.2 –54.2

Fair value result from FVPLM financial 
instruments 47.0 –3.0 50.0 >100.0

Gains or losses on fair value measurement 49.7 2.8 46.9 >100.0

The fair value gains/losses from FVPLM financial instru-
ments result primarily from the development of the DKB 
sustainability funds (EUR 26.2 million) and our strategic 
investments (EUR 15.2 million).

Gains or losses on hedging transactions
The result from hedging transactions reflects the interest- 
rate-induced effects of the interest rate derivatives 
concluded by DKB AG for hedging purposes and their 
underlying transactions as part of hedge accounting.
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Administrative expenses

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Staff costs –280.6 –247.3 –33.3 –13.5

Other administrative expenses –233.9 –218.6 –15.3 –7.0

Depreciation and impairments on property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets –26.9 –8.8 -18.1 >–100.0

Administrative expenses –541.4 –474.7 –66.7 –14.1

The higher personnel expense results from the agreed 
increase in pay rates and the increase in staffing.

The other administrative expenses increased mainly due 
to higher levels of investment in digitisation and the con
tinued high demands imposed by regulatory requirements.

The higher depreciation, amortisation and impairment 
losses on property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets result from the capitalisation of rights of use due to 
the new leasing regulations of IFRS 16 and the associated 
higher current depreciation.

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Retail clients –270.8 –224.3 –46.5 –20.7

Infrastructure –152.4 –135.0 –17.4 –12.9

Corporate clients –76.8 –72.1 –4.7 –6.5

Financial markets –12.7 –12.6 –0.1 –0.8

Other –214.7 –186.3 –28.4 –15.2

Reconciliation/Consolidation 186.0 155.6 30.4 19.5

Administrative expenses –541.4 –474.7 –66.7 –14.1
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Expenses from bank levies, deposit guarantee 
scheme and banking supervision

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Bank levy –21.8 –22.1 0.3 1.6

Deposit guarantee scheme –25.5 –15.1 –10.4 –68.7

Banking supervision –4.6 –3.1 –1.4 –45.4

Expenses from bank levies, deposit guaran-
tee scheme and banking supervision –51.8 –40.3 –11.4 –28.4

The higher expenses for the deposit guarantee scheme 
result from the increase in client deposits.

Other income and expenses

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Other income 31.2 60.0 –28.8 –48.1

Other expenses –45.7 –34.7 –10.9 –31.5

Other income and expenses –14.5 25.2 –39.8 >–100.0

The other result was positively influenced in the previous 
year by the reversal of provisions for legal risks. 

Return on capital in accordance with Section 
26a (1) sentence 4 German Banking Act (KWG) 
(ratio of net gains and total assets)
The return on capital in the financial year was 0.36% 
(previous year: 0.39%). 
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Net assets

Assets

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Cash reserves 4,432.5 1,046.2 3,386.3 >100.0

Loans and advances to banks 2,610.2 3,687.8 –1,077.6 –29.2

Loans and advances to clients 69,526.3 65,932.5 3,593.8 5.5

Risk provisions –410.0 –420.7 10.7 2.5

Portfolio hedge adjustment 765.4 407.1 358.3 88.0

Assets held for trading 9.8 3.2 6.5 >100.0

Positive fair values from  
derivative financial instruments – 0.0 0.0 –100.0

Financial investments 6,196.4 6,362.3 –165.9 –2.6

Other assets 624.0 369.1 254.9 69.1

Total assets 83,754.4 77,387.6 6,366.9 8.2

The changes in the cash reserve and in loans and advances 
to banks result from the DKB Group’s operational liquidity 
management.

The increase in loans and advances to clients is 
driven by all three market segments. An increase of 

EUR 2,801.9 million is attributable to the infrastructure 
segment, EUR 437.3 million to the retail clients segment 
and EUR 386.2 million to the corporate clients segment.

The risk provisions developed as follows in the  
financial year:

in EUR million Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 POCI Total

As at 1 Jan. –38.4 –115.4 –261.8 –5.0 –420.7

Additions from lending/purchases –16.6 –6.6 –82.7 –8.2 –114.0

Reversals from disposal/repayment/sale 15.2 102.4 113.1 9.8 240.4

Credit-rating-related changes –6.2 –99.8 –107.8 –11.3 –225.1

Usage/depreciation 0.0 0.1 92.8 8.2 101.0

Reallocation to Level 1 –23.0 23.0 – – 0.0

Reallocation to Level 2 3.8 –20.9 17.1 – 0.0

Reallocation to Level 3 11.3 34.6 –45.9 – 0.0

Unwinding – – 8.1 0.3 8.4

As at 31 Dec. –54.0 –82.7 –267.1 –6.3 –410.0
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The portfolio hedge adjustment is determined from the 
fair value hedges on interest rate risks formed at the 
portfolio level. The development of the portfolio hedge 
adjustment corresponds to the development of the mar-
ket values from derivative financial instruments (hedge 
accounting).

The decline in financial assets is primarily due to scheduled 
maturities that exceeded purchases in the reporting year. 

The increase in other assets is mainly due to the first-time 
application of the new leasing standard IFRS 16, which 
capitalised rights of use in the amount of EUR 144.5 million 
as of 1 January 2019.

Liabilities

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Liabilities to banks 13,101.7 13,813.3 –711.6 –5.2

Liabilities to clients 60,766.5 54,366.1 6,400.4 11.8

Securitised liabilities 4,844.8 4,622.3 222.4 4.8

Trading liabilities 7.5 1.2 6.4 >100.0

Negative fair values from derivative  
financial instruments 26.0 17.0 9.0 53.3

Provisions 211.4 180.4 31.0 17.2

Other liabilities 490.8 265.2 225.6 85.1

Subordinated capital 879.0 781.7 97.3 12.5

Equity 3,426.7 3,340.4 86.2 2.6

Total assets 83,754.4 77,387.6 6,366.9 8.2

The changes in loans and advances to banks result from 
the DKB Group’s operational liquidity management.

At EUR 5,757.1 million, the increase in liabilities to clients  
is primarily attributable to the retail clients segment. 
The infrastructure and corporate clients segments 
increased their customer deposits by EUR 875.9 million 
and EUR 79.4 million respectively.

The development of securitised liabilities, which include 
public and mortgage Pfandbriefs as well as bearer bonds, 
results from the issue of new securities that fall short of the 
maturities of the financial year.

Provisions primarily include provisions for pensions and 
other personnel obligations of EUR 116.7 million (previous 

year: EUR 99.8 million), provisions in the lending busi-
ness of EUR 44.5 million (previous year: EUR 48.9 million) 
and other provisions of EUR 50.4 million (previous year: 
EUR 31.7 million).

The increase in other liabilities is mainly due to the 
EUR 230.7 million liability from the transfer of profits to 
BayernLB (previous year: EUR 95.1 million).

In 2019, DKB further strengthened its regulatory capital by 
raising subordinated capital of EUR 100.00 million.
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Reported equity consists of the following:

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Subscribed capital 339.3 339.3 0.0 0.0

Capital surplus 1,414.4 1,414.4 0.0 0.0

Retained earnings 1,499.5 1,303.8 195.7 15.0

Revaluation surplus 88.5 59.9 28.5 47.6

Consolidated net retained profits/ 
net accumulated losses 85.0 223.0 –138.0 –61.9

Equity 3,426.7 3,340.4 86.2 2.6

Retained earnings increased mainly due to the allocation 
of the consolidated balance sheet profit.

The revaluation reserve mainly results from the fair value 
measurement of FVOCIM financial instruments. 

The change in the consolidated profit results from the con-
solidated net income less allocations to retained earnings.
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Results of operations and net 
assets of DKB AG (HGB)
Results of operations
 

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Net interest income and income from 
investments 972.4 983.3 –10.9 –1.1

Net commission income –71.1 –76.5 5.4 7.1

Administrative expenses and amortisation 
of intangible assets –542.8 –463.6 –79.2 –17.1

Other operating profit –42.7 –19.0 –23.7 >–100.0

Operating profit before risk provisions 
and net measurement gain 315.8 424.2 –108.4 –25.6

Risk provisions and net measurement gain – 85.2 –129.1 43.9 34.0

Profit/loss on ordinary activities 230.6 295.1 –64.5 –21.9

Addition pursuant to Section 340g HGB 0.0 –200.0 200.0 –100.0

Taxes on income 0.1 0.0 0.1 >100.0

Profits transferred –230.7 –95.1 –135.6 >100.0

Net profit for the year 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

DKB AG was able to maintain its net interest and invest-
ment income almost at the level of the previous year 
despite the difficult interest rate environment. The continu
ation of our investment strategy to digitise and improve 
internal processes led to higher administrative expenses 
and, as a result, to lower profit on ordinary activities.
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Net interest income and income from investments

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Interest income 1,595.1 1,694.60 –99.5 –5.9

Interest expenses –640.2 –724.9 84.7 11.7

Current income from shares and other 
variable-yield companies, participating interests 
and shares in affiliated companies 2.7 3.1 –0.4 –12.9

Income from profit pools, profit transfer and 
partial profit transfer agreements 14.8 10.5 4.3 41.0

Net interest income and income  
from investments 972.4 983.3 –10.9 –1.1

Interest income, at EUR 1,534.3 million (previous year: 
EUR 1,630.8 million), results primarily from loans and 
advances to clients.

Interest expenses include EUR 216.8 million (previous year: 
EUR 230.9 million) interest expenses from liabilities to 

clients, EUR 212.5 million (previous year: EUR 198.5 million) 
interest expenses from swap agreements and EUR 188.3 
million (previous year: EUR 229.0 million) interest expenses 
from liabilities to banks.

Net commission income

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Commission income 252.1 241.2 10.9 4.5

Commission expenses –323.2 –317.7 –5.5 –1.7

Net commission income –71.1 –76.5 5.4 7.1

Commission income includes commissions and fees  
from the card business amounting to EUR 179.2 million 
(previous year: EUR 173.3 million).

Commission expenses of EUR 143.2 million (previous year: 
EUR 146.3 million) are attributable to the card business, 
EUR 76.7 million (previous year: EUR 77.8 million) to 
brokerage commissions and EUR 61.1 million (previous 
year: EUR 56.7 million) to payment transactions.
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Administrative expenses and amortisation  
of intangible assets

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Staff costs –189.7 –168.9 –20.8 –12.3

Other administrative expenses –348.9 –292.7 –56.2 –19.2

Amortisation of intangible assets –4.2 –2.0 –2.2 >–100.0

Administrative expenses and amortisation 
of intangible assets –542.8 –463.6 –79.2 –17.1

The higher personnel expenses result from the agreed 
increase in pay rates and the required increase in staffing.

The other administrative expenses increased mainly due 
to higher levels of investment in digitisation and the con
tinued high demands imposed by regulatory requirements.

Other operating profit

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Other operating income 15.2 26.6 –11.4 –42.9

Other operating expenses –57.9 –45.6 –12.3 –27.0

Other income and expenses –42.7 –19.0 –23.7 >–100.0

The deterioration in the other operating result is due in 
particular to higher charges from the provision for legal 
risks.

Other operating income relates primarily to income from 
cost reimbursements and the reversal of provisions. 

Other operating expenses mainly include losses from  
misuse in the credit card business and legal risks as well  
as the contribution to the restructuring fund for banks 
(bank levy). 
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Risk provisions and net measurement gain
Risk provisions and net measurement gain comprise
the following:

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Risk provisions in the lending business –86.4 –116.8 30.4 26.0

Net measurement gain on securities  
and investments 5.1 –12.1 17.2 >100.0

Expenses from loss assumptions –3.9 –0.2 –3.7 >–100.0

Risk provisions and net measurement gain –85.2 –129.1 43.9 34.0

Risk provisions for the lending business result from a net 
allocation to risk provisions of EUR 81.1 million (previous 
year: EUR 106.0 million) and direct write-offs of EUR 12.5 
million (previous year: EUR 21.5 million) as well as receipts 
on receivables written off amounting to EUR 7.2 million 
(previous year: EUR 10.7 million).

The improvement in the valuation result of the securities 
portfolio and investments is mainly due to write-ups as a 
result of the positive market development in 2019.

Return on capital in accordance with Section 
26a (1) sentence 4 German Banking Act (KWG) 
(ratio of net gains and total assets)
Based on the profit on ordinary activities, the return on 
capital amounted to 0.28% in the financial year (previous 
year: 0.38%).
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Net assets

Assets

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Cash reserves 4,432.9 1,046.2 3,386.7 >100.0

Loans and advances to banks 2,610.7 3,688.3 –1,077.6 –29.2

Loans and advances to clients 69,059.7 65,481.3 3,578.4 5.5

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 5,860.7 6,176.9 –316.2 –5.1

Other assets 1,535.7 1,040.1 495.6 47.6

Total assets 83,499.7 77,432.8 6,066.9 7.8

Liabilities

 
2019  

in EUR millions
2018  

in EUR millions
Change  

in EUR millions
Change  

in %

Liabilities to banks 13,208.2 13,909.0 –700.8 –5.0

Liabilities to clients 60,813.0 54,412.6 6,400.4 11.8

Securitised liabilities 4,857.2 4,700.5 156.7 3.3

Provisions 229.5 195.8 33.7 17.2

Other equity and liabilities 298.2 215.2 83.0 38.6

Subordinated capital, profit participation rights 
and  
additional regulatory core capital 875.7 781.8 93.9 12.0

Reserve pursuant to Section 340g HGB 782.0 782.0 0.0 0.0

Equity 2,435.9 2,435.9 0.0 0.0

Total assets 83,499.7 77,432.8 6,066.9 7.8

The net asset position of DKB AG is almost the same as that 
of the DKB Group. For this reason, only the items that differ 
significantly to the DKB Group are mentioned below.

Other assets consist primarily of cash collateral for 
derivatives subject to clearing requirements 
(EUR 1,167.4 million, previous year: EUR 685.4 million).

The increase in other liabilities is mainly due to the 
EUR 230.7 million liability from the transfer of profits 
to BayernLB (previous year: EUR 95.1 million).

Balance sheet equity comprises subscribed capital 
(EUR 339.3 million), the capital reserve (EUR 1,414.4 
million) as well as retained earnings (EUR 682.2 million). 
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Financial position 
 
 
 

Our liquidity management is described in detail in the 
risk report. For this reason, we will refrain from including a 
detailed analysis of the cash flow statement at this point, 
and instead refer to the statements made in the risk report 
and to the cash flow statement of the DKB Group.
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Non-financial performance 
indicators
As a bank, we are convinced that we can make an import-
ant contribution to a sustainable and future-proof society. 
On the one hand, we achieve this through innovative 
banking products geared to customer needs and by 
financing projects that people need to live now and in the 
future. On the other hand, we as a Group have a responsi-
bility towards our employees and the environment. Since 
our establishment in 1990, we have therefore relied on 
a sustainable business model that combines economic, 
ecological and social goals in a meaningful way. We act in 
a forward-looking manner and focus on economic success 
that is in harmony with people and the environment. We 
therefore regard sustainability and employee concerns as 
non-financial performance indicators for managing our 
company. Together with the financial performance indica-
tors, they form the basis for a permanent and sustainable 
increase in the value of the company. 

Sustainability 

Sustainable business as the foundation of our 
enterprise value
Sustainability is a fundamental component of our brand 
core. For this reason, we are continuously striving to main-
tain or even improve our sustainability performance to our 
very high standards. In this context, we adopted an inte-
grated sustainability strategy in 2019, which defines clear 
goals and measures for sustainable corporate success. The 
strategy is in line with the global sustainability goals of 
the United Nations (Sustainable Development Goals, SDG) 
and the goals of the Paris Climate Convention. We are thus 
the first bank in Germany to shape the concept of “blue 
sustainability”. Blue stands for an impact-driven positive 
approach as a contribution to preserving the blue planet 
and deliberately sets new trends in sustainability man-
agement. For 40 years, the conventional understanding of 
sustainability in the financial sector has been characterised 

by sector exclusions and disaster communication. The 
desired broad effect for more sustainability has not yet 
been achieved in this way. Although eco-banks are grow-
ing, they still form a small niche in the banking sector. 

These findings led to a new approach: if sustainability is to 
be successful, it requires the mainstream, positive commu-
nication and the transformation of the entire economy. We 
have always focused on industries that focus on people’s 
needs. We are committed to companies that are making 
the transition to more sustainability and need reliable 
financing partners to do so. 

77.8% of our loan portfolio is SDG-significant. This is equiv-
alent to EUR 54.1 billion, thus more than any other bank in 
Germany to date. We achieve this by working hand in hand 
with our clients, employees and partners, who are also 
committed to sustainability. We implement these achieve-
ments with the #geldverbesserer and allow ourselves to be 
measured against it. For five years now, our performance 
has been externally assessed by the ISS ESG sustainability 
rating. We have been awarded the “Industry Leader” seal in 
the field of sustainability on several occasions.

In summary, we achieve our sustainability performance by: 

–	� aligning all our business processes to the principles of 
sustainability, 

–	� the sustainable orientation of our loan portfolio through 
a positive concept in which primarily sustainable client 
groups that may be financed are defined, 

–	� a comprehensive SDG mapping of the entire loan port-
folio, which was carried out for the first time with the 
Sustainability Report 2018, making it possible to quan-
tify the sustainable impact of business activities, and 

–	� the provision of sustainable capital market products 
such as green bonds and social bonds,
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–	� the design and sale of sustainable products for retail 
clients, such as sustainable funds,  

–	� taking social responsibility through participation in 
socially beneficial projects, and 

–	� cultivating dialogue with various stakeholder groups, as 
well as active participation in associations and initiatives 
on sustainable issues.

Focus on sustainable business client groups
We have one of the largest loan portfolios for investments 
in renewable energies in Germany (EUR 10.7 billion). We 
have been supporting the energy transformation process 
since 1996 with financing and the development of corres
ponding expertise. Over 4,700 photovoltaic, wind power, 
hydropower and biogas plants have since been realised 
with our financing. The installed electrical output is more 
than 9 gigawatts. The electrical energy produced in this 
way meets the needs of over 5 million two-person house-
holds. 

The projects implemented by DKB can save around 
12.1 million tonnes of CO2 compared to the German 
electricity mix. This makes us one of the largest financiers 
of the energy turnaround in Germany. Our financing of 
renewable energy plants has replaced the capacity of six 
nuclear power plants in mathematical terms. 

The housing segment, with a volume of receivables of EUR 
22.7 billion, also has a strong sustainable focus. Within this 
client group, the share of municipal housing associations 
and cooperatives is the largest. Its business purpose is to 
provide broad sections of society, including the socially 
disadvantaged, with affordable, sustainable housing. 
Targeted lending, such as for the construction of apart-
ments suitable for the elderly and families, energy-efficient 
real estate, outpatient and inpatient health facilities, for 
construction projects in schools and day-care centres in 
Germany and for civic participation projects, is another key 
component of our sustainable business model. 

In addition to existing industries, we are also opening up 
innovative new business areas. In 2019, we were able to 
open up new business areas with “Energy Solutions”, the 
DKB crowdfunding platform “DKB-Crowd” and the invest-
ment in the Swiss fintech company Loanboox. 

All DKB funds are becoming sustainable
In order to further enhance and reinforce blue sustain-
ability as our brand core, we restructured all the DKB retail 
funds in 2019. Since then, our funds have been aligned 
with sustainability criteria and reflect the broad under-
standing of blue sustainability. As a result, we have devel-
oped three funds with different focal points:

1. ��The DKB Climate Protection Fund, which focuses on 
the reduction of the CO2 footprint as a key objective – 
for clients who understand sustainability primarily in 
ecological terms.

2. �The DKB-SDG Fund, which focuses primarily on social 
impacts based on the sustainability goals of the United 
Nations – for clients who understand sustainability pri-
marily as a social issue.

 
3. �The DKB Sustainability Fund Europe with a best-in-

class investment approach – for clients who under-
stand sustainability as the triad of ecology, social and 
economic issues and for whom financial returns are 
important at the same time.

Asset management is carried out by BayernInvest. With 
all its mutual funds, it is committed not only to the Global 
Compact, but also to the 2019 Paris Agreement. By 2025 at 
the latest, all managed portfolios should be in line with the 
1.5-degree target of the Paris Agreement. This therefore 
also applies to all DKB funds and is another important step 
towards greater sustainability. 

Since the changeover, sales of DKB sustainability funds 
have shown a very positive development in the form of 
a 36% increase to EUR 29.57 million (end of 2019). In the 
same period, the number of savings plans on these funds 
increased by 77% to 1,995. We expect the rise in sales vol-
ume to continue in 2020. A report on all funds with further 
information is available on the DKB website for each fund.
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Capital market transformation: two further  
social bonds issued
We use the extensive loan pool from our business with sus-
tainable client groups as the basis for issuing sustainable 
bonds, making us the first German commercial bank to 
place both green and social bonds in recent years. Among 
others, we are a member of the Green Bond Principles and 
are active in the Social Bond Working Group, under whose 
direction the Social Bond Principles (SBP) were developed. 

DKB has been placing green bonds successfully since 2016. 
Both green bond issues were heavily oversubscribed. This 
offering will be further expanded in the future and is  
yet another example of our activities under the motto  
of blue sustainability. The services behind it are also inde-
pendently confirmed by external experts. 

In April 2019, we received the “Social Bond of the Year” 
award from Environmental Finance – one of the most 
renowned platforms for sustainable finance topics – in the 
banking category for the innovative social bond issued in 
2018. A 30-member jury of independent international top 
investors with a focus on sustainability selected us as the 
winner from a large number of international participants. 
This was followed in November 2019 by the issuing of 
the first “blue social bond” (volume EUR 500 million), with 
which we successfully expanded our range of sustainable 
financial products. Among the subscribers were investors 
who follow very strict investment guidelines.

Excellent ratings from ISS ESG and imug
The sustainability rating agencies imug and ISS ESG 
(formerly ISS-oekom) audit us regularly for compliance 
with sustainability standards, for the presence of and 
compliance with in-house directives as well as for special 
measures designed to suit the business activity of the com-
pany. In 2019, we reaffirmed our position as the “Industry 
Leader” in ISS ESG research’s sustainability rating. For the 
fifth time in a row, we received a “B–” and thus again the 
highest rating of all rated commercial, state and regional 
banks. DKB’s corporate rating continues to mean that it 
holds “prime status” and is currently in the rarely awarded 
“good” category.

imug Rating subjected the 25 largest German banks to an 
ESG stress test for the first time in 2019. We received the 
highest rating awarded by imug in the study: “BB” in the 
sustainability rating category, “BBB” for mortgage covered 
bonds and “A” for public bonds.

A key factor in our repeatedly excellent ratings is our low 
level of exposure to controversy and ESG risks (environ-
mental, social and governance), and our performance as an 
employer and in the corporate governance sector, includ-
ing ethical business practices. ISS ESG particularly appreci-
ates our consistent focus on sustainability in lending. The 
sustainability rating agency imug sees DKB’s strengths in 
areas such as socially responsible products, environmental 
reporting, job security and equal opportunities, as well as 
cooperation with development banks.

In addition to our cooperation with the established rating 
agencies, we also opened ourselves up to the WWF’s 
sustainability rating in 2019. In 2019, the WWF conducted 
a rating of banks with the 14 largest German banks in the 
categories “Visionary”, “Pioneer”, “Follower/Contemporary”, 
“Upper Midfield”, “Lower Midfield” and “Intransparent”. 
Together with two other institutions, we achieved the 
highest WWF rating in the “Corporate Banks” category, 
“Follower/Contemporary”. The two highest categories, 
“Visionaries” and “Pioneers”, remained unawarded in the 
first WWF rating. 
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Sustainability within the company
We publish our environmental performance as a com-
pany in the form of an annual environmental statement 
in accordance with EMAS (Eco-Management and Audit 
Scheme) and thus transparently show our progress in this 
area through the development of the core indicators of 
the EMAS sites. The main aim is to avoid emissions and 
reduce the consumption of resources in banking oper
ations. In this context, we have defined the following three 
key objectives, among others:

1. �By 2020, we will reduce gross CO2 emissions per 
employee by 70% compared to 2010 (status in 2018: 
57.2%).

2. ��By 2030, we will achieve climate-neutral banking 
operations.

3. �By 2050, we will have brought our entire product 
portfolio into line with the 2-degree limit of the Paris 
Agreement. 

Social engagement
We support social and beneficial projects primarily 
through corporate volunteering and the DKB STIFTUNG 
foundation for social commitment. These include in 
particular the activities of the DKB STIFTUNG as an 
integration company in the areas of monument pres-
ervation, education and promotion of art and culture, 
as well as environmental protection and nature conser-
vation. In 2019, we again donated EUR 100,000 to six 
social projects in Germany with the Christmas campaign 
#DKBHerzenswunsch. By means of a public vote, the total 
amount was distributed proportionately among the six 
initiatives.

Employees

Number of IT specialists increased
The DKB Group had 3,839 employees on a capacity basis  
at the end of 2019 (previous year: 3,431 employees).  
Of these, DKB AG employed 2,141 people (previous year: 
1,917 employees).

The average age in the DKB Group was 42.7 years (previ-
ous year: 42.9 years). The proportion of employees under 
30 was 12.7% (previous year: 12.3%). The average length of 
service was 8.1 years (previous year: 8.4 years).

We prefer to fill open positions with qualified personnel 
from our company. In the event that this is not possible or 
that special expertise is required for certain task profiles 
which is not available in-house, we recruit suitable external 
staff. We followed this principle in 2019 as well. 

In terms of external recruitment, our focus in the year 
under review continued to be on IT specialists. The new 
employees support us in driving forward the digitisation 
of the bank. A separate recruiting team was established 
for this purpose in the reporting period. Around 70 new 
IT specialists decided to join us in 2019. 

In order to present DKB as an attractive employer, we 
conducted target-group-specific recruiting campaigns and 
attended relevant trade fairs in the year under review. 

The DKB Code Factory also grew in 2019. The number of 
employees has more than doubled compared to the pre-
vious year, the year of establishment, and at the end of the 
year was 64 (previous year: 31). 

Attracting and retaining young talent
Under the motto “For the smart minds of tomorrow”, the 
company continued to promote the development of 
young talent in 2019. This enabled us to convince around 
70 junior staff that we are an attractive and sustainable 
employer and that our junior staff programmes are the 
right choice. Trainees with various specialisations (digital 
transformation, business analysts, general banking), dual 
students, including those specialising in business infor-
mation technology, and scholarship holders specialising 
in leadership in digital innovation supported us on our 
way to becoming a tech bank. Together with the Stiftung 
der Deutschen Wirtschaft (SDW), we announced the 
Work & Write scholarship for the first time at the end of 
2019.

Since summer 2019, all junior staff have also been able 
to benefit from the Young Talent Programme of  
DKB MANAGEMENT SCHOOL. It is aimed specifically at 
strengthening the banking know-how, social skills and 
digital mindset of junior staff.
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Focused employee development
Tasks and requirements change at ever shorter intervals. 
We therefore rely on a comprehensive further develop-
ment programme for our employees. Our in-house training 
academy DKB MANAGEMENT SCHOOL identifies relevant 
trends early on and offers all our employees seminars, spe-
cialist training and team development. DKB MANAGEMENT 
SCHOOL held a total of 548 seminars in the reporting 
period (previous year: 568). On average, each employee 
received 4 days of further training last year (previous year: 
3.8 days). In addition, the program was expanded in 2019, 
with over 30 in-house trainers mainly giving impulse 
workshops, thus strengthening the digital skills of our 
employees. These include crash courses on IT knowledge, 
programming languages and data science. In cooperation 
with HHL Leipzig Graduate School of Management, we 
also launched a new program for the development of 
digital skills in 2019. In the period under review, there were 
already three rounds with around 60 participants. 

The Sales Excellence Programme was launched for all sales 
employees in 2019. Here we aim to professionalise  
sales activities in both new client acquisition and existing 
client support.

Agile work is becoming ever more important to us, which 
is why we create and offer both internal and external 
needs-based training opportunities. 

As part of the development dialogue introduced in 2019, 
all our employees will receive structured, competence-
based feedback from their managers at least once a year 
and can use this as a basis for targeted personal develop-
ment. 

Supporting change and developing culture
In order to increase change know-how, we have developed 
and offered various training formats specifically for DKB. 
In particular, a separate training course for “Agile Change 
Coaches” was designed and advertised in-house. The 
coaches will start to support decentralised change projects 
within the DKB Group in 2020. 

For the second time, the corporate culture was analysed – 
via a bank-wide online survey, culture interviews, work-
shops and the evaluation of documents. Measures to 
achieve the target culture were developed on this basis. 

Committed to corporate volunteering
Social commitment is an integral part of DKB’s corpo-
rate culture and is funded accordingly. Employees are 
involved in projects sponsored by us, such as SINGA or 
the DKB Foundation (DKB STIFTUNG), as well as in their 
own association work or social projects. For this purpose, 
employees can take up to two working days off per year 
and contribute up to three days of personal time. 

Maintaining employee health
We attach great importance to promoting and caring for 
the health of our employees, and in doing so we are well 
above the legal requirements. Our health management is 
regularly awarded top marks. Our services include health 
checks and the provision of internal and external advice 
centres. In addition, all employees have the opportunity 
to participate in sports and health weekends. 

The workforce availability was again very high in 2019 
at 95.3% (previous year: 95.1%).

Promoting equal opportunities
A special mentoring program was again offered to female 
managers in 2019 with the aim of further promoting a 
balanced proportion of women and men represented 
at the management levels of the company. In addition, 
we established an internal DKB network for women in 
management positions in the year under review, which 
creates a platform for networking, new impetus and 
increased visibility within the company.
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Aiming to meet targets
The Supervisory Board of DKB AG has 16 members, four 
of whom are women. This corresponds to a proportion of 
women of 25% and thus to the minimum target figure 
aimed for by 30 June 2022.

As DKB AG and DKB Service GmbH jointly make up the 
majority of the Group’s employees, the figures for both 
companies are provided below:

The Board of Management of DKB AG comprises five 
members. The current proportion of women on the Board 
of Management is 0%. We have not set any deviating 
target figure. At DKB Service GmbH, two out of three man-
agement positions are occupied by women, therefore a 
proportion of women amounting to 67% has already been 
reached. The aim is not to allow this to fall below a target 
of 30%.

The proportion of women at the first management level 
is currently 16.7% at DKB AG (previous year: 17.4%). 
This is to be increased to at least 20% by 30 June 2022. 
DKB Service GmbH has a proportion of women of 14.3% 
at the first management level (previous year: 14.3%), 
thus achieving its target. The proportion of women at the 
second management level is currently 33.9% at DKB AG 
(previous year: 37.5%), and 40% at DKB Service GmbH (pre-
vious year: 33.3%). At both companies, this share should 
amount to at least 30%. 

Offering a wide range of social services
In order to ensure the long-term loyalty of our employees 
to the company, they are offered numerous special ben-
efits. These include voluntary (and above the general pay 
scale) social benefits, subsidies for insurance and childcare, 
and benefits for retirement provision.

When it comes to childcare or looking after relatives, our 
employees can make use of consultations provided by 
external partners. They arrange childcare solutions, pro-
vide rapid assistance in the event of childcare bottlenecks 
and serve as contacts for issues on which employees need 

information. In addition, we offer our employees economic 
incentives: the employees of DKB AG and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries can participate directly in the company’s 
success by purchasing profit participation certificates. The 
profit participation certificates have a basic interest rate of 
4% and a variable interest rate premium that is dependent 
on the cost/income ratio (pursuant to HGB).

New work – introduction of FlexWork and trust-
based working hours
Our employees have the opportunity to work inde-
pendently of location and on a flexible schedule. In 2019, 
the well-known home office format was further developed 
and FlexWork (location flexibility for work) was intro-
duced for everyone, and employees were equipped and 
trained with mobile IT work and communication tools as 
required. At the same time, the offering of trust-based 
working hours was expanded. Previously reserved for first- 
and second-level management, all employees have been 
eligible for a trust-based working arrangement since 2019. 
By the end of the year, 68.9% of employees had decided 
to switch to FlexWork, and 30.7% (as at 31 December) had 
made use of the trust-based working hours. Both offers are 
being supported by the Fraunhofer Institute for Industrial 
Engineering IAO and are being systematically developed 
to further exploit the potential of these new forms of work. 
For a close dialogue with other companies, scientists and 
representatives from politics on current issues concerning 
New Work, we are part of the “BMAS Experimental Spaces” 
through our cooperation with the Fraunhofer Gesellschaft 
in the project “New Work – Best Practices and Future 
Models” and are represented in the publications of the 
Fraunhofer IAO.
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Non-financial statement
 
 

DKB AG makes use of the exemption provision of Section 
315b (2) sentence 2 HGB to add a non-financial Group 
statement to the combined management report. 
 
 As the parent company within the meaning of this 
provision, Bayerische Landesbank (BayernLB) prepares a 
separate non-financial consolidated report in accordance 
with Section 315b (3) HGB. It is published together with 
the consolidated financial statements and the combined 
management report of BayernLB in accordance with 
Section 325 HGB in the electronic Federal Gazette and is 
also published on BayernLB’s website (www.bayernlb.de) 
no later than four months after the closing date.
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Report on risks and  
opportunities

Risk report

Unless explicitly indicated otherwise, the risk report relates 
to the DKB Group in accordance with the internal risk 
management. DKB AG, the parent company, has a domin
ant share of the DKB Group. The consolidated figures are 
therefore essentially from DKB AG.

Risks are understood as potential future developments or 
events that may result in negative deviations from fore-
casts or targets for the bank. For opportunities, we refer to 
the statements in the opportunities report.

For quantitative information that goes beyond the state-
ments in the risk report, and in particular serves to meet 
the requirements of IFRS 7, we refer to the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements (note “Risks from finan-
cial instruments”).

Significant developments in the  
reporting period

Complying with the regulatory capital requirements 
and securing risk-bearing capacity are key elements in 
the management of the DKB Group. In the period under 
review, the DKB Group met both the regulatory require-
ments with regard to capital adequacy and liquidity, as 
well as the requirements for economic capital adequacy 
as part of the calculation of risk-bearing capacity. The 
DKB Group takes adequate account of all the known risks 
through precautionary measures and has implemented 
suitable instruments for detecting risks early on.

 

 
On 9 November 2018, the ECB published the final guid-
ance on the bank’s internal capital adequacy process 
(ICAAP) and internal liquidity adequacy process (ILAAP) 
(hereinafter the ICAAP guidance and the ILAAP guidance 
respectively). Significant changes resulting from the imple-
mentation of the ICAAP guidance document relate to the 
transformation of the concept of economic risk-bearing 
capacity into a continuation perspective. The require-
ments were implemented on 1 January 2019 at DKB. This 
was associated with an adjustment of the available cover 
pool, as subordinated capital is no longer eligible in the 
economic risk-bearing capacity concept under the new 
regime. At the same time, the confidence level used for 
risk quantification was adjusted to the confidence level 
of 99.9% prevailing in Pillar 1 and the calculation of the 
previous going-concern perspective was discontinued. The 
economic perspective is supplemented by a normative 
perspective that ensures compliance with capital ratios 
required by supervisory law. For improved comparability, 
the comparative figures as of 31 December 2018 have 
been adjusted accordingly in the following presentations 
on the economic perspective.
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Development of the overall risk situation

Normative perspective

The assessment of the appropriateness of equity is based 
on the European equity regulation “Capital Requirements 
Regulation” (CRR) and is carried out at the level of the 
individual institution in accordance with the standard 
approach for credit risk.

The corresponding bank regulatory KPIs of DKB AG are 
illustrated as follows:

Regulatory capital adequacy

 EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Counterparty risks 33,275 31,490

Operational risks 1,465 1,355

Credit valuation adjustment (CVA) 0 0

Total positions subject to mandatory inclusion 34,740 32,845

Equity 3,873 3,850

	 of which core capital 3,244 3,278

	 of which hard core capital 3,144 3,178

Equity ratio 11.15% 11.72%

Core capital ratio (T1) 9.34% 9.98%

Hard core capital ratio (CET1) 9.05% 9.67%

The extension of the risk positions for the counterparty 
risks is mainly due to the growth in lending volume. The 
increase in operational risks is due to higher gross earnings.

Intangible assets and irrevocable payment obligations to 
deposit guarantee schemes or settlement funds are shown 
as deductions from core capital.

The AT1 capital remained unchanged in the year under 
review and amounts to EUR 100 million.

The core capital ratio declined by 0.64% to 9.34%, mainly 
due to the increase in risk positions.

The proportional reduction of subordinate liabilities and 
their maturities was countered with new assumptions 
of EUR 100 million. As a result, the amount of eligible 
supplementary capital increased slightly to EUR 629 
million (previous year: EUR 572 million). Profit participation 
rights liabilities of EUR 29 million decreased slightly by EUR 
0.2 million in the year under review.

With a slight increase in equity, the changes in risk positions 
led to a reduction in the equity ratio of 0.57% to 11.15%.

The minimum capital ratios required by the regulatory 
authorities were complied with at all times. 
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Economic perspective

As at the reporting date, the following risk profile was 
determined in the economic perspective:

 EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/20181

Counterparty default risks 469 489

	 of which client receivables 461 477

	 of which Group-internal receivables from BayernLB 8 12

Market price risks 473 299

Investment risks 8 6

Operational risks 147 120

Rise in the cost of liquidity risks 81 103

Business risks 0 0

Risk capital requirement (aggregated) 1,177 1,017

Available cover funds 3,645 3,471

	 of which allocated as limits 1,655 1,775

Utilisation of the available cover funds 32% 29%

Utilisation of the limit 71% 57%

1  Comparative figures adjusted for changes arising from the ICAAP guidelines

 

Compared to the previous year, the aggregated risk 
capital requirement increased by EUR 160 million from 
EUR 1,017 million to EUR 1,177 million. In the same period, 
the available cover assets increased by EUR 174 million to 
EUR 3,645 million.

The increase in the aggregate risk capital requirement is 
mainly the result of an increase in the interest rate risk in 
the banking book due to the high level of new lending 
business. By contrast, the improvement in the quality of 
the lending portfolio, among other things, led to a reduc-
tion in the risk capital requirement for counterparty default 
risks despite the EUR 7.3 billion increase in gross exposure 
associated with the high level of new business. Liquid-
ity price risks also declined due to the further inflow of 
deposits. This is offset by the increase in operational risks 
resulting from the regular updating of the risk survey.

Of the available coverage capital of EUR 3,645 million, 
EUR 1,655 million are allocated as limits to cover business 
operations. The remaining portion is available to cover 
unexpected losses (e.g. caused by severe stress scenarios). 

In the worst-case scenario “severe economic downturn”, 
the aggregate risk capital requirement amounted to EUR 
2,372 million with available cover funds of EUR 3,356 
million. Thus, DKB AG is sufficiently capitalised even in the 
simulated scenario of an adverse economic development.
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Risk-oriented management

Organisation of risk management
DKB AG’s risk management organisation is based on the 
three-lines-of-defence model. The core element of the 
model is the guiding principle that every employee should 
question the consequences of their actions at all times and 
assess and manage the financial and non-financial risks 
arising from them. In this context, the business units as 
risk owners form the first line of defence. The second line 
of defence is responsible for developing overarching risk 
management frameworks and monitoring the implemen-
tation of procedures in the business units. The third line of 
defence is the internal audit function as an objective and 
independent audit and advisory body. It conducts risk-
oriented and process-independent audits and assesses the 
effectiveness and appropriateness of risk management, 
the internal control system and the correctness of all 
activities and processes.

The risk committee of the Supervisory Board monitors the 
risk management for which the Board of Management is 
responsible. The risk committee primarily deals with issues 
relating to business strategy, risk strategy and the risk 
situation. 

The Board of Management is responsible for the correct 
organisation of risk management, the definition and 
implementation of the risk strategy and the development, 
fostering and integration of an appropriate risk culture. It 
is clearly committed to risk-appropriate behaviour. In order 
to meet its responsibility for implementing an appropriate 
and functioning risk management system, the Board of 
Management has established a risk management organisa-
tion that, in particular, is responsible for the determination 
and documentation of principles relating to the risk policy. 
Besides regulations for the organisation of structures and 
workflows, processes for identifying, assessing, managing, 
controlling and communicating risks are set out in accor-
dance with MaRisk (German requirements for risk manage-
ment).

The areas of Risk Controlling, Non-Financial Risk, Credit 
Risk and Portfolio Management (CR), Credit Consult, 
Compliance and Finance form the basis for the risk 
management and monitoring system and are assigned 
to the Chief Risk Officer or the Chief Financial Officer. 
In accordance with MaRisk AT 4.4.1, Risk Controlling is 

responsible for the tasks related to risk controlling. In par-
ticular, this includes supporting the Board of Management 
in all risk policy matters, i.e. in particular in developing 
and implementing the risk strategy and in designing the 
system for limiting overall bank risks via risk management 
and controlling processes. The Risk Controlling division is 
supported in particular by the Non-Financial Risk division. 
The Non-Financial Risk division bundles tasks relating to 
the management of non-financial risks, particularly infor-
mation security risks. In addition to ongoing risk reporting 
and the regular monitoring of risk limit utilisation, the Risk 
Controlling division regularly monitors the risk-bearing 
capacity together with the Finance division. 

Credit risk management is a joint task of the front and 
back office, taking into account the principle of segrega-
tion of duties. The CR division performs the back office 
function together with the Credit Consult division. In 
addition to market-independent voting, the CR division is 
responsible for risk analysis, assessment and management 
with regard to risk-relevant commitments that are part of 
the core business. Together with Risk Controlling (as part 
of portfolio management), this division is responsible for 
defining the credit risk strategy with regard to segments, 
client groups, individual clients and special products. 

The Compliance division works towards the implementa-
tion of effective procedures for compliance with the legal 
regulations and corresponding controls that are essential 
for the bank and manages risks from financial transactions 
in the areas of money laundering and fraud prevention as 
well as in the securities business.

Risk strategy
The Board of Management is responsible for determining 
and implementing the risk strategy, reviews it as required 
and adjusts it to current developments where applicable. 
As part of the annual review and updating process, the 
risk strategy is brought to the attention of and discussed 
with the Supervisory Board. As a significant requirement 
for banking business, it forms part of the written rules of 
procedure.

The risk strategy consists of several sub-risk strategies and 
comprises principles for the individual major risk types. 
The specific elements of the risk management system 
(methods, instruments and processes) are described in 
detail in other documents of the written regulations.
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The content of the risk strategy is based on DKB AG’s busi-
ness strategy and takes into account the corresponding 
requirements of the BayernLB Group’s risk strategy. The risk 
strategy defines the objectives of risk management in the 
major business activities and thereby specifies the plan-
ning premises made in the business strategy with respect 
to the identification, control and monitoring of significant 
risks. 

The stipulations set out in the risk strategy are intended to 
meet the company’s objectives based on the risk profile 
aimed for over time and thereby to ensure a balanced 
risk-return ratio as well as continuous risk-bearing capacity. 
The risk strategy therefore forms the basis for guaranteeing 
risk-bearing capacity.

The risk strategy sets out the DKB Group’s fundamental 
approach for assuming risk and risk management, in a 
manner consistent with the business strategy. Deriving the 
risk strategy from the business strategy is a component 
of the established strategy process. Together with the 
business strategy and the risk-bearing capacity concept, 
the risk strategy includes the underlying conditions for 
the internal risk capital allocation and planning process 
and targeted liquidity holdings. The risk capital provided is 
determined and distributed across the risk types as part of 
the formulation of risk tolerances for the individual types 
of risk. In this process, potential adverse developments 
are also taken into account. The amount of the risk capital 
provided is in line with the risk capital requirement limit 
and documents the risk appetite. The risk capital planning 
process also includes an analysis of the effects on the 
liquidity and refinancing situation.

Furthermore, the risk strategy defines risk targets for all 
major risk types, in addition to the framework conditions 
for granting loans and for the composition of the securities 
portfolio. In principle, the commitment of the DKB Group 
focuses only on business fields in which the DKB Group has 
the relevant expertise to assess and manage the specific 
risks. Entering new business fields or adding new products 
requires adequate risk analysis.

As a member of the BayernLB Group, DKB AG is included in 
its Group-wide risk management and risk-bearing capac-
ity concept. In principle, DKB AG applies the standards 
and methods applicable at BayernLB. Should DKB AG’s 
risk profile require a different view, the Group will use its 
own procedures and methods that are coordinated with 

the central Risk Controlling unit of the BayernLB Group. 
DKB AG follows the stipulations of the Group risk strat-
egy (including sub-risk strategies) of BayernLB and is also 
obligated to comply with the guidelines applicable at the 
BayernLB Group. 

Risk inventory and significant risk types

A regular risk inventory is carried out in order to identify 
significant risks and to review the appropriateness of the 
risk management system in relation to the degree of risk. 
In particular, the results of the OpRisk self-assessment are 
also used for non-financial risks. The assessment of the 
materiality of risks is based, for instance, on the forecast 
risk capital requirement. Depending on their materiality for 
the overall risk profile, subsidiaries of DKB AG are included 
in the strategic guidelines and in the risk management 
system. An annual investment inventory is carried out to 
determine the risks arising from subsidiaries. 

Counterparty default risks, market price risks, participation 
and operational risks as well as liquidity, reputation and 
business risks have been identified as significant risk types. 
In addition, there are significant sub-types of risks that are 
integrated in the risk management processes of the risk 
types.

Counterparty default risks comprise the risk that a contrac-
tual partner (borrower, issuer or counterparty) cannot, or 
cannot completely, meet their contractual obligations, and 
the risk of loss and changes in value arising from collat-
eral provided. Counterparty default risks also include the 
country risk resulting from country specifics (such as in the 
form of political or economic crises or currency restric-
tions). Furthermore, risks due to an uneven distribution of 
exposure in the concentration risk are recorded as part of 
the counterparty default risk. These include concentrations 
on individual borrowers (cluster risks), portfolios (client 
groups), countries and collateral concentrations due to the 
type of collateral provided.

The DKB Group is exposed to counterparty default risks in 
the traditional client business (credit risk) and in the form 
of issuer and counterparty risks, as well as those arising 
from internal Group receivables. Country risks arise mainly 
in the securities portfolio in the case of foreign issuers. 
These are not significant given the portfolio as a whole. 
The bank is exposed to counterparty risks in the form of 
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replacement risks only to a negligible extent, mainly for 
hedging interest rate risks and in secured money mar-
ket trading. The bank does not permit products such as 
securitisations in the form of ABS and MBS structures or 
the purchase of securitised receivables. The bank is not 
exposed to such risks.

Market price risks are defined as potential losses from 
changes in the market prices of securities, money market 
and foreign exchange products and derivatives, as well as 
a change in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. The 
sub-risks of interest rate risks, credit spread risks, equity 
risks, volatility and foreign currency risks as well as market 
liquidity risks are included under market price risks. Market 
price risks are entered into in particular in the form of 
interest rate risks in the banking book. Credit spread risks 
result from the securities in the liquidity reserve. The bank 
is not actively exposed to foreign currency risks; these 
result mainly from participations outside of the eurozone. 
There are no commodity and securitisation risks. Option 
risks are primarily a result of implicit options arising from 
termination rights in the lending business pursuant to 
Section 489 of the German Civil Code (Bundesgesetzbuch; 
BGB) and interest rate capping agreements that are taken 
into account when measuring the interest rate risk in the 
banking book. Market liquidity risk and net interest income 
risk (NIIR) are also market price risks. Market liquidity risk is 
defined as the risk that risk positions can only be closed at 
financially less favourable conditions than expected. Net 
interest income risk (NIIR) is a special form of interest rate 
risk and describes the risk of a reduction in net interest 
income in the banking book.

Investment risks comprise counterparty default risks from 
investment positions. These relate to potential losses in 
value due to the provision of equity or equity-type financ-
ing (such as silent partnerships) from liability risks, as 
well as losses in value from payment obligations or profit 
transfer agreements. Loans to participating interests form 
an element of the counterparty default risk.

As part of the non-financial risks, operational risks, closely 
modelled on the banking regulatory requirements of CRR, 
are defined as the risk of losses caused by human conduct, 
process and control weaknesses, technological failures, 
disasters or external influences. The following significant 
individual risks are included under operational risks: legal 
(including general legal risk, compliance risk and conduct 
risk as well as tax law risk), information security, fraud, per-
sonnel, outsourcing, model, (business) process and project 
risk. As a result of the DKB AG business model, there is a 
particular focus on information security risks. These risks 
include the loss of confidentiality of information and the 
limited availability of systems. 

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that due payment obli-
gations cannot be met in full or on time (insolvency risk) 
or – in the event of a liquidity crisis – that refinancing funds 
can only be obtained at higher market rates (liquidity 
price increase risk). In the context of risk-bearing capacity, 
liquidity price increase risks are considered together with 
reputation risks.

The way in which stakeholders perceive the competence, 
performance, integrity and trustworthiness of the bank 
leads to and describes the reputation. Reputational risk 
is defined as the risk that negative public criticism or the 
bank’s own negative image, both externally and intern
ally, could lead to a loss of reputation from the point of 
view of the stakeholders and cause financial losses for the 
bank. Reputation risks exist, in particular, in the context of 
unexpected outflows of customer deposits, as well as the 
consequence of a massive loss of trust in the bank’s credit-
worthiness or IT security with impacts on liquidity holdings 
and refinancing costs.
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Business risks comprise the risk of economic losses 
induced by unexpected changes in the economic, legal, 
regulatory, political, technological, social or ecological 
business environment that were not already explicitly 
or implicitly regarded as other risk types included in the 
risk-bearing capacity statement. Business risks also include 
strategic risks.

Risk-bearing capacity and stress testing

Risk-bearing capacity
The analysis of risk-bearing capacity as part of the Internal 
Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) and the 
Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) 
are key components of overall bank management. 

The risk-bearing capacity in the ICAAP is considered to 
be ensured if the available capital is sufficient in both the 
normative and economic management cycle to cover risks 
from the underlying transactions. By actively managing 
the risk-bearing capacity, the bank ensures that the risks 
it is exposed to, or the planned risks, are at all times in line 
with the bank’s capital resources. In line with the conserva-
tive corporate policy, complete depletion of the risk cover 
funds should be virtually ruled out. For this reason, a high 
confidence level is taken as the basis for quantifying risks 
and a safety buffer is maintained for the occurrence of 
extraordinary events.

Under the normative perspective, the ability to consist
ently meet the regulatory and supervisory capital require-
ments relevant to DKB AG is assessed over a three-year 
period. A management buffer that exceeds regulatory and 
supervisory capital requirements is taken into account. The 
assessment is carried out within the framework of multi-
year planning and the planning indication calculations 
using a base scenario and several adverse scenarios. As in 
the economic perspective, all management-related risks 
are taken into account in this assessment.

In the internal economic perspective, risk-bearing capac-
ity is assessed on the basis of an economic risk capital 
amount. The procedures for quantifying the economic 
risk capital amount are based on a value-at-risk approach 
or, in determining the increase in liquidity cost risk, on a 
scenario-based approach. When using the value-at-risk 
approach, a confidence level of 99.9% and a holding 
period of one year are assumed. Regulatory procedures are 
used to quantify investment risks. The risk capital require-
ments calculated for the individual risk types relevant for 
management are aggregated additively, i.e. without taking 
into account diversification effects between the risk types.

The aggregated risk capital requirements are compared 
with the available coverage capital. The available cover 
funds are determined using an economic approach. The 
starting point is the equity according to IFRS held by the 
DKB Group. In order to take account of the economic 
approach, equity under IFRS is then adjusted for intangible 
assets and credit-rating-induced migration gains/losses 
which have occurred in the loan portfolio. 

Under ILAAP, risk-bearing capacity is considered to be 
adequate if the available liquidity reserve fully covers the 
liquidity outflows which may occur under stress condi-
tions. For a presentation of the monitoring of liquidity risks 
please see the section on liquidity risks.

The actual utilisation is reported, among other things, in 
the monthly risk report. 

Stress testing
Within the framework of overarching stress and scenario 
analyses, the effects of extraordinary but plausible events 
are analysed for all major risk types. Based on the results 
of the risk inventory, potential stress scenarios are identi-
fied and assessed at least quarterly. In addition to macro-
economic stress scenarios, the programme also includes 
scenarios based on institution-specific vulnerabilities. 
One panel (the FSA Panel) estimates the probability of 
occurrence and the impact of the scenarios on capital and 
liquidity in a normative and economic perspective. The 
further treatment of the scenarios depends on the result 
of this assessment. If the result of this assessment requires 
the scenarios to be quantified, this is usually performed 
within the framework of multi-year planning and plan-
ning indication calculations. However, if necessary, the 



59 | DKB Annual Report 2019 | Report on risks and opportunities

calculation cycle is increased for scenarios with a very high 
probability of occurrence and impact. The results of the 
stress tests are reported to the Board of Management and, 
as part of multi-year planning, to the Supervisory Board.

In addition, the potential effects of a severe economic 
downturn on the level of risk requirements and the avail-
able cover funds are determined monthly in the economic 
perspective. The utilisation in this scenario (ICAAP stress) 
is reported to the Board of Management and Supervisory 
Board in the risk report. 

Regular sensitivity analyses and risk-type-specific stress 
tests are carried out in addition to the overarching process 
and the monthly determination of the effects of a severe 
economic downturn in the economic perspective.
 
Inverse stress tests are regularly carried out in addition to 
conventional stress tests. In a deviation from the conven-
tional stress tests, retrograde scenarios are identified that 
may put the survival of the DKB Group at risk. Inverse 
stress tests are carried out for individual risk types as well 
as across risk types. The quantification as well as the pre-
sentation of the stress test results and their analysis take 
place at least once per year.

For all stress scenarios, the responsibility for quantification 
and commentary lies with Risk Controlling. The examin
ation of normative risk-bearing capacity is the responsibil-
ity of the Finance division, which derives the stress effects 
based on the information supplied by the persons respon-
sible for the risk types (from the Risk Controlling division). 
Both perspectives are determined in a mutually consistent 
manner.

Counterparty default risks

Risk management and monitoring
The credit risk strategy is determined taking into account 
the risk profile and risk appetite. It contains the planning 
and distribution of risk capital and requirements for new 
business consistent with the business strategy. The require-
ments for limiting credit risks are derived on this basis.

The lending business is governed by the lending policy, 
which sets out the general philosophy for the credit risk 
as well as the methods for actively controlling the risk. 
The lending policy defines important organisational 
requirements, competencies and responsibilities as well 
as principles for credit risk management, and applies to all 
lending business.

Management of the counterparty default risk is a joint task 
for the commercial banking and back office units. In this 
process, the CR and Credit Consult divisions assume the 
back office function and are responsible for risk analysis, 
assessment and management with regard to risk-related 
exposures. Furthermore, they bear responsibility for the 
ongoing creditworthiness and transactions analysis, and 
give the back office the authority to approve loans. The 
credit authorisation regulation governs the competencies 
of the various authorised persons depending on the credit 
volume to be approved, the client group and the rating 
category.

The written rules (SfO) contain a matrix for each client 
group, which sets the framework conditions from a sales 
and risk perspective for new client acquisition, new busi-
ness and renewals. 

At issuer level, a credit approval and credit valuation pro-
cess along the lines of the counterparty default risks of the 
lending business and a limit system ensure that the prin-
ciple of “no transaction without a limit” is also observed 
for trading transactions. Depending on the credit rating 
of the respective issuer, the maximum amount of the limit 
is determined and broken down into product-specific 
sub-limits for debtor, issuer, replacement and settlement 
risks. Risk Controlling monitors compliance with the limits 
on a daily basis and includes this in the daily and monthly 
report. If the limits are exceeded, the escalation process in 
place is activated.
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The monthly risk report and the quarterly credit risk report 
provide information on the development of counterparty 
default risks.

Risk classification procedure
In order to assess the creditworthiness of clients and 
thereby to determine the probability of default, the DKB 
Group mainly makes use of the risk classification proce-
dure offered by S Rating und Risikosysteme GmbH (SR) as 
part of its credit risk management. In addition, procedures 
by Rating Service Unit GmbH & Co. KG (RSU) are also used. 
The majority of the rating systems used are permitted for 
calculating the regulatory capital requirements in the con-
text of the IRB Group notification of BayernLB.

All rating procedures are subject to ongoing mainten
ance and validation, which ensures their adequacy for 
the correct determination of default probabilities in the 
respective client or financing segments. Maintenance 
and validation includes both quantitative and qualitative 
analyses. The rating factors, including the selectivity and 
calibration of the methods, the data quality and the design 
of the models are checked using statistical and qualitative 
analyses as well as user experience from ongoing use.

The Credit Risk Methodology unit is responsible for main-
taining the quality of the systems, the implementation 
and quality assurance of processes as well as the ongoing 
maintenance and implementation of recalibrations. The 
validation of the processes using the above-mentioned 
analyses is carried out by the Model Validation depart-
ment. Both departments are part of the Risk Controlling 
division.

The results of the risk classification procedures are 
reflected in a master scale. 

Collateral management

Another key instrument to minimise risk is the acceptance 
and continuous valuation of generally accepted collateral. 
In line with its client structure, the DKB Group’s collateral 
portfolio consists primarily of material collateral provided 
by retail clients, housing associations and housing industry 
investors, local authority guarantees and suretyships, as 
well as assignments of receivables and assignments by way 
of security of the “environmental technology” client group. 
Other relevant collateral is of minor importance.

The DKB Group regulates the competencies and respon-
sibilities for processing and measuring collateral in its 
collateral policy – based on the Group standard provided 
by BayernLB. The regulations contained in the collateral 
policy form the basis for availing of regulatory relief in 
accordance with KWG and CRR, and taking into account 
the collateral in accordance with economic interests.

Determining the market and loan values for mortgage col-
lateral is crucial for collateral valuation. In the case of real 
estate to be financed with a loan amount to be secured 
from €400 thousand (incl. prior charges), a valuation report 
by an expert in accordance with Section 6 BelWertV [Belei-
hungswertermittlungsverordnung: German Regulation on 
the Determination of the Mortgage Lending Value] must 
always be prepared. For real estate valuation in the retail 
business, DKB relies on appraisal experts JKT Immobilien 
GmbH and Value AG, and for the valuation of mortgage 
lending properties in the agriculture and food customer 
groups on the appraisal offices of Frank Rixen, Sebas-
tian Krebs and engineering firm Bödecker Agriwert. The 
expertise of LB Immowert, a subsidiary of BayernLB, is used 
for the remaining client groups. The plausibility check and 
determination of the mortgage lending values determined 
by the appraisers in accordance with Section 6 BelWertV is 
carried out independently of the market by the Operations 
& Banking Services division, Real Estate Services. The mort-
gage lending value proposed by the respective appraiser 
constitutes the upper mortgage lending value limit. In the 
case of small loans in accordance with Section 24 BelWertV 
(loan amount below EUR 400 thousand (including prior 
charges), a simplified procedure is used to determine the 
mortgage lending value for residential real estate collateral 
in Germany. The subsidiary, DKB Service, carries out the 
determination, plausibility check and calculation of the 
mortgage lending value pursuant to Section 24 BelWertV. 
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The civil engineers who work on a decentralised basis are 
also assigned to the Operations & Banking Services divi-
sion, Real Estate Services department.

In all commitments, the collateral value for making use 
of the relief provided by KWG and CRR is determined 
on the basis of the loan values. For economic (internal) 
control, the liquidation values are determined on the 
basis of market values. The appropriateness of the valu-
ations is regularly reviewed when determining the loan 
value. In addition, exposures are continuously monitored, 
for example as part of disbursement controls, collateral 
processing or annual exposure monitoring. 

The Board of Management receives reports on the collat-
eral amounts and composition as part of the credit risk 
report provided by the Risk Office.

Risk concentration and sub-portfolio limits
In order to monitor and limit risk concentrations, the DKB 
Group has implemented various limit systems. The limits 
are monitored regularly by Risk Controlling. If limits are 
exceeded, recommendations for action and measures in 
accordance with the approved escalation model are imple-
mented. Utilisation of the limits is reported to the Board of 
Management and the Supervisory Board of DKB AG in the 
monthly risk report. In addition, the limits are presented 
in detail in the credit risk limit report on a monthly basis. 
Unless otherwise agreed, limits require a resolution by 
DKB’s Board of Management.

The limits relate to the gross exposure, i. e. without offset-
ting collateral provided.

In order to limit the industry risks in the BayernLB Group, 
Group-wide industry limits are set out for selected 
industries. The DKB Group participates in this process in 
accordance with its multi-year planning and risk profile. 
Sub-limits are granted to the DKB Group in this process. In 
addition, specific portfolio guidelines are set that are also 
subject to monitoring.

The DKB Group also sets client group limits for the respect
ive client groups in the areas of infrastructure, corporate 
clients, retail clients, individual clients, treasury and non-
core business. These limits are derived from the multi-year 
plan and take the Group-wide industry limits into account.

BayernLB Group has limits in place for business with the 
public sector for the German states and the federal govern-
ment. The DKB Group is also granted sub-limits from these.

Due to the targeted focus on domestic borrowers and 
foreign issuers from investment-grade countries, country 
risks are not substantial and are currently not considered 
separately in the economic risk measurement due to their 
marginal nature.

The DKB Group is involved in the BayernLB Group’s limit 
allocation process to manage country risks in the securities 
portfolio and receives sub-limits accordingly. The utilisa-
tion of the sub-limits granted is monitored on a daily basis.

In addition, a process to monitor collateral concentra-
tions is in place. The relevant collateral concentrations are 
identified at least once per year and subjected to a stress 
test quarterly in order to quantify the potential loss. This 
ensures that concentrations from homogeneously reacting 
collateral are identified and can be monitored.

Risk concentration and borrower limits
In order to limit borrower-related risk concentrations, 
the DKB Group is included in the Group-wide limits for 
counterparty risk concentrations in accordance with the 
corresponding guideline of the BayernLB Group.

New business and increases that exceed or extend the 
gross limit of a group of related customers (GvK) of EUR 50 
million pursuant to Art. 4 (1) no. 39 of the CRR are mon-
itored in order to identify risk concentrations in the DKB 
Group at an early stage. For exposures with a gross limit of 
at least EUR 400 million at the level of the BayernLB Group, 
the limits and sub-limits are allocated by BayernLB. The 
utilisation of the sub-limits is checked daily. If limits are 
exceeded, escalation measures are initiated.

In addition, the DKB Group has determined a bank-
specific cluster ceiling based on the gross client limit 
for groups of related clients in the amount of 50% of the 
current large loan threshold.
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Compliance with cluster ceilings is monitored in the oper-
ating business on a continuous basis as part of the credit 
approval process. For new loan approvals that exceed the 
internal cluster ceiling, a strategy must be worked out for 
the commitment as part of the preparation of the loan doc-
uments. The Board of Management approves the commit-
ment. Risk Controlling reports on groups of related clients 
that exceed the cluster ceiling to the Board on a quarterly 
basis.

Project financing for the “environmental technology” client 
group is excluded from the internal cluster management. 
On the basis of the gross client limit, this group of related 
clients has an exposure ceiling of EUR 350 million. In jus-
tified exceptional cases, credit approvals above this limit 
may only be granted with the approval of the Board of 
Management and the risk committee in accordance with 

the credit authorisation regulation. Limits are monitored 
quarterly by Risk Controlling.

Management of problematic exposures
The DKB Group links the risk management of impending 
or actual problematic commitments to the rating and the 
rating-independent early risk identification process. Loan 
exposures whose deteriorated creditworthiness and/or 
liquidity require special monitoring are divided into expo-
sures for intensive support (rating 10–12) and problem 
loan support (rating 13–18) or transferred to these forms 
of support by exercising a drawing right. The client service 
units receive a monthly summary of the relevant commit-
ments from the Credit Consult division, which is respon
sible for the methodology in accordance with MaRisk for 
the above-mentioned forms of support.

Rating class Form of support Independent responsible unit (normal case)

1–9 Normal support

Credit risk and portfolio management (CR)10–12 Intensive support

13–15 Problem loan monitoring

16–18 Problem loan monitoring Credit Consult (CC)

The responsibility for supporting commitments requiring 
intensive support remains within the customer service 
units. They draw up an exposure strategy within the frame-
work of the specifications defined by the Credit Consult 
division and implement it by means of exposure-specific 
measures. In these cases, the CR division then provides 
the second approval (back office) required in accordance 
with MaRisk. The CR division is granted a drawing right 
for exposures with a credit rating of 1–9 (drawing right 
intensive support), the exercise of which involves shifting 
the competences of the market to those of the 10–12 
credit rating category and the market agreeing individual 
measures, reporting and deadlines with the CR division.

In accordance with MaRisk, the Credit Consult division 
is also responsible for all decisions relating to problem 
loan exposures (rating class 13 and above) and for defining 
strategies. The Credit Consult division is also granted 
a drawing right (drawing right problem loan support) 
irrespective of the rating.
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Early risk detection
The principles of risk management practised in the 
DKB Group and the principles of the risk early-warning 
procedure for identifying borrowers or exposures with 
(emerging) increased risks are laid down in the risk 
Early-Warning guideline. The aim is to be able to provide 
risk-adequate support and initiate measures to minimise 
risks at an early stage.

This guideline supplements the Credit Policy guideline, the 
Risk Strategy guideline, the Problem Exposure guideline 
and the principles of the DKB Group’s lending business. It 
is supplemented by regulations on risk classification pro
cedures and early risk identification and risk monitoring.

Creation of loan loss provisions
The risk provisions of the DKB Group are based on the 
regulations of IFRS 9. The impairment model of IFRS 9 
provides for the following levels that reflect the develop-
ment of the credit quality of a financial asset:

–	� Level 1: If a financial instrument is acquired and there 
is no significant increase in credit risk or no impaired 
creditworthiness (“credit-impaired”), the valuation 
allowances are measured at the amount of the expected 
12-month credit loss. 

–	� Level 2: In the event of a significant increase in credit risk 
since addition, but in the absence of an impaired credit 
rating, the valuation allowances are measured at the 
amount of the credit losses expected over the term. 

–	� Level 3/POCI: In the case of a financial asset whose 
creditworthiness is impaired at the balance sheet date 
or whose creditworthiness was already impaired at the 
time of acquisition (POCI), the valuation allowances are 
measured in the amount of the expected credit losses 
over the term. 

The impairment amount for Level 1 and Level 2 receivables 
and for Level 3 non-significant receivables (individual loan 
commitments with a maximum gross exposure of EUR 750 
thousand) is determined using parameter-based models. 
For significant Level 3 receivables (individual loan commit-
ments with a gross exposure of over EUR 750 thousand), 
risk provisions are determined on the basis of expert 
estimates of expected recoveries (discounted cash flow 
method). 

Risk provisioning at DKB AG is based on the provisions 
of the German Commercial Code, which distinguishes 
between portfolio-based allowances and specific allow-
ances:

–	� Portfolio-based valuation allowances: if a financial 
instrument is acquired and there is no impaired credit-
worthiness (“credit-impaired”), the valuation allowances 
are measured at the amount of the expected 12-month 
credit loss. Valuation adjustments are calculated using 
parameter-based models.

–	� Specific valuation allowances: in the case of a financial 
asset the creditworthiness of which is impaired as of 
the balance sheet date, the valuation adjustments are 
measured in the amount of the credit losses expected 
over the term. The valuation allowance is determined in 
accordance with the Level 3 method under IFRS 9. 

Risk measurement
Value at risk at portfolio level is determined using a simula-
tive credit portfolio model which quantifies migration and 
default risks with a horizon of one year and a confidence 
level of 99.9%. Dependencies between the borrowers in 
the portfolio are quantified using an industry-specific sec-
tor model. Finally, uncertainties are also taken into account 
when determining loss ratios. The risk contributions of 
the individual business partners to the value at risk of the 
overall portfolio are determined for the purposes of risk 
analysis.

Besides the probability of default, the counterparty default 
risk is mainly influenced by the loan amount outstanding 
at the time of default as well as the forecast loss ratio. The 
DKB Group uses parameters it has estimated itself for both 
input variables. Information provided by RSU is used for 
banks, countries and local authorities.

The portfolio model and the critical parameters are vali-
dated at least once per year.
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Development of the risk situation
The development of the risk situation is presented based 
on the business fields of the DKB Group. The transactions 
of the Treasury division, including intra-Group refinancing 
with BayernLB, are part of the financial markets segment.

Gross exposure increased by EUR 7.3 billion to EUR 104.3 
billion in the reporting year (31 December 2018: EUR 97.0 
billion). Broken down by the DKB Group’s business fields, 
the following picture emerges:

Gross exposure by business segment
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The gross exposure is offset by collateral of EUR 34.4 billion 
(31 December 2018: EUR 37.0 billion), resulting in a net 
exposure of EUR 70.0 billion (31 December 2018: EUR 60.0 
billion).

The increase in gross exposure is mainly the result of 
growth in customer business in the infrastructure and 
corporate clients business segments in line with the bank’s 
strategy, as well as the increase in the liquidity holdings. 
The reduction of the non-core business was continued.

The significant growth in gross exposure in the infrastruc-
ture business segment to EUR 48.7 billion (31 December 
2018: EUR 45.1 billion) was mainly due to business in the 
housing client group and with municipal clients. The client 
group of Group subsidiaries, which was still reported 

separately as at 31 December 2018, has been allocated to 
the infrastructure business segment since the 2019 finan-
cial year. The comparative figure as at 31 December 2018 
was adjusted accordingly.

At EUR 15.3 billion, gross exposure in the corporate clients 
business segment was above the previous year’s level 
(31 December 2018: EUR 14.5 billion). The tangible increase 
is dominated above all by the environmental technology
and agriculture & food customer groups. 

In the retail clients business segment, gross exposure 
increased by EUR 0.7 billion to EUR 26.8 billion compared 
to the previous year. The increase is due to further growth 
in the DKB-Cash product package and in private loans.
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As at 31 December 2019, receivables from BayernLB 
amounted to EUR 0.7 billion (31 December 2018: EUR 0.9 
billion).

The Treasury division mainly comprises DKB AG’s securi-
ties portfolio and business with institutional clients. The 
increase in the gross exposure by EUR 2.4 billion to EUR 
12.7 billion reflects in particular the increase in the liquid-
ity holdings, which was boosted by growth in customer 
deposits.

In addition to bonds issued by domestic and eurozone 
governments with first-class credit ratings, the securities 
portfolio primarily comprises bonds issued by supra
national issuers and development banks.

The changes in the portfolio by rating category were as 
follows:

Gross exposure by rating class
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The quality of the portfolio improved noticeably further 
during the course of the year. The investment-grade share, 
i.e. the share in positions with ratings in classes 1 to 5, 
increased to 84.4% (31 December 2018: 82.9%).

The average probability of default in the portfolio reduced 
significantly to 0.41% (31 December 2018: 0.48%). The 
overall portfolio thus improved from grade 6 to grade 5 in 
the investment-grade range. The proportion of defaulting 
exposures (rating classes 16–18) has declined noticeably 
compared with the previous year and stands at 0.8% as of 
31 December 2019 (0.9% as of 31 December 2018).

The DKB Group does not permit products such as securi
tisations in the form of ABS and MBS structures or the 
purchase of securitised receivables. The DKB Group is not 
exposed to such risks.

As at 31 December 2019, 29 groups of related clients pur-
suant to Article 4 (1) no. 39 CRR were identified as cluster 
commitments.

As of 31 December 2019, two clients in the environmental 
technology customer group exceeded the maximum expo-
sure limit of EUR 350 million.
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Investment risks

In order to supplement and round off the products and 
services for the client groups defined in accordance with 
the bank’s strategy, as well as to provide internal services 
for the DKB Group, DKB AG in principle holds strategic 
investments with the objective of optimising vertical 
integration, expanding the product and service areas 
of DKB AG, developing existing sources of revenue and 
capturing new sources of revenue. The investment strategy 
governs the principles for entering into equity risks and 
risks from equity-like financing.

Here, DKB AG aims to generate appropriate and sustain-
able profitability according to risk for all participations 
(except for restructuring companies). Activities related to 
dealing with the legacy business of construction manage-
ment companies and the comprehensive winding up of 
the remaining business activities still in the companies is 
consistently carried out by the restructuring companies. 
The reduction is being driven forward with the objective of 
avoiding asset losses.

The Legal and Management Staff division as well as the 
Non-Financial Risk division are responsible for the con-
tinuous monitoring and control of shareholder risks. In 
contrast to the monitoring of investment risks, the moni-
toring of credit risks from loans granted to subsidiaries is 
the responsibility of the CR and Risk Controlling divisions.

The portfolio management of the entire shareholding 
and participation portfolio is carried out by the Board of 
Management.

In its strategic participations, DKB AG strives to set the stra-
tegic direction in line with the current business strategy 
and multi-year planning as well as the risk strategy of the 

DKB Group. This generally takes place by acquiring major-
ity shareholdings. Furthermore, it is possible to influence 
the business and risk policies of the investee companies by 
taking appropriate measures (articles of association, rules 
of procedure, membership of supervisory bodies, etc.) or 
by concluding appropriate inter-company agreements.
 
The impacts that investment risks have on the risk-
bearing capacity are detailed in the monthly reports by 
Risk Controlling. In addition, the Legal and Management 
Staff division reports regularly to the Board of Manage-
ment. It prepares a quarterly report on the participations. 
Furthermore, the Supervisory Board is given an annual 
participation report for their information. The Supervisory 
Board also receives information on the current participation 
topics at its regular meetings. The Board of Management 
is promptly informed of any matters relating to the 
participations.

For the investment portfolio, the risk capital requirement is 
calculated using the risk weighting method based on the 
probability of default in accordance with Art. 155 of the CRR. 

The limits for the risk capital are calculated as part of the 
annual risk capital allocation process.

The control and monitoring systems in place ensure that 
DKB AG is continuously informed of the financial per-
formance and strategic alignment of the participation 
companies.
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Market price risks

Risk management and monitoring 
At the DKB Group, market price risks arise exclusively from 
the investment book. The market price risk comprises 
the following sub-risks: interest rate risks, credit spread 
risks, equity risks, volatility and foreign currency risks as 
well as market liquidity risks. Currency risks are essentially 
only entered into in connection with strategic invest-
ments. In addition, the rule applies that no open foreign 
currency positions are held and that foreign currency 
risks entered into in client business are concluded by 
means of counter-trade transactions. Implicit options from 
termination rights and interest limitation agreements are 
also taken into account when measuring the interest rate 
risk of the banking book.

The market price risks are monitored regularly by Risk 
Controlling, independently of trading. Besides the regula-
tory requirements for risk measurement and risk control, 
this division ensures the daily reporting to the responsible 
heads of department and the weekly and monthly infor-
mation for the Board of Management and is responsible 
for the market conformity check.

Treasury is responsible for managing the interest rate risks 
from the interest-bearing business in accordance with the 
specifications of the Board of Management as well as for 
the development of interest rate strategies and the conclu-
sion of interest rate derivatives. The Liquidity Management 
unit in the Treasury division is responsible for managing 
the positions of the bank’s own investments and monitor-
ing the performance of the individual funds.

The DKB Group uses interest rate swaps for hedging and 
reducing interest rate risks. In order to reduce fluctuations 
in value arising from changes to fair values in the income 
statement, hedging relationships are established between 
interest rate swaps concluded to control the interest rate 
risks and receivables from clients (hedge accounting). The 
Finances division is responsible for the continuous super
vision of the effectiveness of the hedging relationships.

In order to monitor the market price risks, the DKB Group 
has implemented a limit system based on value at risk 
(VaR) consistent with the risk-bearing capacity calculation. 
The VaR for market price risks is calculated on the basis of 
a historical simulation with a holding period of one day 
and a confidence level of 99%. To determine the economic 
risk capital requirement, this figure is then scaled to a 
confidence level of 99.9% and a uniform holding period 
of 250 days. All the positions bearing market price risks 
are included in the determination of the VaR. Interest rate, 
credit spread, share and foreign currency risks are taken 
into account in the calculation. The market liquidity risk is 
implicitly considered over a holding period of 250 trading 
days. In addition, for custody account A (securities busi-
ness), a separate, correlated VaR is determined as a portion 
of the overall portfolio that takes into account the interest 
rate, credit spread and share risks in the securities port-
folio. There are no foreign currency risks in the securities 
portfolio.

In addition to the present value consideration of the 
interest rate risk, the net interest income risk (NIIR) and the 
earnings at risk (EaR) are used to determine an earnings 
perspective. The change in interest-sensitive items in the 
income statement is examined under various interest rate 
scenarios and on the basis of defined business develop-
ments over an observation period of the next 12 months.

The market price risk measuring procedures are reviewed 
regularly in respect of reliability and quality. Back testing 
is carried out to compare the risk forecast with the actual 
result.

In addition to the value at risk for market price risks, 
market-risk-specific stress tests are determined. Stress 
testing is carried out in the form of sensitivity or scen
ario analyses. Historical and hypothetical scenarios are 
considered. All the relevant risk factors (interest rate, 
credit spread, volatility, foreign currency and share risks) 
are included in the stress test analyses. In an additional 
analysis, a drop in prices is simulated for all positions 
subject to a share risk. In credit spread scenarios, credit 
spreads are widened. An extensive set of stress tests exists 
for the interest rate risk factor, which also reflects the 
dependencies between interest rate and volatility risks.
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A key control parameter for the stress-testing programme 
carried out by the DKB Group is the interest rate risk 
coefficient in accordance with BaFin (Federal Financial 
Supervisory Authority) circular 06/2019. In these six regu-
latory scenarios, which differ in the amount of the interest 
rate shifts to be used, the maximum present value loss in 
the investment book is limited to 20% of the regulatory 
capital of DKB AG.

Risk Controlling monitors adherence to the limits on a daily 
(securities), weekly (banking book) or weekly/monthly 
(stress scenarios) basis and includes this in its regular 
reports. If limits are exceeded or about to be exceeded, 
relevant escalation measures are initiated.

In daily reporting, the division heads of Treasury and 
Risk Controlling are informed about the VaR for trading 
transactions, the performance of custody account A and 
compliance with the limit for risk capital requirements.

In the weekly or monthly reports to the Board of 
Management, the results of the present value, periodic 
and income-related stress scenarios are reported in 
addition to a presentation of risk-bearing capacity. The 
results of scenarios that are regarded as relevant to risk 
for the DKB Group, taking into account the current inter-
est rate situation as of the reporting date, are noted and 
commented on in the risk report.

All stress tests are validated and the model maintained 
once per year or as required.

Change in market price risks at the overall 
banking level
The interest rate risk in the event of a sudden and unex-
pected change in interest rates (as per BaFin circular 
06/2019) amounted to EUR 470 million as at the reporting 
date (scenario of a sudden rise in interest rates of 200 basis 
points). In relation to the equity in accordance with CRR, 
this is equivalent to a share of 12.1%  (31 December 2017: 
10.7%). The relevant net present value loss for this scenario 
is the largest amount resulting from the six regulatory 
scenarios. Compared to the previous year, the relevant 
net present value loss rose by almost EUR 80 million, in 
particular due to new loan business. The lowest relevant 
cash value loss was EUR 267 million in May and the highest 

EUR 615 million in December. The relevant loss in present 
value in 2019 was due to the scenario of a sudden and 
unexpected rise in interest rates of +200 bp.

The risk capital requirement for the total market price 
risk of EUR 473 million changed tangibly compared with 
31 December 2018 (EUR 318 million). The significant 
charges on new lending business were only partially offset 
by increases in customer deposits, the conclusion of payer 
swaps and the issue of bonds. The highest risk capital 
requirement of EUR 501 million was reached in December 
2019 and the lowest value of EUR 154 million in September 
2019.

Development of market price risks from  
the securities business
In addition to the risk factors at the level of the bank as a 
whole, there is a sub-risk limit for the securities portfolio 
that is measured and monitored on a correlated basis. 
Due to the high proportion of fixed-interest securities 
from public issuers in Germany, the securities portfolio is 
dominated by interest rate risks. The bonds are held for the 
purpose of liquidity risk management. In addition, DKB AG 
invests in shares via the purchase of fund products.

The DKB Group’s nominal bond portfolio (excluding own 
issues) dropped slightly to EUR 5.8 billion in financial 
year 2019 (31 December 2018: EUR 6.1 billion). The bond 
portfolio primarily relates to liquidity holdings required by 
the regulator, which ensures that securities that are eligible 
for rediscount with the central bank and securities that 
are quickly realisable on private markets immediately and 
without value losses are available at all times.

Compared to 31 December 2018, the risk capital require-
ment for custody account A decreased significantly from 
EUR 251 million to EUR 183 million as of 31 December 2019.

Risk concentrations are limited and controlled in accord
ance with the issuer, similar to the applicable cluster regu
lation, and in accordance with the portfolio, for regional 
concentrations. 
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Liquidity risks

Risk management and monitoring
The Board of Management bears the overall responsibility 
for measuring and controlling liquidity risks. It is informed 
of the liquidity situation at the weekly meetings of the 
Board of Management and when defined events occur, 
and also when the need arises, and uses this informa-
tion to derive measures for fine-tuning liquidity risks or 
requests the responsible divisions to implement them. 
The Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) consists of the 
Board of Management and the heads of Treasury and Risk 
Controlling, and monitors the strategic liquidity situation 
based on the risk reports and liquidity status presented, 
and elaborates medium and long-term control measures. 
In addition, an emergency committee has been formed 
in which, in addition to ALCO, the heads of the Corporate 
Development, Legal and Management Staff divisions are 
represented. It meets in the case of a liquidity emergency, 
decides measures to deal with the emergency and moni-
tors their execution.

To ensure uniform management, BayernLB has provided 
the DKB Group with a substantive and organisational 
framework for dealing with liquidity risks in the form of 
guidelines. These guidelines in relation to controlling the 
liquidity risk have been incorporated into the bank’s regu
lations via the sub-risk strategy for liquidity risks, as well 
as via the Liquidity Policy, the Liquidity Contingency Plan 
and the Funding Policy. Here, the sub-risk strategy governs 
the substantive and organisational framework for handling 
the existing liquidity risks. These framework conditions 
are then specified and described in detail in the Liquid-
ity Policy. The organisational framework for the event of 
a liquidity crisis or liquidity emergency is set out in the 
liquidity contingency plan. The Funding Policy governs the 
refinancing principles and processes.
 
The DKB Group has set out the nature and scope of the 
management system for liquidity risks in the Liquidity 
Policy. Besides the organisational structure and division 
of responsibilities, it also governs the risk measurement, 
limits, reporting and liquidity management within the 
DKB Group. This includes, on the one hand, the normative 
perspective with the regulatory reports (including the LCR 

and the asset encumbrance report) and, on the other, the 
economic perspective with the liquidity maturity state-
ment and the intraday liquidity risk. In addition to pre-
senting the risk management system, the Liquidity Policy 
defines the term “contingency”. The liquidity contingency 
is described in more detail in the Liquidity Contingency 
Plan, in which, for instance, the composition of the emer-
gency committee, including function and competencies, 
as well as the procedure and communication channels in 
an emergency, are defined and possible courses of action 
are prepared.

The Treasury division is responsible for managing short-
term liquidity, taking into account the regulatory require-
ments and the strategic medium- and long-term funding. 
In addition, Treasury is responsible for managing the 
interest rate risk from the interest-bearing business as 
well as the development of interest rate strategies and the 
conclusion of interest rate derivatives as directed by the 
Board of Management. Furthermore, this division manages 
the intraday liquidity and prepares the refinancing status 
at the close of trading.

Risk Controlling carries out independent risk measure-
ment, monitoring and reporting, and escalates any limit 
breaches.

Liquidity overviews are prepared daily for the purposes 
of managing the liquidity situation in the short term. The 
Board of Management decides on the short-term and 
strategic orientation of liquidity management and key 
individual requirements, for example on the basis of an 
annual funding plan. The liquidity overviews are also used 
at least once a month as a basis for analyses of the assets 
side, the diversification of the liabilities side and the devel-
opment of the liquidity coverage potential.

The liquidity situation is monitored at the economic and 
normative level. The DKB Group has implemented various 
limit systems that are linked to the different escalation 
levels for this purpose. The escalation models ensure that 
undesired changes in the liquidity position of the DKB 
Group can be countered early on. In addition, intraday 
liquidity is monitored in accordance with the BCBS-248 key 
figures.
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The basis of the economic liquidity assessment is the 
comparison of the netted future incoming and outgoing 
funds in the capital maturity statement and the liquidity 
coverage potential. Both components together form the 
liquidity progress review. The liquidity coverage potential 
describes the ability of the DKB Group to procure liquid 
funds at the earliest point in time. Core elements are 
liquidation proceeds from securities, central bank money 
potential, cover register potential and irrevocable loan 
commitments received. The free cover register potential is 
taken into account via the loans in the cover pool and their 
capacity to be used as central bank money facilities.

The economic liquidity status is monitored on the basis 
of two standard scenarios within the BayernLB Group 
(management case and planning case) as well as bank-
specific scenarios that take the DKB Group’s risk profile into 
account.

The management case represents a scenario in a slightly 
stressed market and client environment, and considers 
a period of five years. In addition, the expected new 
business is derived from the most recent data history 
and included for the observation period of the next three 
months. The planning case is based on the management 
case. Here, the cash flows of the management case are 
extended to include new business from medium-term 
planning with a planning horizon of five years. The 
management case is calculated daily and the planning 
case monthly.

Taking into account additional leeway, it is the net cash 
flow from the capital maturity statement and the liquidity 
coverage potential that is of significance for the limits of 
the management case, whereby the minimum liquidity 
surplus is measured for multiple periods under consid-
eration. Up to four escalation levels are determined for 
each period under consideration. The planning case is not 
limited.

The bank-specific stress scenarios comprise a market stress 
test that examines the effects of market distortions on the 
DKB Group’s liquidity situation and also takes into account 
the market liquidity risk, as well as the infrastructure client 
stress and the retail client stress. In both cases, fund out-
flows are assumed for these client groups. In the context of 
combined stress scenarios, the simultaneous occurrence of 
bank-specific and market-related events are analysed.

MaRisk specifies the time horizons for a week and a month 
for which liquidatable assets are to be held. Accordingly, 
the liquidity coverage potential is determined, which 
can be liquidated within one week (LDP0) or one month 
(LDP1). To determine the escalation level, the minimum 
liquidity leeway is determined for both time horizons on 
the basis of LDP0 or LDP1. The liquidity leeway is defined 
by how far the liquidity surplus is from the relevant applic
able limit. In addition, the time-to-wall, i.e. the earliest time 
at which the respective liquidity coverage potential is not 
adequate to meet the net payment obligations of the sce-
nario, is determined with reference to LDP0 and LDP1.

The minimum liquidity leeway in the respective horizon 
under consideration is crucial for allocation to an escal
ation level. Besides these quantitative criteria, each mem-
ber of the emergency committee can also declare a higher 
liquidity status, for example if a changed market environ-
ment justifies this in the view of the member.

To manage the quantitative requirements of the liquidity 
coverage ratio (LCR), the DKB Group has a limit system with 
escalation levels, to which recommendations for action 
and responsibilities are linked depending on the forecast 
of liquidity development for the next reporting date and 
the defined limit values for liquidity availability, and which 
is reported to the Board of Management on a monthly 
basis. The Reporting and Regulatory Law unit in the 
Finances division is responsible for monitoring the escal
ation model for regulatory liquidity management (LCR).
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Refinancing sources
The framework conditions for refinancing are set out in 
the DKB Funding Policy and the DKB Refinancing Strat-
egy, which are in line with the corresponding guidelines 
of the BayernLB Group. Based on the DKB Group’s multi-
year planning, Treasury prepares an annual funding plan 
in which the refinancing components of the money and 
capital markets are planned in detail. The liquidity require-
ments in a stress case are also taken into account.

The DKB Group refinances itself primarily from customer 
deposits, the development banking business and the issue 
of capital market products. Customer deposits represent 
more than half of the refinancing base and, due to the 
high number of clients, in particular in the retail clients 
and infrastructure segments, are very granular. Deposits 
increased by EUR 6.4 billion in the reporting period. The 
total volume of client deposits now amounts to EUR 60.8 
billion (31 December 2018: EUR 54.4 billion). This allowed 
DKB’s fundamental strategy, of refinancing the net new 
business in the area of client loans largely with client 
deposits, to be successfully implemented once more. The 
high proportion of deposit business makes the DKB Group 
significantly less sensitive to disruptions on the money and 
capital markets.

In addition to client deposits, subsidies represent another 
important pillar of refinancing. In 2019, new programme 
loans with a volume of EUR 1.6 billion (31 December 2018: 
EUR 1.3 billion) were agreed. Total transit and global loans 
amounted to approximately EUR 12.3 billion at the end of 
2019 (31 December 2018: EUR 12.4 billion).

DKB AG has the option of issuing uncovered bonds and 
Pfandbriefs in a benchmark or private placement format in 
order to raise medium- and long-term refinancing funds. 
In the year under review, Pfandbriefs with a volume of 
EUR 614.8 million were placed. Most of the issuing activity 
was attributable to the issue of the first blue social covered 
bond (Blauer Sozialer Öffentlicher Pfandbrief ) of DKB AG 
with a volume of EUR 500 million. The capital market issues 
have a diversifying effect on the refinancing structure and 
demonstrate access to the capital market at all times. The 
rating agency Moody’s continued to rate DKB AG’s public 
sector and mortgage Pfandbriefs at “Aaa”. The outstanding 
unsecured bonds of DKB AG were rated at “A2”.

If necessary, the interbank money market is used for short-
term refinancing and liquidity management/optimisation.

The nominal value of the securities in the liquidity port
folio decreased to EUR 5.8 billion in the course of the year. 
As a component of the counter-balancing capacity, it 
contributes to increasing the risk resistance in unexpected 
stress situations.

During the reporting year, the DKB Group was able to meet 
all its liabilities by the due dates.
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Development of the risk situation
Due to the refinancing strategy chosen, the greatest risk is 
a massive, sudden outflow of client deposits. In addition, 
there is the risk of having to cover existing future liquidity 
bottlenecks at higher refinancing costs.

DKB AG’s liquidity overview as at 31 December 2019 has 
the following structure in the management case for the 
next 180 days:
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  Liquidity surplus

The strategic liquidity management is carried out with the 
help of a rolling liquidity forecast. The liquidity coverage 
potential covers the liquidity gaps in the capital maturity 
statement at all times. The balance arising from the capital 
maturity statement and the liquidity coverage potential 
is called the liquidity surplus. With the currently prevail-
ing limit system, the lowest liquidity surplus within the 
next 180 days was EUR 9.9 billion as at the reporting date. 
DKB AG thus has sufficient liquidity.

In addition, for several stress scenarios the DKB Group 
takes into account the additional observation period of 
one week and one month for capital-market-oriented 
institutions in accordance with BTR 3.2 MaRisk. Besides 
the effects of a market liquidity crisis, the rapid outflow 
of funds in the important retail client and infrastructure 
segments, as well as combinations of stress events, are 
considered in other scenarios. The minimum liquidity sur-
plus for the next 180 days is EUR 7.7 billion in a worst-case 
scenario (combination of market and retail client stress).
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Operational risks

Risk management and monitoring
Operational risk is managed and monitored both centrally 
in the Non-Financial Risk division and decentrally in the 
individual client service units and central units. The Non-
Financial Risk division is in principle responsible for the 
monitoring of operational risks. In assuming this responsi-
bility, it is supported by the other central units.

In the management of operational risks, the focus is on the 
early identification of these risks in order to minimise as 
far as possible, by means of targeted measures, the losses 
from operational risks that may have a significantly nega-
tive impact on the bank’s business success.

The DKB Group uses various instruments and methods to 
record, measure, analyse and assess the risk situation.

Recording loss data allows loss events to be identified, 
analysed and assessed so that patterns, trends and con-
centrations of operational risks can be identified. Based on 
a defined loss reporting process, loss events with a booked 
and/or estimated gross amount starting at EUR 500 are 
reported by the organisational units of DKB AG and 
DKB Service GmbH to the Non-Financial Risk division and 
recorded in the OpRisk database. Similarly, passive legal 
disputes with a probability of success from 50% and lost 
passive legal disputes must be reported. The subsidiaries 
are also included in the reporting system for recording 
losses. In addition, all subsidiaries must report losses to 
DKB AG on an ad-hoc basis. This ad-hoc reporting obliga-
tion is applicable throughout the Group.

Depending on the significance of the losses incurred, 
measures to avoid, reduce or transfer the risk in the future 
are initiated, taking cost/benefit aspects into account, or 
a deliberate decision to accept the risk is made. When 
determining a management measure, a schedule to imple-
ment the measure is prepared and the implementation is 
monitored by the Non-Financial Risk division.

During the annual OpRisk Self-Assessment (OSA), rare but 
realistic and potentially serious operational risks are deter-
mined and assessed under the coordination of the Non-
Financial Risk division with the various organisational units 
of the bank and the subsidiaries involved in the reporting 
process. Scenarios are selected on the basis of the signifi-
cant risks identified in the OSA. Within the scenario analy-
sis, significant risks are analysed in more detail in order to 
specify and assess risk drivers, internal and external factors 
influencing the probability of occurrence, the extent of 
damage and thus the overall loss distribution. This enables 
more precise control (for example, by implementing fur-
ther measures and/or controls).

In addition to the collection of loss data and the OSA, 
critical risk indicators (key risk indicators) enable early 
statements to be made on trends and accumulations 
in risk development and allow weaknesses in business 
processes to be identified at an early stage and measures 
to be adopted without delay. The key risk indicators in 
the DKB Group are defined, for example, in the respective 
(sub-)risk strategies.

In addition, the bank has instituted a decentralised quality 
management process to avoid losses from process weak-
nesses in the market areas. At the same time, the central 
Organisation division is responsible for the organisation, 
optimisation and management of bank-wide work pro-
cesses in cooperation with the affected organisational 
units of the bank.

When determining legal risks arising due to or in connec-
tion with charges filed against the bank (passive processes), 
the competent legal unit assesses the risk parameters with 
respect to their probability of occurrence as well as any 
potential effects in terms of quantity and quality. Identified 
legal risks are limited and reduced by legal or procedural 
measures or taken into account by means of provisions.

To maintain ongoing operations and the security of 
information and applications, the units of the DKB Group 
have implemented comprehensive protection measures. 
The bank has implemented an Information Security Risk 
Management (ISRM) process to identify and handle infor-
mation security risks. The information security objectives 
and strategic approaches are put into operation by means 
of specific and measurable methods. The success of the 
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measures implemented is reviewed by means of key per-
formance indicators (KPIs). The management and monitor-
ing of IT/information security is performed by the Infor-
mation Security Officer as part of the Information Security 
Management System (ISMS).

In addition, the bank manages its risk of operational 
business continuity in dealing with emergency cases and 
crises via the Business Continuity Management Strategy 
(BCM Strategy), which prescribes core processes and 
measures to continue and restore time-sensitive activities 
and processes of business operations. The BCM strategy 
is regularly reviewed to ensure that it is up to date. In 
addition to the BCM Strategy, emergency plans exist for 
all time-critical processes, which are regularly tested. In 
addition, a crisis management team was appointed by the 
Board of Management, which is authorised to act in emer-
gencies and crises. The crisis team is set up for an indefinite 
period and consists of heads of central DKB AG divisions 
and two managing directors of DKB Service. The Board of 
Management bears overall responsibility for DKB’s BCM, in 
compliance with Group-wide requirements.

The results of this method are fed into the calculation of 
the amount of risk capital requirement for operational 
risks. The economic risk capital is calculated using an 
OpVaR model. The limits for the risk capital are calculated 
as part of the annual risk capital allocation process.

From the risk reports it receives, the Board of Manage-
ment obtains an overview of the level of losses incurred, 
observed accumulations as well as the development of 
OpRisk-relevant indicators on an ongoing basis, ensuring 
timely and effective management of the operational risks. 
In addition, the DKB Group is included in the Group-wide 
risk management system and therefore in the reporting 
process of the BayernLB Group. Accordingly, if defined 
reporting limits have been exceeded, losses are reported 
to BayernLB on a regular or ad-hoc basis. 

Development of the risk situation
The risk profile is characterised by the Internet-based 
processes in the retail clients segment. In the first instance, 
operational risks exist in terms of system availability for 
seamless settlement of all transactions, disruption of the 
bank’s client access due to external influences, the secur
ity of data from unauthorised access, account opening 
or credit fraud with falsified documents and fraud with 
electronic payment means. In addition to direct financial 
losses, the occurrence of such risks can also result in a 
change in the public perception of DKB AG and thus lead 
to reputational risks. These can have an indirect negative 
impact on the liquidity situation (withdrawal of deposits) 
and the continued achievement of the business objectives 
of DKB (acquisition of new clients). 

At the beginning of January 2020, there was a prolonged 
disruption to system availability. This disruption was trig-
gered by a third-party attack on DKB’s service provider for 
its servers. This temporarily compromised or disrupted the 
availability of DKB’s website and client access to Internet 
banking. Measures to remedy these issues were initiated 
shortly after they were identified. In a parallel process, the 
possible effects on the reputation and liquidity situation 
of DKB AG were analysed. No negative effects have been 
observed to date. 

The losses incurred in 2019 due to operational risks, after 
implementation of measures to reduce losses, decreased 
significantly compared to the previous year and, as at 
the reporting date, amounted to around EUR 8.4 million 
(31 December 2018: EUR 15.0 million). 
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Internal control system in relation  
to the accounting process

Objectives and organisation
As the legal representative of DKB AG, the Board as a 
whole is, pursuant to Section 264 HGB in conjunction with 
Section 242 HGB, responsible for preparing the annual 
financial statements and management report of DKB AG 
and, pursuant to Section 290 HGB, the consolidated 
financial statements and Group management report of 
the DKB Group. The Board as a whole bears responsibility 
for the structure, i.e. the design, implementation, main-
tenance and monitoring of an appropriate and effective 
internal control and risk management system with respect 
to the accounting process. On the recommendation of the 
CFO, the full Board of Management decides on all strate-
gies and key issues. 

An internal control and risk management system relevant 
for the accounting process, however, cannot give abso-
lute certainty as to whether the related objectives will be 
achieved. As with all discretionary decisions, those relating 
to the establishment of appropriate systems may, in prin-
ciple, be flawed due to errors, misconceptions, changes in 
environmental variables or unlawful circumventions. Due 
to these limits, incorrect statements in the financial state-
ments may not be discovered or prevented with absolute 
certainty.

Our internal control and risk management system with 
respect to the accounting process reflects the organisa-
tional structures and workflows. While the management 
accounting is decentralised with respect to the recording 
of business transactions, the bookings relating to the 
annual financial statements and the preparation of the 
financial statements and consolidated financial statements 
are exclusively the responsibility of the Finance division. 
With respect to the organisational structure, there is a clear 
separation of the activities relating to execution, booking 
and administration. Furthermore, there are clear respon-
sibility structures, function allocations and separations of 
the divisions and employees involved in the accounting 
process. The measures for the organisational structure 
comprise the regulations internal to DKB as well as sub-
sidiaries. The supervisory committees of the major Group 
companies largely have the same members, which ensures 
uniform management.

In addition to largely standardised processes and software, 
adequate instructions for core activities and processes 
are set out in our organisational structure. In addition, the 
“two pairs of eyes” principle is obligatory for large business 
transactions. 

The Finance division is responsible for the proper exe-
cution of accounting as well as the establishment and 
effectiveness of the accounting process. The major tasks 
in this respect include the preparation of the financial 
statements and consolidated financial statements, as well 
as the management report and consolidated management 
report, the development of accounting policies and the 
initiation of projects relating to the accounting processes. 
The Finance division is also responsible for implementing 
the relevant accounting standards and the legal account-
ing requirements as embodied in the accounting direc-
tives. These directives, which are an important component 
of the accounting-based internal control system, consist 
of the (Group) accounting manual, rules of procedure and 
work instructions, team manuals, as well as specialised 
and product concepts. The annual financial statements 
and consolidated financial statements and the manage-
ment and consolidated management report prepared on 
the basis of the accounting directives are prepared by the 
Board as a whole, audited by the auditor and submitted 
to the Supervisory Board for adoption and approval. The 
Supervisory Board has formed an Audit Committee that is 
responsible for discussing the audit reports and making 
preparations for the Supervisory Board’s decision to adopt 
or approve the annual financial statements, consolidated 
financial statements, management report and consoli-
dated management report. The Audit Committee is also 
responsible for monitoring the accounting process and 
the effectiveness of the internal control, audit and risk 
management system. The auditor participates in the 
Supervisory Board’s accounts review meeting and reports 
on the significant results of the audit, in particular material 
weaknesses in the internal control and risk management 
system in relation to the accounting process.

The internal audit department audits the entire business 
operations and thus also our internal control system 
relating to the accounting process. The internal audit 
department reports to the Chair of the Board of Manage-
ment. The audit activity is based on a risk-oriented audit 
approach and comprises all the relevant activities and 
processes of DKB, including the outsourced activities. 



76 | DKB Annual Report 2019 | Report on risks and opportunities

It includes a review of the effectiveness and appropriate-
ness of the internal control system and risk management. 
Internal audit carries out its task independently of the 
activities, processes and functions to be audited, taking 
into account the relevant applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements. In order to be able to carry out its duties, 
internal audit has a full and unrestricted right to informa-
tion on activities, processes and the IT systems.

Control environment and control procedures
All the risk management regulations and rules relevant 
to the accounting-related internal control system are 
reviewed and updated on a regular basis. 

We have implemented a number of controls to ensure 
complete and correct processing of business transactions, 
including proper booking, data input and documentation. 
In particular, these include clear segregation of functions, 
a differentiated access and authorisation concept, and 
ongoing controls in terms of the workflow, taking into 
account the “two pairs of eyes” principle as well system- 
based controls within the IT systems employed. As part of 
the internal controls, the focus is mainly on coordinating 
the general and subsidiary ledgers, monitoring manual 
bookings as well as executing booking runs. This process 
is supplemented by additional controls and coordination 
to ensure appropriate transfer of the data between various 
IT systems. In the course of preparing the financial state-
ments, the technically correct recognition of the under-

lying facts is checked by means of the “two pairs of eyes” 
principle, and quality assurance measures with respect to 
the data and information included in the annual financial 
statements and consolidated financial statements and in 
the management report and consolidated management 
report are carried out. The data of the Group companies 
included in the consolidated financial statements is 
reported in a uniform, standardised schedule of items 
using consolidation software implemented throughout the 
Group. The approval of the audited subsidiaries’ figures by 
the appointed auditors is also carried out in the consolida-
tion software.

Our accounting process is subject to regular controls with 
respect to inherent risks in order to be able to initiate rele-
vant measures for the further development of the internal 
control system. 

We have outsourced part of our services, mainly IT services, 
services relating to securities settlements and the credit 
card business, to external companies. The integration of 
the outsourced areas into our accounting-relevant internal 
control system is largely ensured by the outsourcing 
officers, who are responsible for the ongoing monitoring 
of the respective external service provider. Besides the 
internal audit departments of the outsourced companies, 
the outsourcing measures are audited by the internal audit 
unit of DKB AG at regular intervals.
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Opportunities report

Opportunities profile and opportunities 
management

We regard opportunities as being positive deviations from 
our plans in terms of strategy and market development. 
Strategic opportunities for the company arise in connec-
tion with the implementation of measures initiated in line 
with our strategy. The effects realised via these measures 
can be more extensive or occur sooner than expected in 
our planning. 

Market opportunities arise with market developments that 
occur more strongly than expected in our favour irrespec-
tive of strategic decisions. These can arise due to regula-
tory amendments, particularly favourable developments 
on the (financial) markets or from positive business trends 
that arise at short notice.

The management of opportunities is linked 
to company management

We integrate the topic of developing opportunities 
directly into our strategic corporate plan. As part of our 
forward-looking management, the Board of Management 
and the business units directly assigned to it regularly 
analyse short-, medium- and long-term market develop-
ments. They identify trends and devise possible develop-
ment scenarios based on facts.

An important factor for deciding which resources will be 
made available for the development of additional poten-
tial in the respective segments is their expected effect on 
results and our estimate of their probability of occurrence.

We continually adapt our assessment of the opportunities 
by continuously observing the markets and trends, as 
well as through established feedback processes. The high 
degree of timeliness in the evaluations allows quick reac-
tions to short-term events and developments.
 

Current opportunities situation

The macroeconomic circumstances may develop better 
than expected: low interest rates and greater trust from 
consumers and market participants could result in a signifi-
cant upturn. In the retail clients business, rising consumer 
trust could result in increased demand for consumer credit 
and an increase in the achievable margins in the retail 
clients segment. A broad-based upturn would stimulate 
companies’ investment activities and create a correspond-
ing demand for loans in the infrastructure and corporate
clients segments. This could lead to an unexpectedly sharp 
increase in our interest income.

The money and capital market environment could develop 
more advantageously than assumed. If the ECB withdraws 
from the purchase programmes, this could result in a rise 
in the interest rate curve in capital market interest rates, 
with the ECB raising the short-term base interest rate more 
slowly in comparison. Assuming a constant demand for 
loans, this configuration could result in higher margins for 
long-term loans with the costs for the more short-term 
refinancing products increasing less rapidly in comparison. 
This would result in an increase in our net interest income.

Due to the continuing sluggish economic development in 
Europe and the volatile performance of commodity prices, 
the probability of occurrence for the aforementioned 
two opportunities scenarios is regarded as low. However, 
should they occur, we will be in a position to take advan-
tage of them.

Rising interest rates could lead to an increase in demand 
for financing on the part of companies in the short term 
and thus generate increased demand for credit in the 
infrastructure and corporate clients segments. This could 
result in an increase in income from the credit business. We 
consider the probability of realising this opportunity to be 
moderate.
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The trend of competitors introducing or raising account 
management fees could develop more strongly. This 
would result in a sharp increase in the number of people 
switching their accounts from traditional branch banking 
to online banking. Given the above, the number of new 
clients in the retail clients segment could develop particu
larly favourably. We consider the likelihood of this to be 
high, but are prepared for a possible increase in new client 
applications.

The advancing digitisation offers opportunities for 
increasing efficiency. In business with retail clients, mobile 
banking and mobile payment as well as the use of artificial 
intelligence will continue to gain in importance. 

The increase in new market participants such as fintechs 
and financial service providers helped by digitisation offers 
the opportunity for cooperations in order to deploy highly 
technical, innovative solutions and new technologies 
and thus improve our market position. We are suitably 
positioned to take advantage of these opportunities. 

We plan to draw efficiency gains from the continuing 
digitisation of our processes in the medium term. These 
could occur earlier than expected, in particular in the digi-
tisation of our lending process, which simplifies the work 
processes and frees up capacities for other activities. This 
could have either a positive or moderating effect on our 
administrative expense. We believe that there is a moder-
ate chance of efficiency gains occurring at an earlier stage.

In the course of the increasing sustainable focus of market 
participants, investor interest in sustainable financial offers 
could increase sharply. Based on our excellent reputation 
in this field, which has been further strengthened by the 
issuance of two green bonds, a social bond, a retail social 
bond and a blue social bond in 2019, demand for our 
services could grow at a higher rate than expected. In 
addition, there are numerous European and international 
initiatives for the political and regulatory promotion 
of sustainable business models. Examples include the 
EU Commission’s High-Level Expert Group on Sustain-
able Finance (HLEG), which published its sustainability 
taxonomy in 2019, and the Task Force for Climate-related 
Financial Disclosures (TCFD), which, within the frame-
work of the Financial Stability Board, has made extensive 
suggestions for the further development of transparency 
regulations. Should these proposals lead to concrete 
political or regulatory measures to support sustainable 
lending business, this could be advantageous for us. The 
probability of this scenario occurring is considered to be 
moderate. However, should the opportunities arise, we will 
be in a position to take advantage of them. 

In addition, there could be an unexpected short-term 
boost from the regulatory environment: pending regu-
latory changes could result in lower equity than planned 
and result in more financial leeway. At present, we regard 
the probability of this scenario to be very low.
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Report on expected 
developments
 

Expected developments in  
the business environment

Global problem areas such as the trade war between 
China and the USA, Brexit and the escalation of the conflict 
between the United States and Iran, which has been 
underway since the beginning of 2020, are further cloud-
ing the outlook for the global economy. Economic experts 
from the OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation 
and Development) therefore expect the economy to 
remain relatively moderate in 2020.

In Germany itself, the Federal Ministry of Economics and 
Energy forecasts that private consumer spending will fall 
by 0.3% if the unemployment rate remains unchanged.

ECB maintains its low interest rate policy
The ECB presented a catalogue of measures as early as 
September 2019, thereby pursuing the goal of continuing 
a highly expansive monetary policy for a longer period of 
time and thereby raising the inflation rate. In view of the 
widely differing interest rate trends – both within the  
euro area and in comparison with Europe and the USA – 
we continue to expect volatile bond and stock markets. 

Inflation rate to temporarily fall slightly 
According to the Bundesbank’s forecast, the inflation rate 
is expected to fall a little further in 2020. The reason for this 
is falling energy prices. The core inflation rate (excluding 
energy and food) will maintain the current level and is 
expected to rise slightly in 2022 due to the overall robust 
wage growth, rising import prices and recovering profit 
margins. 

 
The headline inflation rate could initially fall slightly in 
2020 for a short time. Against the background of the 
German government’s climate package, a significant 
increase in the inflation rate in Germany is expected from 
2021 onwards. 

The real estate market remains under pressure. The 
prices for owner-occupied apartments and detached and 
semi-detached houses are expected to continue to rise. 
The low interest rate environment favours this upward 
trend. In terms of rents, the situation has recently calmed 
down somewhat, with new-contract rents, at least, stag-
nating or even falling slightly, partly due to rent control. 
Nevertheless, tenants today pay on average almost 20% 
more rent than ten years ago. 

Expected development of the banking market
In the banking environment, further consolidation is 
expected, as well as an increased introduction or increase 
in fees. Neobanks are expected to continue to show con-
siderable growth momentum and big-techs will increas-
ingly penetrate the banking business. Nevertheless, these 
business relationships must also be profitable. 

A differentiator for acquiring new clients on the market 
can be achieved by innovative product design and the 
integration of third-party providers with innovative prod-
ucts and services. Added to this is the constant trend 
towards climate-conscious and sustainable action, which 
is further increased by movements such as “Fridays for 
Future”. Against this background, sustainable financial 
products will play an increasingly important role. Policy 
makers, regulators and supervisors have long recognised 
that climate change entails significant financial risks and 
that the financial sector therefore plays an important role 
in achieving the objectives of the Paris Climate Convention. 
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For example, the EU Commission published new guidelines 
for reporting climate-related corporate information as part 
of its Sustainable Finance Programme 2019. These guide-
lines provide investors and financiers with information 
on how sustainable their investments are. We therefore 
believe that the demand for green bonds and sustainable 
investments will increase significantly in years to come. In 
this context, our sustainable orientation and the increased 
communications focus in this regard create growth poten-
tial that can be effectively exploited. 

Consumers increasingly prefer contactless and mobile 
payment methods. The momentum in the payment 
transactions market will continue to grow in the future, 
driven by the introduction of mobile payment solutions 
by most financial institutions and savings banks. Despite 
the increasing importance of non-cash means of payment, 
consumers want to be able to continue to pay with cash in 
the future. 

As in previous years, there are numerous factors that make 
it difficult to assess further economic development. For 
this reason, the following statements on the expected 
development of the Group are made under the proviso 
that the underlying political and economic conditions do 
not change significantly.

Brexit
In June 2016, the United Kingdom decided to withdraw 
from the European Union in a referendum (Brexit). The 
withdrawal process was subsequently initiated and on 
31 January 2020 the United Kingdom withdrew from 
the European Union. What the cooperation between the 
United Kingdom and the EU will look like in the future has 
yet to be negotiated. The aim is to conclude a comprehen-
sive trade and partnership agreement by the end of 2020. 
Until then, the United Kingdom will remain in the EU single 
market and customs union during a transition phase until 
the end of 2020. If no agreement is reached by the end of 
the year, there would still be a “no-deal Brexit”. 

We have considered the effects of a possible no-deal Brexit 
and see only a minor impact on our risk and earnings 
position, primarily due to our business activities being 
focused on Germany. In addition, we are focusing on 
non-cyclical and sustainable target industries and also 
have a highly diversified loan portfolio, which also reduces 
the impact of a disorderly Brexit.
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Expected growth  
within the Group
 
 
DKB Group Actual 2019 Forecast 2020

Net interest income 
 
 
 

EUR 950.5 million 
 
 
 

At the level of 2019 
We expect net interest income to remain at the level  

of 2019. The fundamentally positive development due  
to growth in the market segments is offset by burdens  

from the ongoing low interest phase.

Risk result  
 

–EUR 55.9 million 
 

Significantly higher than 2019 
In view of the moderate economic outlook, we expect a risk 

result of between –EUR 80 million and –EUR 100 million.

Profit/loss before taxes  
 
 
 

EUR 297.8 million 
 
 
 

Reduction due to investments 
We anticipate stable earnings in the client business. Mainly 

due to further investments in digitisation and improve-
ments of internal processes, earnings before taxes are 

expected to be up to EUR 100 million below that of 2019.

Total assets 
 

EUR 83.8 billion 
 

Growth at the level of 2019 
Based on the growth we are planning in the market segments, 

we anticipate an increase of a similar magnitude to 2019.

ROE 
 

9.5% 
 

Between 6% and 7% 
In line with the development of earnings,  

we expect a reduction in ROE.

CIR 56.7% Increase of 5 to 10 percentage points 
The investments have a positive effect on the CIR.

DKB AG Actual 2019 Forecast 2020

Net profit before profit transfer EUR 230.7 million We expect a significantly lower net profit  
before profit transfer compared to 2019.
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Expected developments  
in the segments

Segments Actual 2019 Forecast 2020

Retail clients  
 

New clients: 443,000 
Receivables volume:  

EUR 12.8 billion

New clients: more than 450,000 
 Receivables volume:  

Growth of approx. EUR 2 billion

Infrastructure  Receivables volume:  
EUR 43.0 billion

Receivables volume:  
Growth of approx. EUR 2 billion

Corporate clients  Receivables volume:  
EUR 13.5 billion

Receivables volume:  
slightly above 2019

Deposit volumes in the 
client segments

 
EUR 57.2 billion

 
In line with the growth in receivables

Retail clients segment:  
focus on client needs

In the retail clients segment, we will continue to consis-
tently align our Strategy 2020 with client needs. The aim is 
to maintain our receivables volume at the previous year’s 
level, while we expect a continuous increase in the deposit 
volume, in line with the market and interest rate environ-
ment. 

We are investing an additional EUR 400 million over the 
next few years to accelerate our growth and transform
ation into a tech bank. Within the new overall Group 
strategy of Bayerische Landesbank, which is designed to 
run for five years, DKB is to continue to be a key growth 
driver for the Group as a whole and significantly expand its 
market position in Germany. In doing so, we aim to double 
our client base and invest in the necessary further devel-
opments at market and organisational level. Investments 
will be made primarily in core products, scalability and 
automation in order to achieve future growth targets. 

We anticipate that primary growth via our anchor product 
DKB-Cash will accelerate in the coming year. As part of our 
digitisation strategy, we also plan to implement new cus-
tomer added value in the area of credit cards and payment. 

 
In the product areas of personal loans and mortgage 
lending, the application process will be considerably 
simplified, adapted even more specifically to client needs 
and digitally accelerated. 

In addition, the successful issues of sustainable bonds 
and funds for retail clients have encouraged us to continue 
along this path and to push ahead with the expansion 
of the securities business in 2020. We will also continue 
to digitise the broker process in order to optimise the 
customer experience in the long term.

Mobile banking will have a modern, flexible user interface 
and the user guidance will be more intuitive. In order to 
make innovative products available more quickly in the 
future, we will develop a central technical interface (API) 
for third-party services in 2020 to significantly simplify the 
linking of third-party providers. The aim is to create clear 
added value for our clients through a versatile and digital 
product experience.

In addition to investing in technology and products, we 
will start to make our customer service fit for the future in 
2020 and further improve it in terms of process quality and 
infrastructure.
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Infrastructure segment:  
favourable underlying conditions

On the basis of our business model, we anticipate that the 
conditions for the lending business in the infrastructure 
segment will remain favourable in 2020. We especially 
see growth potential in the old federal states, and antici-
pate high investment activity in housing construction in 
particular. Due to the subdued economic and interest rate 
forecasts, many public-sector budgets are caught between 
the “debt brake” and the “ideal interest rate environment”. 

Overall, however, the market remains highly competitive, 
a situation that is being further accelerated by digitisation 
and the further establishment of the platform business. On 
our way to becoming a tech bank, we are working in par-
ticular on the digitisation of internal processes to increase 
efficiency and quality. 

The interest rate situation, economic development and 
public investment will remain key factors in 2020 and will 
influence our business development in the infrastructure 
sector.

We continue to expect a positive environment with growth 
potential in the local authorities and social infrastructure 
client groups. The expansion of the public and social infra-
structure will continue to be driven forward by both local 
authorities and social economy organisations. Neverthe-
less, due to their different financial resources, which vary 
from region to region, local authorities will not all be able 
to invest equally strongly in infrastructure measures. 

Digitisation and its implementation, along with the 
creation of sufficient living space, will be one of the key 
challenges facing local authorities and the social economy. 
Digital platforms will also play an important role here. 
Thanks to our stake in Loanboox, we are well prepared to 
respond to the needs of this client group. 

The shortage of skilled workers in the health and educa-
tion sectors continues to increase. The competition for 
qualified specialists will continue to intensify. The problem 
is likely to become even more acute in rural regions in 
particular. 

In the energy and utilities segment, we continue to expect 
stable, low-risk development in the industry. The invest-
ment requirements of target clients to ensure the stability 
of supply and waste disposal remain very high. Against this 
backdrop, we expect to see a larger volume of new lending 
business, particularly as a result of greater market penetra-
tion in the old federal states. Our aim is to compensate for 
the high repayments expected. 

Due to the continuing high demand for real estate and 
new residential construction, which is being driven by 
politics and the current interest rate situation, we believe 
that the development of this area will be positive in 2020. 
Demographic change and internal migration are driving 
the need for new construction in the metropolitan areas 
and needs-based adjustments to existing housing. The 
effects of regulatory market interventions, such as the rent 
cap, among others, remain to be seen.

However, liquidity surpluses in the financial market also 
fuel competition, in which companies outside the bank-
ing sector also participate. As fewer and fewer properties 
are available in so-called A locations, a continued shift to 
properties in B and C locations is expected.

Due to the ECB’s continued low interest rate policy, our 
client group of administrators will continue to find them-
selves in a liquid market environment in which a lot of 
capital flows into real estate. However, the issues of rent 
control, rent caps and property taxes will influence the 
further development of this segment. It also remains 
to be seen whether the federal government’s efforts to 
facilitate access to home ownership through financial 
incentives such as the child allowance for families building 
a house, housing construction subsidies and guarantee 
programmes will have a positive impact on the number of 
owner-occupied dwellings in the future. 

In addition, digitisation, energy system transformation  
and e-mobility remain important issues for the property 
management industry.

In the area of civic participation, we expect an increas-
ing number of enquiries for civic participation products 
and solutions in the future. “Fridays for Future” and other 
movements interpret climate change as a human task of 
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future importance, with renewable energies as a key tool 
for coping with it. In this context, the protagonists are also 
confronting the banks with clear expectations with regard 
to the financing and support of renewable energy projects. 
The implementation of climate protection projects 
presupposes acceptance by the population, which can be 
achieved or strengthened through public participation. 
With the DKB-Crowd investment platform, the projects, 
which are often initially purely regionally rooted, are also 
addressed more broadly and more in-depth and thus 
made accessible to a larger population of individuals (the 
“crowd”).

Corporate clients segment:  
business development

In the field of environmental technology, the overall pros-
pects for 2020 are good, due to an ongoing commitment 
to climate change. For wind energy, we hope – as does 
the entire original wind energy industry – for urgently 
needed positive impetus from politicians, but this is 
unlikely to have any impact for 2020. The slightly positive 
development in photovoltaic projects will also continue 
in 2020. In particular, larger projects outside the scope of 
the EEG funding will continue to boost the market. We 
would like to take advantage of the resulting financing 
opportunities as well as of the continuing high demand 
for medium-sized and smaller plants.

Based on discussions and analyses already conducted 
in 2019, a noticeable increase in business volume is also 
expected in the still-emerging financing segment of 
energy solutions. Demand is expected to grow signifi-
cantly, particularly for financing solutions for energy con-
tracting measures, investments in charging infrastructure 
and power-to-X projects. 

We expect the business volume in the food and agriculture 
segment to increase overall. In the agriculture segment, 
we anticipate that the general reluctance to invest due to 
structural causes will remain unchanged. The increase in 
our brand awareness, especially in the old federal states, is 
to be further promoted with digital services. As a result, we 
expect the market share to grow and the volume of busi-
ness to increase on a continuous basis. In the food industry 
segment, too, we anticipate growth in the credit volume as 
a result of greater market penetration. 

We will intensify our activities in the tourism segment in 
the city hotel sector at secondary locations in the com-
ing year. We expect the positive framework conditions to 
remain constant. Together with the expansion of tourist 
destinations, we expect a further year-on-year increase in 
the contribution to growth in the corporate client segment 
in 2020.
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Financial markets segment:  
focus on proven methods

We will continue to pursue our proven refinancing strat-
egy in the future. To expand our liquidity reserve, we are 
concentrating on a portfolio of highly liquid bonds from 
issuers with strong credit ratings. We will continue to focus 
increasingly on sustainable bonds in the future. 

The attractiveness of programme loans will depend on 
providing effective support even in a negative interest rate 
environment. With regard to the implementation of the 
climate change resolutions of the German federal govern-
ment, product changes in KfW’s energy efficiency products 
are expected at the beginning of 2020, thus stabilising the 
demand for programme loans in this product family.

Other segment

We will further reduce the now extremely low level of non-
core business activities in an orderly manner in the coming 
financial year.

DKB Service GmbH will continue its activities in 2020 in line 
with its task profile for the DKB Group. Our focus continues 
to be on automating and digitising key processes.

Conclusion

Overall, we expect good business development in the 
three market segments of retail clients, infrastructure 
and corporate clients, which will enable us to keep our 
earnings stable despite the persistently low interest rates 
(before planned investments).

With net interest income at the previous year’s level, we 
expect net income for the year to be up to EUR 100 million 
lower than in 2019, primarily due to our further invest-
ments in digitisation and the improvement of internal 
processes.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019

Income statement

EUR millions Notes 01/01–31/12/2019

Interest from financial instruments calculated using the effective interest method	  953.2

Interest income  1,613.8

Positive interest expenses  7.5

Interest expenses1  – 618.9

Negative interest income1  – 49.2

Other interest  –2.7

Interest income  5.6

Positive interest expenses  0.0

Interest expenses  –8.0

Negative interest income1  –0.2

Net interest income (28) 950.5

Risk provisions result  – 63.7

Result from the disposal of AAC-category financial instruments  7.8

Risk result (29) –55.9

Net interest income after risk result  894.6

Commission income  272.1

Commission expenses  –306.5

Net commission income (30) –34.5

Gains or losses on fair value measurement (31) 49.7

Gains or losses on hedging transactions (hedge accounting)1 (54) –4.4

Gains or losses on financial investments (32) 0.1

Administrative expenses (33) –541.4

Expenses from bank levies, deposit guarantee scheme and banking supervision (34) –51.8

Other income and expenses (35) –14.5

Gains or losses on restructuring  –

Profit/loss before taxes  297.8

Income taxes  0.1

Consolidated profit/loss  297.9

attributable to DKB AG owners  297.9

Profit transferred to controlling shareholders  –230.7

Profit brought forward  18.3

Withdrawals from retained earnings  0.0

Transfer to retained earnings  –0.5

Consolidated net retained profits/net accumulated losses  85.0

1 Adjustment of previous year’s figure due to change in presentation (Notes (2))
For mathematical reasons, rounding differences of ± one unit may arise in the tables.

Income statement
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Reconciliation of comprehensive income for the period

EUR millions 01/01–31/12/2019

Consolidated profit/loss 297.9

Temporary components of other comprehensive income not recognised in profit or loss  

Changes in the revaluation surplus from FVOCIM financial instruments 28.6

Change in measurement 31.4

Change in portfolio due to realisation of profit or loss –2.8

Change in deferred taxes –

Components of other comprehensive income permanently not recognised in profit or loss  

Changes from the revaluation of defined-benefit pension plans –9.5

Change in measurement –9.5

Other comprehensive income 19.1

Total comprehensive income 317.0

attributable to DKB AG owners 317.0

For mathematical reasons, rounding differences of ± one unit may arise in the tables.		
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018

Income statement

EUR millions Notes 01/01–31/12/2018

Interest from financial instruments calculated using the effective interest method	  950.1

Interest income  1,712.4

Positive interest expenses  6.7

Interest expenses1  –729.0

Negative interest income1  – 40.0

Other interest  –5.0

Interest income  3.4

Positive interest expenses  0.0

Interest expenses  –8.0

Negative interest income1  –0.4

Net interest income (28) 945.1

Risk provisions result  –104.8

Result from the disposal of AAC-category financial instruments  –7.0

Risk result (29) –111.8

Net interest income after risk result  833.3

Commission income  257.2

Commission expenses  –290.9

Net commission income (30) –33.7

Gains or losses on fair value measurement (31) 2.8

Gains or losses on hedging transactions (hedge accounting)1 (54) –11.9

Gains or losses on financial investments (32) 0.4

Administrative expenses (33) –474.7

Expenses from bank levies, deposit guarantee scheme and banking supervision (34) –40.3

Other income and expenses (35) 25.2

Gains or losses on restructuring  0.0

Profit/loss before taxes  301.2

Income taxes  –0.1

Consolidated profit/loss  301.1

attributable to DKB AG owners  301.1

Profit transferred to controlling shareholders  –95.1

Profit brought forward  17.5

Withdrawals from retained earnings  0.0

Transfer to retained earnings  –0.5

Consolidated net retained profits/net accumulated losses  223.0

1 Adjustment of previous year’s figure due to change in presentation (Notes (2))
For mathematical reasons, rounding differences of ± one unit may arise in the tables.
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Reconciliation of comprehensive income for the period

EUR millions 01/01–31/12/2018

Consolidated profit/loss 301.1

Temporary components of other comprehensive income not recognised in profit or loss  

Changes in the revaluation surplus from FVOCIM financial instruments –21.3

Change in measurement –19.3

Change in portfolio due to realisation of profit or loss –2.4

Change in deferred taxes 0.4

Components of other comprehensive income permanently not recognised in profit or loss  

Changes from the revaluation of defined-benefit pension plans –1.3

Change in measurement –1.3

Other comprehensive income –22.6

Total comprehensive income 278.5

attributable to DKB AG owners 278.5

For mathematical reasons, rounding differences of ± one unit may arise in the tables.		
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Consolidated balance sheet
As of 31 December 2019 

Assets

EUR millions Notes 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Cash reserves (7/36) 4,432.5 1,046.2

Loans and advances to banks (8/37) 2,610.2 3,687.8

Loans and advances to clients (8/38) 69,526.3 65,932.5

Risk provisions (9/39) –410.0 –420.7

Portfolio hedge adjustment assets (10) 765.4 407.1

Assets held for trading (11/40) 9.8 3.2

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments  
(hedge accounting) (12) – 0.0

Financial investments (13/41) 6,196.4 6,362.3

Property, plant and equipment (15) 197.7 54.1

Intangible assets (16) 34.4 14.4

Current income tax assets (26) 0.0 1.6

Other assets (17) 391.9 299.1

Total assets  83,754.4 77,387.6

For mathematical reasons, rounding differences of ± one unit may arise in the tables.					   
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Liabilities

EUR millions Notes 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Liabilities to banks (18/42) 13,101.7 13,813.3

Liabilities to clients (18/43) 60,766.5 54,366.1

Securitised liabilities (18/44) 4,844.8 4,622.3

Trading liabilities (19/45) 7.5 1.2

Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments  
(hedge accounting) (20) 26.0 17.0

Provisions (21/46) 211.4 180.4

Current income tax liabilities (26) – 0.6

Other liabilities (22) 490.8 264.5

Subordinated capital (23/47) 879.0 781.7

Equity (48) 3,426.7 3,340.4

Equity excluding non-controlling interests  3,426.7 3,340.4

Subscribed capital  339.3 339.3

Capital surplus  1,414.4 1,414.4

Retained earnings  1,499.5 1,303.8

Revaluation surplus  88.5 59.9

Consolidated net retained profits/net accumulated losses  85.0 223.0

Total liabilities  83,754.4 77,387.6

For mathematical reasons, rounding differences of ± one unit may arise in the tables.					   
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
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As at 31 Dec. 2017 339.3 0.0 1,414.4 1,093.4 133.5 274.9 3,255.5 0.0 3,255.5

IFRS 9 first-time application effect    –46.2 –52.2  –98.4  –98.4

As at 01 Jan. 2018 339.3 0.0 1,414.4 1,047.2 81.3 274.9 3,157.1 0.0 3,157.1

Changes in the revaluation surplus     –21.4  –21.4  –21.4

Changes from the revaluation of defined-benefit 
pension plans    –1.3   –1.3  –1.3

Other comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.0 –1.3 –21.4 0.0 –22.7 0.0 –22.7

Consolidated profit/loss      301.1 301.1  301.1

Total consolidated profit/loss 0.0 0.0 0.0 –1.3 –21.4 301.1 278.4 0.0 278.4

Capital increases/capital reductions       0.0  0.0

Changes in the scope of consolidation and  
other changes       0.0  0.0

Transfers into/removals from reserves    257.9  –257.9 0.0  0.0

Transferred profit      –95.1 –95.1  –95.1

Distribution       0.0  0.0

As at 31 Dec. 2018 339.3 0.0 1,414.4 1,303.8 59.9 223.0 3,340.4 0.0 3,340.4

Changes in the revaluation surplus     28.6  28.6  28.6

Changes from the revaluation of defined-benefit 
pension plans    –9.5   –9.5  –9.5

Other comprehensive income 0.0 0.0 0.0 –9.5 28.6 0.0 19.1 0.0 19.1

Consolidated profit/loss      297.9 297.9  297.9

Total consolidated profit/loss 0.0 0.0 0.0 –9.5 28.6 297.9 317.0 0.0 317.0

Capital increases/capital reductions       0.0  0.0

Changes in the scope of consolidation and  
other changes       0.0  0.0

Transfers into/removals from reserves    205.2  –205.2 0.0  0.0

Transferred profit      –230.7 –230.7  –230.7

Distribution       0.0  0.0

As at 31 Dec. 2019 339.3 0.0 1,414.4 1,499.5 88.5 85.0 3,426.7 0.0 3,426.7
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Consolidated cash flow statement
  

EUR millions 2019 2018 

Consolidated annual result 297.9 301.1

Non-cash items included in the annual result and reconciliation to cash flow  
from operating activities   

Depreciation, allowances and attributions on/to receivables, property, plant and  
equipment, and financial investments 110.2 115.0

Changes to provisions 43.6 19.0

Changes to other non-cash items 46.2 44.8

Result from the sale of financial investments and property, plant and equipment 0.2 –0.8

Other adjustments (on balance) –950.5 –976.6

Subtotal –452.3 –497.5

Change in assets and liabilities from operating activities after correction  
for non-cash components   

Loans and advances to banks 1,077.4 912.4

Loans and advances to clients –3,701.8 –1,572.1

Securities (insofar as these are not financial investments) 235.1 –355.3

Other assets from operating activities –97.5 –61.8

Liabilities to banks –700.8 –555.4

Liabilities to clients 6,406.9 443.2

Securitised liabilities 222.6 –98.8

Other liabilities from operating activities –532.1 –1.3

Interest and dividends received 1,641.8 1,784.1

Interest paid –667.3 –767.6

Income tax payments 0.0 –0.1

Cash flow from operating activities 3,432.0 –770.2

 



EUR millions 2019 2018

Payments received from the sale of financial investments – 1.3

Payments received from the sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 0.0 0.1

Payments made for the acquisition of financial investments –5.5 –3.2

Payments made for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and  
intangible assets –40.3 –21.6

Effects from the change in the group of consolidated companies   

Payments received from the sale of subsidiaries and other business units – –

Payments made for the acquisition of subsidiaries and other business units – –

Change in cash from other investment activities (on balance) – –

Cash flow from investing activities –45.7 –23.4

Payments received from contributions to equity – –

Payments made for reductions in equity – –

Payments made to shareholders and non-controlling interests –93.8 –

Change in cash from other capital (on balance) 93.8 97.0

Cash flow from financing activities 0.0 97.0

Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the previous period 1,046.2 1,742.8

Cash flow from operating activities 3,432.0 –770.2

Cash flow from investing activities –45.7 –23.4

Cash flow from financing activities 0.0 97.0

Effects of exchange rate changes, valuation changes and changes in the group  
of consolidated companies – –

Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the period 4,432.5 1,046.2
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Notes to the cash flow statement
The cash flow statement presents the development and 
composition of the cash and cash equivalents for the 
financial year, and is divided into the sections “Operating 
activities”, “Investing activities” and “Financing activities”.

Cash flow from operating activities is presented based on 
the consolidated net income prior to contractual profit 
transfer using the indirect method. 

Here, payment flows from receivables and liabilities vis-à-
vis banks and clients, securities held for trading, securitised 
liabilities and other assets and liabilities are shown. Interest 
and dividend payments resulting from operating activities 
are also included.

The cash flow from investing activities comprises the 
payment processes for the investments and securities 
portfolio as well as property, plant and equipment and 
changes in the group of consolidated companies.

Cash flow from financing activities shows the cash-
effective portion of the change in subordinated capital 
and payments to the company shareholders. 

The cash and cash equivalents reported are equivalent to 
the cash reserve balance sheet item and thus include cash 
on hand and balances with central banks.
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Notes

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

General accounting policies

1 Fundamentals of consolidated financial reporting

2 Changes on the previous year

3 Principles of consolidation

4 Scope of consolidation

5 Currency translation

Specific accounting and measurement methods

6 Financial instruments

7 Cash reserves

8 Loans and advances to banks and clients

9 Impairments

10 Portfolio hedge adjustment attributable to assets

11 Assets held for trading

12 Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting)

13 Financial investments

14 Securities lending and repurchase transactions

15 Property, plant and equipment

16 Intangible assets

17 Other assets

18 Liabilities

19 Trading liabilities

20 Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting)

21 Provisions

22 Other liabilities

23 Subordinated capital

24 Lease transactions

25 Revenue from contracts with clients

26 Taxes
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Segment reporting

27 Segment reporting

Notes to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

28 Net interest income

29 Risk result

30 Net commission income

31 Gains or losses on fair value measurement

32 Gains or losses on financial investments

33 Administrative expenses

34 Expenses from bank levies, deposit guarantee scheme and banking supervision

35 Other income and expenses

Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

36 Cash reserves

37 Loans and advances to banks

38 Loans and advances to clients

39 Risk provisions

40 Assets held for trading

41 Financial investments

42 Liabilities to banks

43 Liabilities to clients

44 Securitised liabilities

45 Trading liabilities

46 Provisions

47 Subordinated capital

48 Equity

49 Contingent liabilities and other obligations
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Disclosures relating to financial instruments

50 Fair value and measurement hierarchies of financial instruments

51 Reclassification of financial assets

52 Financial instrument measurement category

53 Net results of financial instruments

54 Hedging relationships (hedge accounting)

55 Derivative transactions

56 Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities

57 Financial assets transferred to third parties as collateral as well as other transferred financial assets without derecognition

58 Collateral received which can be re-sold or re-pledged

59 Assets and liabilities in foreign currency

60 Subordinated assets

61 Risks from financial instruments

Other disclosures

62 Fiduciary transactions

63 Other financial obligations

64 Other guarantees and other commitments

65 Shareholdings

66 Related parties

67 Non-consolidated structured companies

68 Seats held on statutory supervisory bodies of major corporations or financial institutions

69 Auditor’s fee

70 Employees

71 Shareholders

72 Events after the balance sheet date
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Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of Deutsche 
Kreditbank AG (DKB), with its registered office in Berlin 
(Berlin-Charlottenburg Local Court, commercial register 
number: HRB 34165), were prepared in compliance with 
Section 315e (1) HGB and EC Regulation No. 1606/2002 
of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 
2002 as well as other regulations on the adoption of 
specific international accounting standards on the basis 
of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
adopted and published by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). Along with the standards desig-
nated as IFRSs, the IFRSs also encompass the International 
Accounting Standards (IASs) and the interpretations of the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Commit-
tee (IFRIC) and the Standing Interpretations Committee 
(SIC). These consolidated financial statements are based 
on the IFRSs as applicable in the EU.

All mandatory standards and interpretations were taken 
into consideration, where relevant to the DKB Group.

The consolidated financial statements include the con
solidated statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity, the consolidated cash flow statement 
and the notes, including segment reporting. The reporting 
and functional currency is the euro.

The consolidated management report is printed in a sep-
arate section of the annual report. Part of the risk report-
ing is presented as a component of the risk report in the 
consolidated management report. Further details on the 
risk situation according to IFRS 7 are provided in Note 61 
“Risks from financial instruments”.

To improve the transparency and informative value of the 
notes, the DKB Group makes use of the option in IAS 1.31 
to waive certain IFRS disclosure requirements insofar as 
this information is not material for an understanding of 
the DKB Group’s net assets, financial position and results of 
operations. The notes therefore do not provide any further 
information on the items “Property, plant and equipment”, 
“Intangible assets”, “Other assets” and “Other liabilities”, the 
income tax items and leases under IFRS 16. 

All amounts are shown in millions of euros (EUR million) 
unless otherwise indicated. For mathematical reasons, 
rounding differences of ± one unit may arise.
 

General accounting policies

(1) �Fundamentals of consolidated financial  
reporting

The consolidated financial statements were prepared 
under the assumption that this is a going concern. Income 
and expenses are accrued and recognised through profit 
or loss for the period to which they relate.

Accounting in the DKB Group is performed according to 
uniform Group accounting and measurement methods. 

The consolidated financial statements contain values 
which we have determined using estimates and assump-
tions, as permitted. The estimates and assumptions used 
are based on historical information and other factors, 
such as expectations with respect to future events. The 
estimates and assessments themselves, as well as the 
underlying assessment factors and estimate methods, are 
regularly examined and compared against the actually 
occurring events. In our view, the parameters used are 
appropriate. Estimation uncertainties result, inter alia, 
during the determination of provisions, risk provisions in 
the lending business, deferred tax assets and during the 
fair value determination of financial instruments.

When determining provisions, estimation uncertainties 
exist with respect to the settlement amount and the 
likelihood of occurrence.

For financial instruments measured at amortised 
acquisition costs, the Group publishes the fair value. In 
principle, there is little to no trading activity for these 
financial instruments, which is why significant estimates 
by management are required to determine the fair value.

Financial assets, liabilities and derivative hedging instru-
ments are classified and measured in accordance with the 
principles of IAS 32, IAS 9 and IFRS 13.
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Assets are recognised if the company has control over 
them as a result of past events and if an economic benefit 
can be generated from this right.

Obligations are recognised if the company is obliged to 
transfer economic resources as a result of past events.

IFRSs applied for the first time
In the 2019 financial year, the following new or amended 
standards and interpretations, which have been adopted 
into European law by the EU Commission, were applicable 
for the first time:

–	 �IFRS 16 “Leases”: This standard introduces a uniform 
accounting model, according to which leases are to be 
recognised in the balance sheet of the lessee. A lessee 
recognises a right-of-use asset, which represents its right 
to use the underlying asset, and a debt from the lease, 
which represents its obligation to make lease payments. 
There are exceptions for short-term leases and leases for 
low-value assets. Accounting treatment by the lessor is 
in line with the previous standard - i.e. lessors continue 
to classify leases as finance or operating leases. 
 
IFRS 16 replaces the existing guidelines on leasing, 
including IAS 17 “Leases”, IFRIC 4 “Determining whether 
an arrangement contains a lease”, SIC-15 “Operating 
leases – incentives” and SIC-27 “Evaluating the substance 
of transactions involving the legal form of a lease”. 
 
�The effects of the first-time application of IFRS 16 are 
shown in Note 2.

–	� Changes to standards IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 23 
were made as part of the annual improvements to the 
IFRSs/IASs (2015–2017 cycle). The changes have no 
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the 
DKB Group. The revised standards are effective for all 
financial years starting on or after 1 January 2019.

Amendments to standards IFRS 9, IAS 19, IAS 28 and IFRIC 
23 are also to be applied which, however, have no effect on 
the consolidated financial statements of DKB.

IFRSs to be applied in the future
As part of the interest rate benchmark reform phase 1, 
the standards IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 were amended. 
In the EU, the amendments are mandatory for financial 
years starting on or after 1 January 2020 and were not 
applied ahead of time. The amendments of phase 1 
provide for simplifications in the accounting treatment of 
hedge accounting during the period of implementation 
of the IBOR reform. The simplifications include a tempor
ary exemption from the application of specific hedge 
accounting requirements for hedging relationships directly 
affected by the IBOR reform. The effects of these changes 
on the consolidated financial statements of DKB are cur-
rently being examined.

The other amendments to standards IAS 1 and IAS 8 as well 
as to the conceptual framework that have currently been 
adopted are not expected to have any significant impact 
on the DKB Group.
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(2) Changes on the previous year
The changes on the previous year result from  
the first-time application of the new standard on leases, 
IFRS 16. The transitional provisions set out in Appendix C 
of IFRS 16 were observed. The provisions of IFRS 16 were 
applied retrospectively without restating the previous 
year’s figures in accordance with IFRS 16.C5 (b). The 
DKB Group applied the practical aids of IFRS 16.C10 (c) 
to (e) in the first-time application of IFRS 16.

In the DKB Group, there were no leases in which the 
DKB Group acts as lessor either as at the time of first appli-
cation or as at 31 December 2019. Sale-and-leaseback 
transactions were also not carried out by the DKB Group in 
the reporting period.

The first-time application of IFRS 16 resulted in the 
following adjustments to the consolidated balance sheet: 

EUR millions 31/12/2018 01/01/2019
First-time application of  

IFRS 16

Property, plant and equipment 54.1 198.6 +144.5

Other liabilities 264.5 409.0 +144.5

In accordance with IFRS 16, the lease payments previ-
ously recognised as a rental expense under administrative 
expenses are now shown as an interest expense (EUR 1.5 
million) or as depreciation and amortisation under admin-
istrative expenses (EUR 14.6 million).

In the segment report (Note 27), lease payments are allo-
cated to the “other” segment. 

The following overview shows the reconciliation of liabil-
ities from operating leases reported as of 31 December 
2018 in accordance with IAS 17 and liabilities recognised 
for the first-time application of IFRS 16:

EUR millions
31/12/2018 
01/01/2019

Gross leasing liabilities as at 31/12/2018 155.9

Exemption rule for short-term lease agreement –0.2

Other adjustments –1.7

Gross leasing liabilities as at 01/01/2019 154.0

Discounting (weighted average incremental borrowing rate: 1.0%) –9.5

Net leasing liabilities as at 01/01/2019 144.5

In the year under review, voluntary changes were made to 
the presentation of the result from hedging transactions 
(hedge accounting) compared with the previous year in 
order to improve the presentation and clarity of the state-
ment of income. 

The change in presentation relates to the result from the 
amortisation of the portfolio hedge adjustment and the 
pull-to-par effect of the hedging instruments. In contrast 
to the previous year, these two effects are shown in net 
interest income (interest from financial instruments cal-
culated using the effective interest method). The gain or 
loss on hedging transactions (hedge accounting) therefore 
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only includes those changes in the value of the underly-
ing transactions and hedging instruments that relate to 
the hedged interest rate risk. The adjustments are made 
retrospectively by restating the figures for the previous 
year. The adjustment of the reporting reduces the net 
interest income by EUR 6.8 million (previous year: EUR 31.5 
million) and improves the result from hedging transactions 
accordingly.

In addition, the following retrospective adjustments were 
made to net interest income compared with the previous 
year:

–	� The negative interest income from hedge accounting 
derivatives was reported under other interest in the 
previous year. In the year under review, negative inter-
est income was reported under interest from financial 
instruments calculated using the effective interest 
method, in the same way as other interest income and 
expenses from hedge accounting derivatives. As a 
result of this adjustment to the reporting, other interest 
increased by EUR 28.3 million in the year under review 
(previous year: EUR 22.4 million); interest from finan-
cial instruments calculated using the effective interest 
method decreased accordingly.

–	� Since the financial year under review, interest expenses 
similar to interest and interest expenses not related to 
a specific period have been reported under interest 
expenses for liabilities to banks and clients instead of 
under other interest expenses as was previously the case. 
The change in presentation serves to improve the trans-
parency of the notes, as the interest expenses concerned 
result from liabilities to banks and clients despite their 
nature of being similar to interest and interest expenses 
or of not relating to a specific period. As a result of this 
adjustment to the reporting, interest expenses for liabili-
ties to banks and clients increased by EUR 12.6 million in 
the year under review (previous year: EUR 62.2 million); 
other interest expenses decreased accordingly.

(3) Principles of consolidation
In the consolidated financial statements, the parent com-
pany DKB and the subsidiaries included in the group of 
consolidated companies are presented as one economic 
unit. 

Subsidiaries comprise all companies that are controlled by 
the DKB Group, regardless of their legal structure. A subsid-
iary is deemed to be controlled when the DKB Group is 
exposed to variable return flows from the commitment 
with this company or has rights to these and the ability to 
influence these returns by means of its decision-making 
power over the company. 

Variable returns are all returns that can vary depending on 
the performance of the company. Consequently, returns 
from the commitment to another company can be both 
positive and negative. Variable returns include dividends, 
fixed and variable interest, remunerations and fees, fluctu-
ations in the value of the investment and other economic 
advantages and disadvantages.

The DKB Group has decision-making powers over a 
company if it has rights that give it the current ability to 
control the relevant activities of the company. The relevant 
activities are those which, depending on the nature and 
purpose of the company, have a significant impact on its 
cash flows. These may also be structured entities in which 
voting rights or similar rights are not the dominant factor 
in assessing control.
 
The assessment as to whether decision-making power 
exists takes place on the basis of the relevant activities of 
the company and the DKB Group’s powers to exert influ-
ence in this regard. In this process, both voting rights and 
other contractual rights to control the relevant activities 
are taken into consideration, unless economic or other 
obstacles exist for the exercise of the existing rights. 
A subsidiary is also controlled by the DKB Group if the 
decision-making power is exercised by a third party in the 
interests or on behalf of the DKB Group. Whether such a 
delegated decision-making power exists is determined 
on the basis of the existing powers to appoint people 
to boards and committees, the legal and constructive 
decision-making leeway and on the commercial incentive 
structure.
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In individual cases, DKB directly or indirectly holds pro-
portions of voting rights in excess of 50% in companies 
which, due to contractual or legal restrictions, do not bring 
with them the corresponding controlling influence. In such 
cases, no control is assumed for the purposes of defining 
the group of consolidated companies, despite a majority 
shareholding. Conversely, in individual cases, DKB holds a 
controlling influence due to contractual rights to influence 
legal relationships, despite holding fewer than 50% of the 
voting rights.

Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements by means of full consolidation. At the time of 
acquisition, insofar as a business combination in accord
ance with IFRS 3 is involved, the acquisition costs of the 
subsidiary are offset against the Group’s share in the fully 
recalculated equity as part of capital consolidation. This 
equity is the balance between the assets valued at their 
respective fair values at the time of initial consolidation 
and the debts of the acquired company, taking into con-
sideration the deferred taxes as well as discovered hidden 
reserves and hidden charges. If asset-side differences arise 
between the higher acquisition costs and the proportion-
ate, newly calculated equity, these are disclosed in the 
balance sheet as goodwill under intangible assets. Any 
remaining negative difference is recognised as income at 
the time of acquisition. 

All receivables and liabilities, income and expenses as well 
as intercompany profits and losses from intercompany 
transactions are eliminated as part of the consolidation of 
debts, expenses and income and the elimination of inter-
company profits and losses, unless they are not of minor 
significance.

Shares in subsidiaries, which, due to their subordinate 
significance for the net assets and financial position and 
results of operations of the DKB Group, are not consoli-
dated, are accounted for in accordance with the recog-
nition and measurement provisions of IFRS 9 as financial 
instruments of the FVPLM category.

Joint arrangements are based on contractual agreements, 
on the basis of which two or more partners can establish a 
commercial activity which is subject to joint management. 
Joint management exists when the partners must work 
together to manage the relevant activities of the joint 
arrangement and when decisions require the unanimous 
agreement of the partners involved. Such a joint arrange-
ment is a joint venture when the partners who exercise 
the joint management have rights and obligations with 
respect to the net assets of the arrangement. If, on the 
other hand, the partners have direct rights to assets attrib-
utable to the joint arrangement or obligations for their 
debts, the arrangement is deemed to be a joint operation. 

Associates are companies over which DKB can exercise, 
directly or indirectly, a significant influence but not a 
controlling influence. A significant influence is deemed 
the ability to participate in the financial and operational 
policy decisions of another company, without however 
controlling it. Significant influence is deemed, in principle, 
to exist when DKB as an investor directly or indirectly holds 
20% or more of the voting rights. A company can also be 
deemed to be an associate if DKB directly or indirectly 
holds less than 20% of the voting rights, but, due to other 
factors, is able to participate in the financial and oper
ational policy decisions of the company. This includes in 
particular the participation of the DKB Group in the com-
pany’s decision-making body.

There are currently no material joint ventures or asso-
ciates included in accordance with the equity method. 
Shares in joint ventures or associates, which, due to their 
subordinate significance for the net assets and financial 
position and results of operations of the DKB Group, are 
not included in the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with the equity method, are accounted for 
in accordance with the recognition and measurement 
provisions of IFRS 9 as financial instruments of the FVPLM 
category and reported under financial investments. 
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(4) Scope of consolidation
As in the previous year, six subsidiaries are included along 
with DKB in the consolidated financial statements as at 
31 December 2019. DKB directly or indirectly holds a 100% 
capital participation in the consolidated subsidiaries. As at 
the reporting date, there were no non-controlling inter-
ests. The group of fully consolidated companies was deter-
mined in accordance with materiality criteria. Companies 
measured in accordance with the equity method are not 
included in the consolidated financial statements.

A complete overview of the subsidiaries included in the 
consolidated financial statements is provided in the share-
holding list (see also Note 65 “Shareholdings”).

(5) Currency translation
All assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated 
into the functional currency, the euro, on initial recognition 
at the spot rate applicable on the respective transaction 
date. In the following periods, a differentiation will be 
drawn between monetary and non-monetary items for 
currency translation. Monetary assets and debts denom-
inated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate on 
the balance sheet reporting day. Non-monetary assets and 
debts in foreign currencies are not included in the consoli
dated financial statements. Profits and losses arising from 
the currency translation are recognised in profit and loss.

Specific accounting and  
measurement methods

(6) Financial instruments

Recognition and measurement
A financial instrument is a contract which simultan
eously leads to the creation of a financial asset for one 
company and to the creation of a financial liability or an 
equity instrument for another. Financial instruments are 
recognised in the accounts as of the date from which the 
company drawing up the accounts becomes party to the 
contract and is entitled/obliged to perform/render the 
agreed services/considerations. In this process, purchases 
or sales of securities are recognised as at the trading day. 
The other financial instruments are accounted for as at the 
settlement date.

A financial asset or financial liability is first recognised in 
the initial measurement at fair value. Financial instruments, 
which are accounted for at amortised acquisition costs, 
are measured taking into consideration transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial 
instrument. For financial instruments that are recognised 
at fair value in the subsequent measurement, there is an 
immediate recognition of the transaction costs through 
profit or loss.

The subsequent measurement of financial instruments is 
based on their assignment to certain measurement cat
egories. IFRS 9 classifies financial assets using the respective 
business model for managing financial assets and the con-
tractually agreed repayment and interest payment terms. 

IFRS 9 distinguishes between the following business 
models:

–	� The objective of the “hold” business model is to hold 
financial assets to collect the contractual cash flows.

–	� The objective of the “hold and sell” business model  
is to collect the contractual cash flows and sell the  
financial assets.

–	� Financial assets held for trading or those not meeting 
the criteria of the two business models mentioned above 
are allocated to a residual business model.

The business model underlying the loan portfolio of the 
DKB Group is derived from the business strategy as well as 
the client group and functional strategies. These are deter-
mined by the Board of Management as part of the strategy 
process. The aim of the DKB Group is to enter into long-term 
and valuable client relationships. This strategic orientation is 
also reflected in the risk strategy and multi-year planning of 
the DKB Group. Against this background, the loan portfolio 
of the DKB Group was largely allocated to the “hold” busi-
ness model. Sales from the loan portfolio are unusual in the 
DKB Group. The bank has adopted regulations which, under 
certain conditions, permit a harmless sale from the “hold” 
business model. The regulations take into account the rea-
son (primarily the sale due to a deterioration in the client’s 
creditworthiness or due to exceptional circumstances or to 
avert a loss for DKB) and the effects (primarily measured by 
the gross carrying amount of the transactions sold in rela-
tion to the total gross carrying amount or by the disposal 
result in relation to the total gross interest income/expense 
of the respective segment) of possible sales.
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The securities held by the DKB Group primarily serve 
to secure liquidity as part of liquidity management in 
accordance with regulatory requirements and the Group’s 
strategic objectives. They are part of a business strategy, 
the objective of which is to hold securities in order to 
collect their contractual cash flows. As part of the liquidity 
and earnings management, sales are also carried out on an 
ad-hoc basis. As a result, the securities of the DKB Group 
were allocated to the “hold and sell” business model. 

For financial instruments of the “hold” and “hold and sell” 
business models, the extent to which the contractual 
terms of the financial asset result in cash flows that rep-
resent exclusively principal and interest payments on the 
outstanding principal amount (the SPPI criterion) must be 
assessed upon addition of the financial asset.

The lending business of the DKB Group is based on loan 
agreements that exclusively contain terms and conditions 
that result in repayments and interest payments on the 
outstanding principal amount. 

With the exception of the investment funds held by  
the Group, the securities portfolio of the DKB Group  
exclusively comprises principal and interest payments on 
the outstanding capital amount.

In accordance with IFRS 9, a financial asset 

–	� is to be allocated to the category “at amortised cost” 
(AAC category) if it is subject to the “hold” business 
model and is SPPI-neutral. In this case, they are meas
ured at amortised cost,

–	� is to be allocated to the category “fair value through 
other comprehensive income mandatory” (FVOCIM 
category) if it is subject to the “hold and sell” business 
model and is SPPI-neutral. In this case, they are meas
ured at fair value with no effect on income,

–	� is to be allocated to the category “fair value through 
profit and loss mandatory” (FVPLM category) if it is sub-
ject to the residual business model or if it is harmful to 
SPPI. In addition, equity instruments and derivatives are 
also assigned to this category. In this case, the fair value 
is measured through profit or loss.

IFRS 9 also permits, under certain conditions, the voluntary 
allocation of financial assets to the two fair value cat
egories (designation). Accordingly, financial instruments 
can also be allocated to the categories “fair value through 
other comprehensive income designated” (FVOCID cat
egory) and “fair value through profit and loss designated” 
(FVPLD category). The DKB Group does not designate any 
such assets.

Financial instruments in the AAC and FVOCIM categories 
with impaired creditworthiness at the time of acquisition 
are classified as “purchased or originated credit-impaired 
financial assets” (POCI) in accordance with IFRS 9. POCIs 
are measured at amortised cost or at fair value with no 
effect on income, taking into account a credit-risk-adjusted 
effective interest rate (CAEIR).

The financial liabilities “at amortised cost” (category AAC) 
include financial instruments that are not held for trading 
and for which the fair value option is not applied. They are 
measured at amortised cost.



107 | DKB Annual Report 2019 | Notes

Modifications

For contract amendments to financial assets and financial 
liabilities that change the contractual cash flows but are 
not significant enough to result in derecognition, the gross 
carrying amount of the financial instrument is recalculated 
by discounting the modified contractual payments at the 
original effective interest rate or the credit-risk-adjusted 
effective interest rate (non-significant modification). Any 
resulting modification is recognised in the income state-
ment under net interest income (for Level 1 receivables) 
or in the risk result (for Level 2 or Level 3 receivables or 
POCI receivables). In subsequent accounting, the resulting 
modification recognised is amortised over the remaining 
term of the financial instrument. Amortisation is reported 
under net interest income.

If the contractual rights to cash flows are modified so 
that they are de facto deemed to have expired or lapsed, 
the financial instrument is derecognised and the modified 
financial instrument is recognised (significant modifica-
tion). The DKB Group identifies such a significant modifi-
cation on the basis of qualitative factors such as debtor or 
product changes or a change in the present value of the 
contractual rights to cash flows of at least 10%. Any result-
ing income or expense is recognised in profit or loss in the 
risk result. In subsequent accounting, the amortised cost of 
the significantly modified financial instruments is amort
ised over their remaining term via net interest income.

Determination of fair value
The fair value of an asset is, according to IFRS 13, the 
amount at which this could be sold between knowledge-
able, willing and mutually independent business partners. 
The fair value thus corresponds to a sales price. 

For liabilities, the fair value is defined as the price at which 
the debt could be transferred to a third party within the 
framework of a normal transaction. In addition, the bank’s 
own default risk must be taken into consideration when 
measuring debts. 

The relevant market for determining the fair value is, in 
principle, the market with the highest level of activity to 
which the DKB Group has access (main market). If there is 
no main market, the most advantageous market is used. 
To determine the fair value, the quoted market price (taken 
over unchanged) for an identical instrument in an active 
market is used, where possible (Level 1). These include 
funds and bonds which are traded in highly liquid markets.

If no quoted prices are available, the fair value is deter-
mined, where possible, using measurement methods, 
whose measurement parameters are directly (as prices) 
or indirectly (derived from prices) observable and do 
not fall under Level 1 (Level 2). This can include quoted 
prices in active markets for similar financial instruments, 
quoted prices in inactive markets, other observable input 
parameters (such as interest rates and exchange rates) or 
market-supported input factors. The objective here is to 
determine the price at which a normal transaction could 
take place among market participants at the measure-
ment date under current market conditions. These include 
off-market derivatives and debt securities that are not 
allocated to Level 1.

If this market-oriented valuation is also not possible, the 
DKB Group uses valuation techniques that are also based 
on input factors not observable on the market (Level 3). 
The financial instruments in this category have at least one 
input parameter which is not observable on the market 
and has a material influence on their fair values (such 
as internally calculated margins and creditworthiness 
spreads). These include off-market derivatives, advances 
to clients and company shares. 

If the fair value of the financial instrument is determined 
on the basis of several measurement parameters, the over-
all fair value is allocated in accordance with the measure-
ment parameter with the lowest level material to the fair 
value calculation.

To identify whether there is an active market, the 
DKB Group examines the extent to which tradable prices 
are present in the Bloomberg BondTrader trading system, 
so that it can be assumed that business transactions occur 
at a sufficient frequency and in sufficient volumes so as to 
enable the continuous availability of price information.
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In the DKB Group, recognised measurement models are 
used, which are essentially based on observable market 
data. The measurement models mainly encompass the 
discounted cash flow method and the option price models.

The fair values of interest-bearing financial instruments 
are determined using the discounted cash flow method. 
For lending transactions, the credit-risk-adjusted cash flow 
is discounted in principle using the risk-free yield curve, 
which has been adjusted by a transaction-specific spread. 
In addition to a margin to cover costs and profit expect
ations, this spread includes a premium that the bank pays 
for its own borrowing on the capital market. In the case of 
liability transactions, cash flows are discounted using the 
risk-free yield curve and a liquidity spread that reflects the 
current creditworthiness of the DKB Group.

The fair values of receivables acquired on the non-per-
forming loan market and secured with real estate are 
determined via the discounting of the recovery value of 
the relevant collateral over the estimated use period with 
a risk-adjusted interest rate.

The collateral is measured, in principle, from capitalised 
earnings value perspectives, predominantly in combin
ation with a review of the value against benchmark values. 
Observable market parameters (bid prices for other 
properties) are also used as benchmarks to determine the 
recovery values, as is information from previous trans-
actions. The expected recovery period is determined in 
accordance with the forecast period required to establish 
delivery capability (depending on the form of recovery, 
such as foreclosure), plus the period to be calculated for 
the sale following the assessment of the relevant market 
situation. In some cases, experience from past transactions 
is also factored into the assessment of the recovery time 
(for example, the period between foreclosure acceptance 
and the time the money is received). Discounting takes 
place using the risk-free yield curve and a risk-adequate 
spread.

Investments not listed on the capital market are valued 
using the capitalised earnings method. The valuation-
relevant cash flows are derived from the planning of the 
respective company. These are determined for the entire 
planning period. In addition, a forecast for the terminal 
value is prepared. The terminal value is derived from previ-
ous planning years and reflects the long-term sustainable 
assessment of business activity. The cash flows calculated 
in this way are discounted using the capitalisation rate. 
The terminal value is considered separately as a growth 
discount is taken into account here and is instead used for 
a perpetual annuity. The capitalisation rate is calculated 
using the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM), which takes 
into account the risk-free base rate, a market risk premium 
and a company-specific beta factor that describes the cor-
relation between the fluctuation in value of the company 
being valued and the fluctuation in value of the market.

The preference shares of Visa Inc. held by DKB AG are 
valued on the basis of the market price of Visa Inc. ordinary 
shares, taking into account the expected subscription ratio.

OTC derivatives such as interest rate swaps and forward 
exchange contracts are valued on the basis of the cash 
flow structure, taking into account nominal values, residual 
maturities and the agreed interest payment method. The 
cash flow structure is determined using the agreed cash 
flows and forward curves. Discounting takes place using 
yield curves with matching currencies and maturities and 
a risk-adequate spread. For publicly available spreads, the 
data observable on the market is used. 

Interest options are measured using the option price 
models. 

For OTC derivatives, the counterparty default risk, the 
bank’s own default risk and the liquidity costs are all taken 
into consideration. 
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Financial instruments which are not measured at fair value 
are not managed on the basis of their fair value. This is the 
case for loans and deposits, for example. The fair value 
is only calculated for such instruments for the purposes 
of disclosure in the notes. Changes to the calculated fair 
values have no impact on either the consolidated balance 
sheet or the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income.

Hedge accounting
The DKB Group uses the IFRS 9 option of continuing to 
account for hedging relationships in accordance with 
IAS 39.

Hedge accounting in the DKB Group is based on risk 
management decisions to manage the interest rate risks 
of DKB AG. Further information on the risk strategy and on 
the management and monitoring of the interest rate risk 
can be found in the risk report in the combined manage-
ment report. 

As part of interest rate risk management, derivative finan-
cial instruments are used to hedge recognised financial 
assets. The hedging relationships that qualify for hedge 
accounting within the meaning of IAS 39 are currently 
exclusively fair value hedges. In this process, a recognised 
financial asset or a portfolio of financial instruments can be 
protected against changes in the fair value that arise from 
the interest rate risk and could have consequences for the 
result for the period. The DKB Group uses the portfolio 
hedge in the broader sense to secure the fixed interest rate 
position from the client loans business. 

Within the framework of portfolio hedges in the broader 
sense, the interest rate risk is managed by the use of inter-
est rate swaps. Calendar time buckets are defined for the 
portfolio, to which the expected payment flows (interest 
and repayments) from the receivables are assigned. Thus, 
the corresponding (partial) cash flows of a portfolio of 
underlying transactions are assigned to each time bucket. 
The hedging transactions are assigned to the time buckets 
in accordance with their due date. After the assignment of 
the underlying and hedging transactions, the proportion 
of each underlying transaction that is to be included in the 
hedging relationship of the time bucket (hedge ratio) is 
stipulated. When determining the hedge ratio, the terms of 

the underlying transactions and hedging transactions are 
taken into account in such a way that interest rate sensitiv-
ities are calculated for both sides and compared with each 
other. The interest rate swaps are fully designated as hedg-
ing transactions. The hedge ratio is held constant until the 
end of the hedging period and is the basis for prospective 
and retrospective effectiveness tests. The effectiveness is 
measured monthly per time bucket. 

A high level of effectiveness is required here, whereby 
changes in the fair value of a secured underlying transac-
tion are compensated with respect to the secured risk and 
hedging derivative in a bandwidth of 80% to 125%. If the 
effectiveness of the hedging relationship is outside this 
range, the hedge is ineffective and must be dissolved at 
the time of the last proven effectiveness.

Possible causes of hedge ineffectiveness during the term 
are the following:

–	� value fluctuations of the variable side of the hedging 
instruments, especially in the last interest period or after 
the last interest rate fixing,

–	� multi-curve effects resulting from the measurement of 
the underlying transaction and hedging instrument with 
different yield curves, and

–	� differences between expected and actual payments, for 
example due to unscheduled repayments of the under
lying transactions.

A dynamic hedge strategy is used as part of the portfolio 
hedge in the broader sense. The predefined hedge period 
is one month. At the end of this period, the respective 
hedges are recompiled or adjusted, whereby the adjust-
ment is made primarily on the basis of the varying under
lying transaction side. Re-designations and de-designations 
of hedging instruments take place during the month, in 
line with the representation of the hedging relationships 
in risk management. The hedge strategy is documented 
during designation of the hedging relationship.
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Interest rate swaps are measured at fair value; any result
ant value changes are recognised through profit or loss in 
the result of the hedge transactions (hedge accounting). 
The hedging instruments are reported in the balance 
sheet item “Positive fair values from derivative financial 
instruments (hedge accounting)” or “Negative fair values 
from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting)”.

The book values of the underlying transactions are 
adjusted through profit or loss by the measurement results 
which can be traced back to the hedged risk. The adjust-
ment takes place in the balance sheet item “Portfolio hedge 
adjustment attributable to assets”. The measurement 
results are shown in the result of the hedge transactions 
(hedge accounting).

Derivative financial instruments in commercial hedge 
relationships that do not fulfil the prerequisites for hedge 
accounting according to IAS 39 are recognised in the 
assets or liabilities held for trading and measured at fair 
value. Current income and expenses are shown under net 
interest income; the valuation result is shown under net 
income from fair value measurement.

Further information on the development of derivative 
transactions and hedging relationships (hedge account-
ing) in the year under review can be found in Note 54.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual 
rights to cash flow from the relevant assets have expired or 
when the Group has substantially transferred all oppor
tunities and risks. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the contrac-
tual obligations have been discharged, set aside or have 
expired. 

Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, if, at 
the current time, an enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognised amounts against one another exists and the 
intention is to settle on a net basis.

(7) Cash reserves
The cash reserves encompass the cash in hand as well 
as credit balances with central banks. The cash reserves 
are allocated to the “hold” business model. There are no 
SPPI-harming agreements. They are recognised at nominal 
value on the basis of the AAC category.

(8) Loans and advances to banks and clients
The loans and advances to banks and clients are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted on an active market and are 
not held for trading purposes. 

Loans and advances to banks and clients are largely allo
cated to the “hold” business model and have only neg-
ligible SPPI-harming contractual components. Most of 
them are therefore in the AAC category. Premiums and 
discounts are distributed over the term in accordance with 
the effective interest method and included through profit 
or loss in the net interest income. 

Due to the “hold and sell” business model, a small portion 
of receivables is allocated to the FVOCIM category and 
measured at fair value with no effect on income. The 
interest-rate-induced measurement result is recognised 
in the revaluation reserve. Credit-rating-related fair value 
adjustments are recognised in the income statement 
under provisions for losses on loans and advances in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

A further small portion of receivables is allocated to the 
FVPLM category due to SPPI-harming contractual agree-
ments and measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
The measurement result is reported under the result from 
fair value measurement in the statement of comprehen-
sive income.

Loans and advances to banks and clients also include 
financial instruments with a credit rating impaired at the 
time of acquisition (POCI). 
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(9) Impairments
The provisions of IFRS 9 on the recognition of impairment 
losses on financial assets relate to AAC and FVOCI finan-
cial instruments as well as financial guarantees and loan 
commitments.

Impairments due to changes in creditworthiness are 
shown in the balance sheet as follows:

–	� AAC-category receivables:  
reported under the asset item risk provisioning,

–	� FVOCIM-category receivables:  
reported within equity and liabilities, and

–	� Financial guarantees and loan commitments: 
reported under provisions in the lending business.

Expenses for additions to loan loss provisions, income from 
the reversal of loan loss provisions and recoveries on loans 
written off are shown in the risk result in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

The impairment model of IFRS 9 provides for the follow-
ing three levels that reflect the development of the credit 
quality of a financial asset:

–	� Level 1: If a financial instrument is acquired and there is 
no significant increase in credit risk or no impaired credit-
worthiness (“credit-impaired”), the valuation allowances 
are measured at the amount of the expected 12-month 
credit loss. In the DKB Group, valuation adjustments are 
calculated using parameter-based models.

–	� Level 2: In the event of a significant increase in credit 
risk since addition, but in the absence of an impaired 
credit rating, the valuation allowances are measured at 
the amount of the credit losses expected over the term. 
In the DKB Group, valuation adjustments are calculated 
using parameter-based models. 
 
A significant increase in credit risk in the DKB Group is 
determined using a relative transfer criterion. The rela-
tive transfer criterion is based on the comparison of the 
rating of a financial instrument at the measurement date 
with its rating at the acquisition date. If a certain signifi-
cance limit is exceeded as a result of the comparison, the 
credit risk of the financial instrument is deemed to have 
increased significantly. The significance limits are set 

for each rating sub-module, acquisition rating and the 
past term of the financial instrument. To determine the 
significance limit, each financial instrument is assigned 
an expected development of the probability of default 
(PD profile). Based on this expected normal migration 
behaviour of the financial instrument, a tolerance range 
is generated within which an increase in credit risk is not 
considered significant. The tolerance range is calculated 
on the basis of the one-year migration matrix valid for 
the financial instrument at the time of acquisition. The 
significance limit for each point in time is the sum of the 
expected PD profile and the defined tolerance limits. If 
the rating valid on the measurement date exceeds the 
significance limit valid for this date, the credit risk of 
the financial instrument is deemed to have increased 
significantly.  
 
In addition to the relative transfer criterion, an assign-
ment is made to Level 2 if there is a payment delay of 
more than 30 days. Since the year under review, the 
loan has also been allocated to Level 2 if it is assigned 
to non-performing loan processing. As a result of this 
change in estimate, risk provisions increased by EUR 
4.7 million in the year under review. It is not possible to 
estimate the effect on subsequent periods. 
 
A reclassification of a financial instrument from Level 2 to 
Level 1 is made if, at the balance sheet date, the default 
risk is no longer significantly higher compared to initial 
recognition and there is no more than 30 days’ delay in 
payment. The procedure with regard to transfer between 
levels applies analogously to non-significantly amended 
financial instruments. 

–	�� Level 3: In the case of a financial asset the credit
worthiness of which is impaired as of the balance sheet 
date, the valuation adjustments are measured in the 
amount of the credit losses expected over the term. 
The DKB Group distinguishes between significant and 
insignificant receivables when determining the valu
ation adjustment. For individual loan commitments with 
a gross exposure of over EUR 750 thousand (significant 
receivables), risk provisions are calculated on the basis 
of expert estimates of expected recoveries, taking into 
account at least two possible scenarios and their prob
ability of occurrence (discounted cash flow method). 
For non-significant receivables (with a maximum gross 
exposure of EUR 750 thousand), risk provisions are 
calculated using parameter-based models.  
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The DKB Group considers the creditworthiness of a loan 
exposure to be impaired as soon as the DKB Group has 
to assume that the debtor will not meet its credit obliga-
tions. The DKB Group has defined the following indica-
tors (impairment triggers): 
 
– �significant financial difficulties of the debtor, 

	 – �breaches of contract such as interest or principal 
defaults or default, 

	 – �granting of (contractual) concessions to a debtor, such 
as deferrals, restructurings or waivers of claims,  

	 – �possible insolvency or financial reorganisation of the 
debtor, 

	 – �the disappearance of an active market for the financial 
asset due to financial difficulties of the debtor, and 

	 – �purchase of a financial asset at a high discount (deep 
discount) due to credit defaults. 

	� In addition to these indicators, a credit exposure is con-
sidered impaired if contractually agreed payments of a 
significant amount are more than 90 days past due. 
 
These criteria are also used for internal credit risk 
management and are based on the regulatory definition 
of a defaulted loan pursuant to Art. 178 (1) CRR. 
 
As soon as the default criterion is no longer met, the 
financial instrument is reassigned to Level 1 or 2. The 
allocation to Level 1 is made if the default risk is no 
longer significantly increased compared to the initial 
recognition on the balance sheet date. The procedure 
with regard to transfer between levels applies analo-
gously to non-significantly amended financial instru-
ments.

In the case of financial instruments with a credit rating 
impaired at the time of initial recognition (POCI), impair-
ment losses are recognised for changes in expected credit 
losses over the term of the instrument since initial rec-
ognition. The risk-adjusted effective interest rate (CAEIR) 
is used as the discount rate when calculating expected 
credit losses.

When parameter-based models are used, the credit 
loss expected over the term is the sum of the individual 
expected period losses. The respective period losses result 
from the following key parameters: 

– �	probability of default (PD), 

– �	loss given default (LGD), and 

– �	anticipated exposure at default (EaD).

One-year PDs are used to calculate the expected 
12-month credit loss in Level 1 and the level demarcation. 
The DKB Group primarily uses the models of Sparkassen 
Rating und Risikosysteme GmbH (SR) and Rating Service 
Unit GmbH & Co. KG (RSU). Lifetime PDs are also relevant 
for determining the credit loss expected over the term in 
Level 2. For this purpose, PD profiles are made available 
to the DKB Group by SR and RSU. The PD profiles of RSU 
and SR are derived on the basis of historically observed 
information. No external default data is included in the 
determination of PD profiles. In addition, the bank’s own 
expert estimates are used to a limited extent.
 
In addition to its own models, the DKB Group also uses 
RSU’s LGD model to determine the LGDs. The models are 
based on historical portfolio data, taking into account 
macroeconomic factors (such as market price time series 
to reflect the performance of collateral).

The EaDs are derived from the expected cash flows of the 
respective financial instrument. In addition to contractu-
ally agreed cash flow factors, such as contractual rights for 
the client to terminate or extend the original term of the 
contract or the right to make unscheduled repayments, 
assumptions about the drawing behaviour of clients for 
products with an unused portion of the commitment are 
also taken into account. A credit conversion factor (CCF) 
is also used to calculate the EaDs for off-balance sheet 
commitments.
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The parameters used by DKB are regularly validated and 
quality assured by our own verifications of representative-
ness.

Future-oriented information is taken into account when 
calculating the expected credit loss. For each individual 
financial instrument, forward-looking information – pro-
vided it has a relevant impact on the respective financial 
instrument or the associated client – is first included in 
the determination of the various credit risk parameters (in 
particular PD and LGD). This also applies to relevant macro-
economic variables such as the expected development of 
interest rates and the inflation rate as well as future devel-
opments in the respective market (such as purchase price 
and rental price developments). For LGDs, forward-looking 
macroeconomic scenarios are also taken into account in 
order to reflect long-term price and value developments. 
In addition, prior to the balance sheet date, the long-term 
expected PD development determined at the level of the 
financial instruments and aggregated at the (sub-)portfolio 
level is compared with corresponding PD developments 
simulated on the basis of various macroeconomic scenarios 
for upcoming years. In the event of a relevant deviation 
within one or more (sub-)portfolios, the resulting effects on 
the expected credit loss are approximated and taken into 
account. 

The DKB Group’s securities portfolio is primarily used for 
liquidity management and exclusively comprises securities 
with investment grade ratings. Due to this low risk of 
default, the option under IFRS 9 to waive the assessment of 
a significant increase in the default risk is used here as long 
as the security remains in the investment-grade range.

The expected credit loss is discounted using the original 
effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.

Depreciations are performed, when, based on the current 
information, the conviction exists that all possible com-
mercially reasonable measures to limit the loss have been 
taken. This is done, in principle, by writing off formed risk 
provisions. If no sufficient risk provisions were created, this 
is done via direct depreciation.

In the year under review, improvements were made to the 
DKB Group’s risk provisioning model. This involved updat-
ing the conditional PD profiles and the level demarcation 
profiles.

(10) �Portfolio hedge adjustment attributable  
to assets

In this balance sheet item, the book value adjustments for 
the underlying transactions designated in hedge account-
ing that are attributable to the hedged interest rate risk 
are recognised. The designated underlying transactions 
continue to be reported at amortised acquisition costs in 
the loans and advances to clients.

(11) Assets held for trading
Assets held for trading include derivatives concluded 
with our clients and derivative financial instruments with 
positive fair values concluded for hedging purposes which 
are not designated as hedging instruments within the 
framework of hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39. 
Measurement is at fair value in accordance with the FVPLM 
category.

(12) �Positive fair values from derivative financial 
instruments (hedge accounting)

This balance sheet item contains derivative financial 
instruments (interest rate swaps) with positive market 
values that are included in hedge accounting within the 
meaning of IAS 39. The derivative instruments (FVPLM 
category) are measured at fair value. The fair value 
changes in the hedging instruments are reported together 
with the fair value changes in the underlying transactions 
that result from the interest rate risk, under gains/losses 
on hedging transactions (hedge accounting).
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(13) Financial investments
Financial investments consist mainly of debt securities 
and other fixed-income securities that are part of the “hold 
and sell” business model and do not have SPPI-harming 
characteristics. The bonds and other fixed-income 
securities are therefore categorised as FVOCIM. The 
interest-rate-induced measurement result is recognised 
in the revaluation reserve. Credit-rating-related fair value 
adjustments are recognised in the income statement under 
provisions for losses on loans and advances in the state-
ment of comprehensive income. Premiums and discounts 
are amortised through profit or loss in the net interest 
income.

In addition, fund units that are categorised as FVPLM due 
to their SPPI-harmfulness are reported under financial 
investments. Other financial investments are also allocated 
to the FVPLM category if they relate to equity investments 
in companies. The measurement result is reported under 
the result from fair value measurement in the statement of 
comprehensive income. Other financial investments repre-
senting liabilities are allocated to the AAC category.

(14) �Securities lending and repurchase 
transactions 

Securities borrowed through securities lending trans-
actions and securities purchased through repurchase 
agreements are not recognised in the balance sheet if 
beneficial ownership remains with the lender/repo seller 
of the securities. Instead, a corresponding receivable from 
the pension provider was recognised.

Securities lent or sold as part of a genuine securities 
repurchase agreement are reported in the securities port
folio and measured in line with the assigned portfolio. A 
corresponding liability to the pension recipient is reported. 

Income and expenses resulting from these transactions are 
taken into consideration in the statement of income under 
the net commission income.

(15) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment encompasses owner-
occupied land and buildings, as well as operating and 
business equipment.

Initial recognition is at cost. 

It is measured at amortised acquisition or manufacturing 
costs, i.e. the acquisition and manufacturing costs are 
reduced, in the case of depreciable assets, by scheduled, 
linear depreciations in accordance with their useful life. 

If an impairment arises, this is recognised as an impairment 
expense. If the reasons for the impairment no longer apply, 
attributions are made up to the amount of the amortised 
acquisition and manufacturing costs as a maximum. 

Subsequently incurred acquisition or manufacturing costs 
are recognised as assets if they increase the commercial 
benefit of the property, plant and equipment. Mainten
ance costs are recognised in the relevant financial year as 
an expense. Likewise, acquisitions of low-value items are 
immediately recognised as expenses.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is reported 
under administrative expenses. Attributions are shown in 
other income and expenses.

(16) Intangible assets
An intangible asset is an identifiable, non-monetary asset 
without physical substance, which is used to provide 
services or for administrative purposes. These primarily 
include licences and purchased software. 

Acquired intangible assets are initially recognised at their 
acquisition cost. 

Intangible assets are subject to straight-line depreciation 
over their useful lives. Non-scheduled depreciation is 
carried out if there is an impairment or if an inflow of 
future economic benefits is no longer expected. Write-ups 
are made if the reasons for impairment no longer apply, up 
to a maximum of amortised cost. 



115 | DKB Annual Report 2019 | Notes

Depreciations and impairments are posted in administra-
tive expenses. Attributions are shown in other income and 
expenses.

(17) Other assets
Assets that cannot be assigned to any of the other asset 
items are posted under other assets. These include prepaid 
expenses and deferred income and real estate held as 
inventories.

(18) �Liabilities
Bank loans and overdrafts and liabilities to clients as well as 
securitised liabilities are accounted for at amortised acqui-
sition costs (AAC category). Premiums and discounts are 
distributed over the term in accordance with the effective 
interest method and included through profit or loss in the 
net interest income.

(19) Trading liabilities
Trading liabilities include derivatives entered into with 
our clients as well as derivative financial instruments with 
negative fair values entered into for hedging purposes, 
which are not designated as hedging instruments within 
the framework of hedge accounting in accordance with 
IAS 39. Measurement is at fair value in accordance with the 
FVPLM category. 

(20) �Negative fair values from derivative financial 
instruments (hedge accounting)

This balance sheet item contains derivative financial 
instruments (interest rate swaps) with negative market 
values that are included in hedge accounting within the 
meaning of IAS 39. The derivative instruments (FVPLM 
category) are measured at fair value. The fair value changes 
in the hedging instruments are reported together with the 
fair value changes in the underlying transactions that result 
from the interest rate risk, under gains/losses on hedging 
transactions (hedge accounting).

(21) Provisions
Provisions are formed for current legal or constructive 
obligations arising from an event in the past that will prob-
ably lead to an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits. It must be possible to make a reliable estimate of 
the amount of the outflow of resources. Provisions with a 
term of more than one year are discounted at a stipulated 
Group-standard interest rate that complies with the regu-
lations of IAS 37.47.

Where the possibility of an outflow of resources on ful-
filment is not unlikely (likelihood of occurrence less 
than 50%), we refer to the notes on contingent liabilities 
(Note 49 “Contingent liabilities and other obligations”).

Provisions for pension obligations and long-term 
employee benefits
The defined-benefit obligations of the DKB Group include 
the following retirement benefit plans:

All active employees of DKB AG and all former employees 
with a starting date as of 2 April 1995 receive an age-based 
modular plan as a capital commitment. The sum total of the 
capital modules acquired in the individual calendar years 
yields the pension capital, which is converted into a capital 
payment when benefits become due. Former employees 
who joined the company before 2 April 1995 are entitled to 
life-long pension payments. 

In addition, members of the Board of Management have 
been granted life-long pension commitments based on 
their final salary. 

The regulatory framework for pension provision is provided 
by the pension schemes concluded on the basis of works 
agreements as well as the German Act on Company Pen-
sion Plans (BetrAVG).
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Moreover, an employee-funded benefit plan exists for the 
employees of the DKB Group. This plan gives employees 
the opportunity to convert parts of their remuneration 
claims into pension capital. The pension benefit comprises 
a capital payment on reaching the defined retirement age 
or, if required, at an earlier point in time due to invalidity 
or death. Interest is paid on the pension capital at a rate of 
3.5% p.a.

Pension obligations and long-term employee benefits 
(partial retirement plan) are determined using an actuarial 
expert report issued by Mercer Deutschland GmbH (Mer-
cer). The direct benefit-oriented pension obligations are 
measured, whereby the existing plan assets are compared 
with these obligations. The calculation is performed using 
the projected unit credit method.

The following assumptions underlie the calculation: 

Actuarial interest rate 	 1.4% (previous year: 2.0%)

Duration 	 16.4 years (previous year: 15.2 years)

Salary progression 	 2.25% to 2.5% (previous year: 2.25% to 2.5%)

Pension progression 	 2.0% (previous year: 2.0%)

Retirement age 	 63 years of age (previous year: 63 years of age)

 Staff turnover 	 3.0% to 7% (2.5% to 5%)

Calculation base 	 “2018 G actuarial tables” of Prof. Klaus Heubeck 

When defining the actuarial interest rate, the DKB Group 
uses the interest rate recommended by Mercer. Mercer 
uses the Mercer Pension Discount Yield Curve Approach. 

Effects from the revaluation of defined-benefit pension 
plans, such as actuarial profits and losses from the pension 
obligation and the plan assets, which occur due to the 
difference between the expected and actual values or due 
to changed assumptions, are recognised in the period in 
which they occur, without an impact on profit or loss, in 
other income and expenses, and are reported as part of 
retained earnings in the balance sheet capital and analo-
gously in the pension reserves. A past service cost resulting 
from a retroactive plan change is recognised in staff costs. 

The DKB Group has not covered its pension obligations 
with plan assets. The financing status thus corresponds 
completely to the pension obligation value.

The risks associated with the defined-benefit obligations 
are the customary actuarial risks, particularly:

–	� Inflation risks: inflation risks can lead to an increase in 
defined-benefit obligations due to the direct or indirect 
influence of rate of salary increase and rate of pension 
progression. 

–	� Interest rate risks: the amount of the net obligation is 
materially influenced by the level of the discounting 
interest rates.

Provisions in the lending business
For contingent liabilities and other obligations for which 
a default risk exists, provisions are formed in the lending 
business at the level of the individual transaction as well as 
at portfolio level.



117 | DKB Annual Report 2019 | Notes

Provisions for legal expenses

The provisions for legal expenses essentially include the 
provision for litigation risks that have arisen in the lending 
business in the retail clients segment from the develop-
ment of jurisprudence in this area in recent years.

The formation of such provisions can itself be subject to 
the risk of incorrect estimations. This can relate both to the 
estimation of the prospects of success and to the amount 
of legal expenses incurred (risk of over/underestimation), 
while the level of the respective risks in this method can 
generally be quite accurately assessed. 

The provision is formed and amount determined, taking 
into consideration a qualified estimate, both in relation 
to the prospects of success as well as in relation to the 
provisional legal expenses and litigation risks, whereby the 
estimate is performed individually for each proceeding.

In order to minimise potential estimate risks, the estimates 
issued are regularly reviewed and adjusted based on 
already-received information.

(22) Other liabilities
Other liabilities includes deferred income and accrued 
expenses and other obligations as well as deferred debts.

(23) Subordinated capital
Subordinate promissory note loans and other subordinate 
loans as well as the participation certificates issued by the 
DKB Group are reported under subordinated capital. The 
entire portfolio is assigned to the AAC category.

The subordinated capital is accounted for at amortised 
acquisition costs. Premiums and discounts are distributed 
over the term in accordance with the effective interest 
method and recognised through profit or loss in the net 
interest income.

(24) Lease transactions

Lessees
Under IFRS 16, lessees must account for rights of use from 
leases entered into as assets from a right-of-use asset.

At the DKB Group, the right of use to be recognised is 
capitalised in the amount of the expected cash flows from 
the right of use discounted at the marginal interest rate. 
On the liabilities side of the balance sheet, the right of use 
is matched by a lease liability which corresponds to the 
capitalised right of use in the initial recognition.

The obligations from lessee relationships existing in the 
DKB Group relate in particular to lease agreements for 
office buildings, some of which have extension options 
of up to 15 years. The extension options are taken into 
account in line with the respective estimates.

The capitalised rights of use are reported under property, 
plant and equipment, and the lease liabilities under other 
liabilities.

The DKB Group makes use of both the accounting option 
not to capitalise lease agreements for low-value assets (up 
to EUR 5,000) and the accounting option not to capitalise 
short-term contractual relationships (up to 12-month
terms) as leases.

Lessors
Lessors must – as under IAS 17 – continue to distinguish 
between finance leases and operating leases. Leases are 
classified as finance leases if they substantially transfer all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership to the lessee. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Currently there are no operating or finance lease agree-
ments for which the DKB Group acts as the lessor.
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(25) Revenue from contracts with clients
The DKB Group generates income from contracts with 
clients from a wide range of services. Revenue from time-
based service obligations is recognised when the service is 
rendered. Time-based benefit obligations are recognised 
in accordance with the stage of completion. This is deter-
mined using the contractual basis, according to which a 
uniform stage of completion is generally achieved over the 
period of performance. The amount of revenue recognised 
corresponds to the consideration contractually agreed 
by the client for the transfer of the services. As a rule, 
the promised consideration can be clearly allocated to 
the individual performance obligations contained in the 
contract.

The DKB Group generates commissions and fees primarily 
from the following services:

–	� In the credit card business, revenue from the issue of 
credit cards and services associated with credit cards is 
recognised. The DKB Group charges both time-based 
fees, such as foreign deployment fees and cash service 
fees, as well as period-based fees, such as cardholder 
fees. The DKB Group acts in part as an agent for the 
brokerage of insurance benefits and other ancillary 
services in the credit card business. In these cases, the 
revenue is not recognised by the DKB Group. 

	� In the lending business, proceeds are primarily received 
from the provision of guarantee credits and from the 
processing and administration of loans. To the extent 
that the fees in the lending business are not subject to 
the provisions of IFRS 9, processing and brokerage fees 
are recognised on a time-related basis and income from 
recurring services, such as the provision of guarantees, 
is recognised on a period-related basis. 

–	� In payment transactions, income is mainly recognised 
from account management, the processing of bank 
transfers and the collection and redemption of direct 
debits. Account management fees are shown period
ically, payment transaction services for a given date.

Revenues from contracts with clients represent commis-
sion income and are presented in Note 30. 

The commissions and fees received by the DKB Group 
within the framework of IFRS 15 are either time-based or 
have a maximum performance period of one year. Disclos
ures on the transaction prices of remaining performance 
obligations in accordance with IFRS 15.120 are therefore 
not required due to IFRS 15.121 (a).

Costs incurred in initiating contracts are not capitalised by 
the DKB Group, but recognised as an expense in accord
ance with IFRS 15.94.

(26) Taxes
Actual (current) income tax assets and liabilities were calcu-
lated at the currently valid tax rates. Income tax receivables 
or liabilities are recognised to the extent that a remuner
ation or a payment is to be expected.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities result from 
different, temporary valuations of a recognised asset or 
obligation and the actual tax value. Provisional income tax 
burden and relief effects will result from this in the future. 
These were measured for every company included in the 
consolidated financial statements at the respective applic
able income tax rates, the validity of which is expected 
to remain for the period of the reversal of the temporary 
differences on the basis of tax laws already in force or 
which have already been adopted.

Deferred tax assets on existing tax loss carryforwards and 
deductible temporary differences are only recognised 
insofar as it is probable in the future that sufficient taxable 
profits will be generated to be able to use these tax bene-
fits. Where, for Group companies that generated a tax loss 
in the current or previous financial year, the loss carryfor-
wards and deductible temporary differences exceed the 
taxable temporary differences, the amount of recognised 
deferred tax assets was determined on the basis of a tax 
forecast for the respective company or – if a fiscal unit 
exists – for the respective controlling company.
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There is no discounting of deferred taxes. Deferred income 
tax assets and liabilities are formed and amortised through 
profit and loss, if the underlying issue was handled through 
profit or loss, and are formed and amortised without an 
impact on profit or loss in the corresponding equity item, 
if the underlying issue was handled without an impact on 
profit or loss.

In the balance sheet, the actual and deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities are, in principle, reported in separate 
items.

Since financial year 2009, a profit transfer agreement has 
existed between BayernLB and DKB. The prerequisites for 
a fiscal unit for income tax purposes are fulfilled. For the 
companies in the sub-group of DKB, therefore, deferred tax 
assets and liabilities need not be recognised. The income 
tax expense or income attributable to the gains/losses on 
customary business activity is reported in the statement 
of income of the DKB Group in the item income tax and 
relates to companies outside the fiscal unit or taxes from 
previous years. In 2013, a controlling agreement was con-
cluded with BayernLB to obtain the status of fiscal unit for 
sales tax purposes.

Segment reporting

(27) Segment reporting
Segment reporting is performed in accordance with 
the regulations of IFRS 8 and provides information on the 
different business areas of the DKB Group.

Segment reporting is based on DKB’s business model in 
conjunction with the BayernLB Group’s strategic focus. The 
segmentation therefore reflects the bank’s strategic seg-
ments, which are the basis of the internal control, organisa-
tional and reporting structures. 

Consolidated profit is attributable almost entirely to 
Germany. The Group has therefore not opted to undertake 
any regional differentiation.

The segment reporting is divided into five segments 
explained below:

– 	�DKB’s business involving retail clients and individual 
clients is combined in the retail segment. The key prod-
ucts are the DKB-Cash account package and DKB-Busi-
ness (consisting of a current account and credit card with 
interest paid on credit balances), construction finance 
and retail loans, investment products, co-branding 
credit card business and the DKB broker business. The 
companies DKB Grund GmbH and FMP Forderungs-
management Potsdam GmbH, which support the client 
groups, are also assigned to this segment. Their business 
purpose is brokering financial services and real estate, 
as well as servicing and collecting loans and advances, 
predominantly from the retail clients business. 

– 	�The infrastructure segment contains business with cus-
tomers in the local authorities and social infrastructure, 
energy and utilities, housing and administrators sectors. 
This segment also includes the lending and deposit 
banking business with strategic Group subsidiaries. The 
key products are loans, pass-through loans, term loans 
and current account overdrafts, guarantees, deposit 
business and the management of business accounts, 
including payment services. 

– 	�The corporate clients segment handles the business 
with customers from the areas of environmental tech-
nology, food and agriculture, and tourism. The segment 
also focuses on the Centre of Competence for Renew-
able Energies. The leasing and syndicate business is also 
included in this segment. The key products are loans, 
pass-through loans, term loans and current account 
overdrafts, guarantees, deposit business and the 
management of business accounts, including payment 
services. The subsidiaries DKB Finance GmbH and MVC 
Unternehmensbeteiligungs GmbH, which support client 
groups through corporate and venture capital invest-
ments and via property investments as part of the devel-
opment of commercial real estate, are also assigned to 
this segment. 
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– 	�The financial markets segment comprises DKB AG’s 
Treasury. Essentially, this includes funding, including 
managing interest rate risk, deposit business with 
institutional clients, passing on client deposits to 
BayernLB as part of the intra-Group funding system and 
internal transactions with BayernLB to manage liquidity. 
The activities within the custody account-A business are 
also assigned to this segment. This primarily involves 
management of the securities portfolio needed for core 
business (including the liquidity portfolio required by 
supervisory legislation) and business involving the DKB 
retail fund. In addition, the gains or losses on DKB AG’s 
hedging transactions are assigned to the financial mar-
kets segment. 

–	� The “other” segment contains cross-divisional transac-
tions and contributions to earnings which cannot be 
allocated to the segments according to source. These 
include central administrative expenses, investment 
income from subsidiaries, the bank levy, deposit guaran-
tee scheme and supervisory fees for DKB AG as well as 
other special effects. The activities of DKB Service GmbH 
are also presented in this segment. Its key areas of activ-
ity are processing back-office tasks for the DKB Group, 
handling standardised bulk business for DKB products 
and supplying services for Group companies. The non-
core business segment bundles all the business that 
no longer complies with our business strategy, which is 
being reduced as part of the higher-level restructuring 
concept of the BayernLB Group. This includes selected 
client portfolios and investments, including DKB AG’s 
lending and deposit business with these investments. 

The segment information is based on the internal con-
tribution margin accounting system used for business 
administration purposes and data from the external 
accounting system.

In principle, all consolidation effects within the DKB Group 
are presented in the reconciliation column. For the result of 
the current year, these are in the net interest income, and 
include, in particular, consolidation entries from the offset-
ting of results between Group companies and the consoli-
dation items between DKB AG and DKB Service GmbH. The 
administrative expenses, other income and expenses and 
net commission income items were significantly affected 
by the consolidation of DKB Service GmbH, both in the 
“other” segment and in the consolidation. Overall, these 

effects are of minor significance for the Group’s earnings. 
In the result of the current reporting year, there are no 
further reconciliation items requiring explanation. 

Intra-segment transactions are only reported under the net 
interest income item in the “other” (from non-core business) 
and corporate clients segments and relate to the lending 
and deposit business of the respective Group subsidiaries. 
This relates to segment assets totalling EUR 76.2 million, 
without significant intra-segment earnings. There are no 
dependencies on major clients as defined in IFRS 8.34.

The net interest income of DKB AG is collated on the basis 
of partial bank balance sheets for the internal manage-
ment of the business areas and reconciled to the market 
interest method for the purposes of client group manage-
ment. The subsidiaries’ interest income and expenses are 
shown in the segment to which they have been allocated 
in each case. 

In line with IFRS accounting, net commission income was 
allocated to the segments in accordance with the origin of 
the business. 

The risk result, gains or losses on fair value measurement, 
hedging transactions and financial investments, as well as 
other income and expenses, are determined in accordance 
with IFRS principles. The administrative expenses of the 
respective segments include all directly assignable staff 
costs and other administrative expenses, allocated indirect 
administrative expenses (in particular central sales and IT 
costs) and allocations of overhead costs. 

Segment assets are determined on the basis of balance 
sheet figures. Clients receivables, which are shown at 
nominal value, are an exception. The difference of EUR 
129.2 million (2018: EUR 99.3 million) and the risk pro-
visions holding on receivables of DKB AG amounting to 
–EUR 408.5 million (2018: –EUR 418.5 million) are included 
in the reconciliation column. 

The average commercial equity is determined on the basis 
of the regulatory Tier 1 capital and is assigned in line with 
the average allocated risk items in accordance with the 
regulatory reporting codes (risk assets and market risks as 
per the credit risk standard approach according to article 
111 ff. of the Regulation (EU) No. 575/2013 (CRR) and oper-
ational risks). 
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The return on equity (ROE) is determined as the ratio 
between profit/loss before taxes and the allocated average 
equity. The cost/income ratio (CIR) represents the ratio of 
administrative expenses to the total of the income items 
of net interest income, net commission income, gains or 
losses on fair value measurement, gains or losses on hedge 

accounting, gains or losses on financial investments, other 
comprehensive income and the result from the disposal 
of AAC-category financial instruments (as part of the risk 
result). The KPIs are collated for all market-relevant busi-
ness areas. These KPIs are not collated and disclosed for 
the “other” segment due to their limited informative value.
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Net interest income 381.8 359.6 183.1 26.3 24.6 –25.0 950.5

Risk result 12.7 –7.2 –64.9 0.0 3.5 – –55.9

Net commission income –51.9 4.5 17.7 –3.7 –17.0 15.9 –34.5

Gains or losses on fair value measurement – – –0.2 28.9 21.0 – 49.7

Gains or losses on hedging transactions – – – –4.4 – – –4.4

Gains or losses on financial investments – – – 0.1 – - 0.1

Administrative expenses –270.8 –152.4 –76.8 –12.7 –214.7 186.0 –541.4

Expenses from bank levies, deposit guarantee scheme  
and banking supervision – – – – –51.8 – –51.8

Other income and expenses –4.1 – –1.7 – 190.9 –199.6 –14.5

Gains or losses on restructuring – – – – – – –

Profit/loss before taxes 67.7 204.5 57.2 34.4 –43.4 –22.7 297.8

Segment assets 12,415.2 40,150.6 13,222.3 9,672.0 5,290.1 3,004.1 83,754.4

Risk positions 7,865.2 13,770.1 12,570.8 284.2 250.0 – 34,740.3

Average commercial equity 710.4 1,224.5 1,128.6 25.8 39.6 – 3,128.9

Return on equity (ROE) 9.5% 16.7% 5.1% >100%   9.5%

Cost/income ratio (CIR) 82.5% 42.0% 38.7% 26.9%   56.7%
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2018
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Net interest income 424.1 349.0 190.1 –26.31 25.9 –17.7 945.11

Risk result –25.8 –7.2 – 68.6 – –10.2 – –111.8

Net commission income –53.4 7.1 15.4 –3.1 –16.7 17.0 –33.7

Gains or losses on fair value measurement – – 0.4 –3.0 5.4 – 2.8

Gains or losses on hedging transactions – – – –11.91 – – –11.91

Gains or losses on financial investments – – – 0.4 – – 0.4

Administrative expenses –224.3 –135.0 –72.1 –12.6 –186.3 155.6 –474.7

Expenses from bank levies, deposit guarantee scheme  
and banking supervision – – – – – 40.3 – –40.3

Other income and expenses –2.9 1.5 8.9 – 191.5 –173.8 25.2

Gains or losses on restructuring – – – – 0.0 – 0.0

Profit/loss before taxes 117.7 215.4 74.1 –56.5 –30.7 –18.8 301.2

Segment assets 12,414.4 40,150.6 13,220.1 10,384.8 1,799.8 –582.1 77,387.6

Risk positions 7,599.5 12,518.0 11,989.4 249.8 488.8 – 32,845.5

Average commercial equity 684.7 1,101.3 1,098.9 23.9 39.7 – 2,948.5

Return on equity (ROE) 17.2% 19.6% 6.7% <–100%   10.2%

Cost/income ratio (CIR) 60.3% 37.7% 33.5% <0%   51.5%

1 Adjustment of previous year’s figure due to change in presentation (Notes (2)).
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Notes to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

(28) Net interest income

Interest from financial instruments calculated using the effective interest method

EUR millions 2019 20181

Interest income 1,613.8 1,712.4

Interest income from lending and money market transactions 1,594.2 1,691.2

Interest income from bonds and other fixed-income securities 17.6 19.8

Other interest income 1.9 1.4

Positive interest expenses 7.5 6.7

Interest expenses –618.9 –729.0

Interest expenses for liabilities to banks and clients –349.6 –456.4

Interest expenses for hedge accounting derivatives –181.8 –169.9

Interest expenses for securitised liabilities –42.5 –39.7

Interest expenses for subordinated capital –34.4 –26.9

Other interest expenses –10.7 –36.0

Negative interest income –49.2 –40.0

Total 953.2 950.1

1 Adjustment of previous year’s figure due to change in presentation (Notes (2)).

The interest income from lending and money market 
transactions includes income from impaired receivables 
(unwinding effect) of EUR 9.1 million (previous year: EUR 9.8 
million).

Other interest expenses include expenses from the amort
isation of the portfolio hedge adjustment of EUR 174.3 
million (previous year: EUR 156.0 million) and income from 
the pull-to-par effect of the hedging instruments of EUR 
167.5 million (previous year: EUR 124.5 million).
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Other interest

EUR millions 2019 20181

Interest income 5.6 3.4

Interest income from lending and money market transactions 0.7 1.8

Other interest income 4.8 1.6

Positive interest expenses 0.0 0.0

Interest expenses –8.0 –8.0

Interest expenses for derivatives in commercial hedging relationships –2.1 –5.8

Other interest expenses –5.9 –2.2

Negative interest income –0.2 –0.4

Total –2.7 –5.0

1 Adjustment of previous year’s figure due to change in presentation (Note (2)).

Other interest income includes income from shares in 
non-consolidated subsidiaries of EUR 0.2 million (previous 
year: EUR 0.2 million).
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(29) Risk result

The risk result includes the effects on profit or loss of 
credit-rating-related valuation changes as part of risk pro-
visioning and modifications. The risk result also includes 
the results from the disposal of AAC financial instruments.

EUR millions 2019 2018

Risk provisions result –63.7 –104.8

Income from the reversal of balance sheet and off-balance-sheet risk provisions 503.3 525.6

Expenses from the addition of balance sheet and off-balance-sheet risk provisions –573.3 –616.8

Expenses from direct write-offs –13.6 –23.6

Income from receipts on receivables written off 20.3 10.7

Result from non-significant credit-rating-induced modifications –0.4 –0.7

Result from the disposal of AAC-category financial instruments 7.8 –7.0

Modification income from significant modifications 10.3 8.7

Modification expenses from significant modifications –4.0 –16.6

Disposal gains 1.4 0.8

Disposal expenses – –

Total –55.9 –111.8
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The risk result is allocated to the segments of the 
DKB Group as follows:
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Risk provisions result 10.1 –6.3 –64.5 – –3.0 – –63.7

Result from the disposal of AAC-category financial instruments 2.6 –1.0 –0.4 – 6.5 – 7.8

Total 12.7 –7.2 –64.9 – 3.5 – –55.9
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Risk provisions result –30.1 –7.9 –68.8 – 2.0 – –104.8

Result from the disposal of AAC-category financial instruments 4.3 0.7 0.2 – –12.2 – –7.0

Total –25.8 –7.2 –68.6 – –10.2 – –111.8

(30) Net commission income

Income Expenses Result

EUR millions 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Credit card business 179.2 173.3 –156.0 –150.5 23.2 22.8

Lending business 35.3 34.9 –56.5 –51.9 –21.2 –17.0

Payments 21.6 18.6 –70.3 –65.0 –48.7 –46.4

Other net commission income 35.9 30.3 –23.7 –23.4 12.2 6.9

Total 272.1 257.2 –306.5 –290.9 –34.5 –33.7
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Commission income is allocated to the segments of the 
DKB Group as follows:
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Credit card business 179.2 – – – – – 179.2

Lending business 22.9 8.1 11.5 –1.6 0.2 –5.7 35.3

Payments 8.9 6.2 6.5 - 0.1 - 21.6

Other net commission income 30.9 0.9 0.9 1.0 24.5 –22.2 35.9

Total 241.8 15.1 18.9 –0.6 24.7 –27.9 272.1
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Credit card business 173.3 – – – – – 173.3

Lending business 22.4 8.1 10.4 – 0.3 –6.3 34.9

Payments 7.8 5.9 4.8 – 0.2 – 18.6

Other net commission income 27.0 0.9 0.7 1.1 19.7 –19.1 30.3

Total 230.5 14.9 15.9 1.1 20.2 –25.4 257.2



128 | DKB Annual Report 2019 | Notes

(31) Gains or losses on fair value measurement

EUR millions 2019 2018

Net trading income 2.7 5.8

Interest-related transactions 1.2 4.7

Currency-related transactions 1.5 1.1

Fair value result from FVPLM financial instruments 47.0 –3.0

Total 49.7 2.8

Ongoing gains or losses from the derivatives in commercial 
hedging relationships are reported in net interest income. 

Fair value gains or losses from FVPLM financial instruments 
are primarily due to the performance of the investment 
funds held by the DKB Group of EUR 26.2 million (previous 
year: –EUR 9.2 million) and the investment in Visa Inc. of 
EUR 13.9 million (previous year: EUR 5.4 million).

(32) �Gains or losses on financial investments
As in the previous year, gains or losses on financial invest-
ments arise on proceeds from the sale of securities.
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(33) Administrative expenses

EUR millions 2019 2018

Staff costs –280.6 –247.3

Wages and salaries –226.0 –198.9

Social security contributions –38.5 –32.9

of which employer share for statutory pension insurance –18.5 –11.5

Expenses for pension scheme and support –16.0 –15.4

of which expenses for defined-benefit plans –7.6 –7.1

Other administrative expenses –233.9 –218.6

IT costs –103.0 –91.2

Contributions, legal and consultancy costs –46.3 –39.5

Advertising –29.6 –23.5

Building costs (non-investment properties) –8.8 –22.3

Communication and other selling costs –20.0 –19.8

Miscellaneous administrative expenses –26.2 –22.3

Depreciation and impairments on property, plant and equipment  
and intangible assets –26.9 –8.8

Total –541.4 –474.7

(34) �Expenses from bank levies, deposit guarantee 
scheme and banking supervision

EUR millions 2019 2018

Bank levy –21.8 –22.1

Deposit guarantee scheme –25.5 –15.1

Banking supervision –4.6 –3.1

Total –51.8 –40.3



130 | DKB Annual Report 2019 | Notes

(35) Other income and expenses

EUR millions 2019 2018

Other income 31.2 59.9

Income from the reversal of provisions 2.7 22.9

Miscellaneous other income 28.4 37.0

Other expenses –45.7 –34.7

Expenses from the formation of provisions – –0.2

Miscellaneous other expenses –45.7 –34.5

Total –14.5 25.2

Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

(36) Cash reserves

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Cash in hand 14.2 11.2

Credit balances with central banks 4,418.2 1,035.0

Total 4,432.5 1,046.2

Credit balances with central banks are maintained in euros 
with various main offices of the Deutsche Bundesbank.

The cash reserves consist exclusively of financial instru-
ments in the AAC category.

(37) Loans and advances to banks

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Loans and advances to domestic banks 2,610.2 3,687.8

Loans and advances to foreign banks – –

Total 2,610.2 3,687.8
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Loans and advances to banks are broken down by maturity 
as follows:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

On demand 2,138.5 2,962.2

With agreed maturities   

Up to 3 months 450.0 500.2

From 3 months to 1 year 3.7 203.7

From 1 to 5 years 12.2 13.2

More than 5 years 5.7 8.5

Total 2,610.2 3,687.8

Loans and advances to banks consist exclusively of finan-
cial instruments in the AAC category.

The risk provisions for loans and advances to banks are 
allocated exclusively to Level 1 and amounted to EUR 1 
thousand as of the balance sheet date (previous year: 
EUR 1 thousand). There were no transfers between levels 
in the reporting year.

Loans and advances to banks did not contain any financial 
instruments with impaired creditworthiness (POCI) at the 
time of acquisition, nor any receivables that had not been 
significantly modified.

(38) Loans and advances to clients

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Loans and advances to domestic clients 68,863.8 65,314.6

Loans and advances to foreign clients 662.5 617.9

Total 69,526.3 65,932.5

There are currently no receivables from finance lease 
agreements.
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Loans and advances to clients are broken down by 
maturity as follows:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

With agreed maturities   

Up to 3 months 4,262.4 4,108.5

From 3 months to 1 year 4,624.2 4,308.7

From 1 to 5 years 18,744.9 17,900.6

More than 5 years 41,568.4 39,006.8

Indefinite maturities 326.2 607.8

Total 69,526.3 65,932.5

Loans and advances to clients consist of financial 
instruments in the following categories:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

AAC-category receivables 69,513.5 65,919.8

FVPLM-category receivables 11.3 10.5

FVOCIM-category receivables 1.4 2.2

Total 69,526.3 65,932.5
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The risk provisions for losses on loans and advances to 
clients in the AAC category developed as follows: 

2019

EUR millions Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 POCI Total

As at 1 Jan. –38.4 –115.4 –261.8 –5.0 –420.7

Additions from lending/purchases –16.6 –6.6 –82.7 –8.2 –114.0

Reversals from disposal/repayment/sale 15.1 102.4 113.1 9.8 240.4

Credit-rating-related changes –6.2 –99.8 –107.8 –11.3 –225.1

Usage/depreciation 0.0 0.1 92.8 8.2 101.0

Reallocation to Level 1 –23.0 23.0 – – –

Reallocation to Level 2 3.8 –20.9 17.1 – –

Reallocation to Level 3 11.3 34.6 –45.9 – –

Unwinding – – 8.1 0.3 8.4

As at 31 Dec. –54.0 –82.7 –267.1 –6.3 –410.0

2018

EUR millions Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 POCI Total

As at 1 Jan. –41.7 –115.4 –265.4 –0.9 –423.4

Additions from lending/purchases –18.2 –9.1 –61.1 –6.0 –94.4

Reversals from disposal/repayment/sale 14.3 93.1 128.1 14.1 249.5

Credit-rating-related changes –1.2 –101.9 –153.0 –12.2 –268.4

Usage/depreciation 0.0 0.0 107.3 0.0 107.4

Reallocation to Level 1 –10.0 10.0 – – 0.0

Reallocation to Level 2 14.0 –20.7 6.7 – 0.0

Reallocation to Level 3 4.4 28.6 –33.0 – 0.0

Unwinding – – 8.7 0.0 8.6

As at 31 Dec. –38.4 –115.4 –261.8 –5.0 –420.7
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The gross carrying amount of loans and advances to 
AAC clients comprises the following:

2019

EUR millions Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 POCI Total

As at 1 Jan. 62,400.4 2,692.4 739.9 87.0 65,919.8

Lending/purchases 19,297.5 337.3 80.5 34.5 19,749.8

Disposal/repayment/sale –15,065.6 –656.8 –353.1 –38.1 –16,113.6

Usage of risk provisions/depreciation – –0.1 –31.3 –11.4 –42.8

Non-significant modifications 6.4 0.6 1.4 – 8.4

Reallocation to Level 1 4,276.0 –4,252.7 –23.3 – –

Reallocation to Level 2 –4,378.9 4,435.0 –56.1 – –

Reallocation to Level 3 –48.8 –264.5 313.3 – –

Other changes –8.1 –0.6 –0.3 0.9 –8.1

As at 31 Dec. 66,479.0 2,290.7 671.0 72.9 69,513.5

2018

EUR millions Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 POCI Total

As at 1 Jan. 61,137.2 2,569.9 781.9 35.8 64,524.8

Lending/purchases 13,500.0 147.5 79.5 104.5 13,831.4

Disposal/repayment/sale –11,337.7 –637.7 –298.4 –53.4 –12,327.2

Usage of risk provisions/depreciation –0.1 –0.2 –104.0 0.0 –104.3

Non-significant modifications –1.5 –0.4 –0.3 – –2.2

Reallocation to Level 1 1,667.2 –1,645.3 –21.8 – 0.0

Reallocation to Level 2 –2,431.3 2,454.8 –23.5 – 0.0

Reallocation to Level 3 –130.5 –196.1 326.6 – 0.0

Other changes –2.8 –0.2 0.1 0.1 –2.7

As at 31 Dec. 62,400.4 2,692.4 739.9 87.0 65,919.8



135 | DKB Annual Report 2019 | Notes

The impairment losses on loans and advances to clients in 
the FVOCIM category relate exclusively to financial instru-
ments with impaired credit ratings (POCI) at the time of 
acquisition and amounted to –EUR 0.8 million as at the 
balance sheet date (previous year: –EUR 0.8 million). There 
were no transfers between levels in the reporting year.

In the reporting year, the total amount of undiscounted 
expected credit losses in the initial recognition of financial 
instruments with impaired credit ratings (POCI) amounted 
to EUR 20.0 million (previous year: EUR 21.9 million). 

For financial instruments for which the contractually 
agreed cash flows were modified in the year under review 
and whose value adjustment was measured in the amount 
of the expected credit losses over the term, the amortised 

cost before modification amounted to EUR 117.4 million 
(previous year: EUR 122.4 million). 

The European Money Markets Institute announced at the 
end of November that the transition of the Euribor has 
been completed. As at 31 October 2019, loans with a carry-
ing amount of EUR 2.4 billion had a Euribor reference rate.

The gross carrying amount of financial instruments that 
were modified at a time when the value adjustment was 
measured at the amount of the expected credit loss over 
the life of the financial instrument and for which the 
allowance was adjusted to the amount of the expected 
12-month credit loss in the year under review was EUR 30.3 
million at the balance sheet date (previous year: EUR 9.8 
million).

(39) Risk provisions

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Level 1 –54.0 –38.4

Level 2 – 82.7 –115.4

Level 3 –267.1 –261.8

POCI –6.3 –5.0

Total –410.0 –420.7

The development of the risk provisions in the reporting 
year is shown under loans and advances to banks (Note 37) 
and loans and advances to clients (Note 38).

(40) Assets held for trading
At EUR 6.6 million, (previous year: none) assets held for 
trading included positive fair values from derivatives con-
cluded with our clients and, at EUR 3.1 million (previous 
year: EUR 3.2 million), positive fair values from domestic 
derivative financial instruments concluded for hedging 
purposes that are not designated as hedging instruments 
within the scope of hedge accounting in accordance with 
IAS 39. 

These are exclusively interest-related transactions.

Assets held for trading consist exclusively of financial 
instruments in the FVPLM category.
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Assets held for trading are broken down by maturity as 
follows:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

With agreed maturities   

Up to 3 months – –

From 3 months to 1 year – –

From 1 to 5 years 3.0 –

More than 5 years 6.7 3.2

Total 9.8 3.2

(41) Financial investments

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 5,950.9 6,168.0

Equities and other non-fixed-income securities 153.8 129.1

Other financial investments 91.7 65.1

Total 6,196.4 6,362.3

Financial investments include shares in non-consolidated 
subsidiaries of EUR 12.5 million (previous year: EUR 10.7 
million).

The debt instruments and other fixed-income securities 
exclusively include bonds and debt instruments. Of this 
amount, EUR 5,950.9 million (previous year: EUR 6,168.0 
million) is eligible as collateral with central banks and EUR 
998.4 million (previous year: EUR 895.1 million) is due in 
the following year (including accrued interest).

As in the previous year, equities and other non-fixed-
income securities consist exclusively of investment fund 
shares.

Financial investments consist of financial instruments in 
the following categories:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

FVOCIM-category financial investments 5,950.9 6,168.0

FVPLM-category financial investments 245.4 174.3

AAC-category financial investments – 20.0

Total 6,196.4 6,362.3
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The valuation allowances deducted from the carrying 
amount for the financial investments in the category 
FVOCIM are allocated exclusively to Level 1 and amounted 
to EUR 0.3 million as at the balance sheet date (previous 
year: EUR 0.3 million). There were no transfers between 
levels levels in the reporting year.

The European Money Markets Institute announced at the 
end of November that the transition of the Euribor has 
been completed. As at 31 October 2019, debt securities 

with a carrying amount of EUR 1.9 billion had a Euribor 
reference rate.

In the reporting year, financial investments did not contain 
any financial instruments with impaired creditworthiness 
(POCI) at the time of acquisition, nor any receivables not 
significantly modified.

Financial investments include the following marketable 
securities:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Bonds and other fixed-income securities 5,950.9 6,168.0

Equities and other non-fixed-income securities 150.9 124.9

Other financial investments – –

Total 6,101.8 6,293.0

Financial investments are broken down by maturity  
as follows:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

With agreed maturities   

Up to 3 months 388.7 200.5

From 3 months to 1 year 609.7 694.7

From 1 to 5 years 3,714.9 3,541.0

More than 5 years 1,266.9 1,754.4

Indefinite maturities 216.2 171.7

Total 6,196.4 6,362.3
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(42) Liabilities to banks

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Liabilities to domestic banks 12,561.3 13,239.8

Liabilities to foreign banks 540.4 573.5

Total 13,101.7 13,813.3

 
Liabilities to banks consist exclusively of financial instru-
ments in the LAC category.

Liabilities to banks are broken down by maturity as follows:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

On demand 144.4 201.4

With agreed maturities   

Up to 3 months 268.5 912.3

From 3 months to 1 year 775.0 768.1

From 1 to 5 years 4,215.9 4,016.9

More than 5 years 7,697.9 7,914.7

Total 13,101.7 13,813.3
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(43) Liabilities to clients

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Savings deposits 295.9 346.9

With agreed notice period of 3 months 295.9 346.9

Other liabilities 60,470.6 54,019.2

On demand 52,763.8 45,704.4

With agreed term or notice period 7,706.8 8,314.7

Total 60,766.5 54,366.1

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Liabilities to domestic clients 59,598.1 53,301.7

Liabilities to foreign clients 1,168.4 1,064.4

Total 60,766.5 54,366.1

Liabilities to clients consist exclusively of financial 
instruments in the LAC category.

Liabilities to clients are broken down by maturity 
as follows:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

On demand 52,763.8 45,704.4

With agreed maturities   

Up to 3 months 2,780.8 2,633.8

From 3 months to 1 year 595.7 990.2

From 1 to 5 years 2,354.8 2,575.0

More than 5 years 2,271.3 2,462.6

Total 60,766.5 54,366.1
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(44) Securitised liabilities

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Bonds and notes issued   

Mortgage Pfandbriefs 2,189.9 2,220.9

Public-sector Pfandbriefs 1,655.6 1,403.3

Other bonds and notes 999.2 998.2

Total 4,844.8 4,622.3

Securitised liabilities consist exclusively of financial instru-
ments in the LAC category.

In the reporting year, public Pfandbriefs and mortgage 
Pfandbriefs were issued in the nominal amount of EUR 
506.8 million (previous year: EUR 500.0 million) and a 
nominal amount of EUR 280.0 million (previous year: EUR 
592.5) was repaid. Bearer bonds were not issued (previous 
year: EUR 0.0 million).
 
Securitised liabilities are broken down by maturity  
as follows:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

With agreed maturities   

Up to 3 months 32.4 282.5

From 3 months to 1 year 20.0 20.0

From 1 to 5 years 3,122.5 1,733.7

More than 5 years 1,669.9 2,586.1

Total 4,844.8 4,622.3
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(45) Trading liabilities

At EUR 0.1 million (previous year: none), trading liabilities 
included negative fair values from derivatives concluded 
with our clients and, at EUR 7.4 million (previous year: EUR 
1.2 million), negative fair values from domestic derivative 
financial instruments concluded for hedging purposes 
that are not designated as hedging instruments within 
the scope of hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 
39, and are divided between interest-related transactions 

of EUR 7.4 million (previous year: EUR 1.0 million) and 
currency-related transactions of EUR 0.1 million (previous 
year: EUR 0.2 million).

Trading liabilities consist exclusively of financial instru-
ments in the FVPLM category.

Trading liabilities are broken down by maturity as follows:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

With agreed maturities   

Up to 3 months 0.1 0.6

From 3 months to 1 year 0.0 0.1

From 1 to 5 years 0.0 –

More than 5 years 7.4 0.5

Total 7.5 1.2

(46) Provisions

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 98.9 85.2

Other provisions 112.4 95.2

Provisions in the credit business 44.5 48.9

Miscellaneous provisions 67.9 46.3

Total 211.4 180.4

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
The provisions for pensions and similar obligations 
include the obligations to provide retirement benefits. 
The DKB Group uses the implementation method of direct 
commitment (unfunded plan). The defined-benefit obli-
gation (DBO) was determined as the present value of all 
retirement benefits as at the balance sheet reporting day, 
already proportionately earned as at the reporting day.



142 | DKB Annual Report 2019 | Notes

The carrying amount (which also corresponds to the pres-
ent value) of the pension obligations developed as follows:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

As at 1 Jan. 85.2 80.6

Changes in the group of consolidated companies – –

Current service cost 4.8 3.3

Interest expense 1.7 1.5

Changes from the revaluation 9.5 1.3

Employee contributions to the plan – 0.1

Paid benefits –2.2 –1.7

Past service cost – –

Plan compensation – –

As at 31 Dec. 98.9 85.2

The changes from the revaluation encompass the actuarial 
gains/losses from the change in the present value of the 
pension obligations. The changes from the revaluation are 
recognised without an impact on profit or loss in equity 
under the retained earnings.

The main measurement parameters have the following 
sensitivities:

EUR millions
Increase by  

0.5 percentage points
Decline by  

0.5 percentage points

Discounting interest rate –7.5 8.5

Salary increases 0.8 –0.7

Pension progression 3.9 –3.5

The extension of life expectancy (biometry) by one year 
would cause an effect of EUR 2.2 million.

The DKB Group is not reporting any plan assets in the 
reporting year.
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In the reporting year, the following expenses were rec-
ognised in the income statement for pension obligations:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Current service cost (administrative expense) 4.8 3.3

Net interest cost from pension provisions (interest expense) 1.7 1.5

Total 6.5 4.8

For the 2020 financial year, the expected contribution 
payments for the pension plans at the DKB Group are 
estimated at EUR 2.4 million.

Other provisions
Provisions in the lending business reflect the credit risks in 
the off-balance-sheet lending business:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Provisions for loan commitments and financial guarantees in accordance  
with IFRS  9 37.7 42.3

Provisions for Level 1 loan commitments and financial guarantees 5.3 5.6

Provisions for Level 2 loan commitments and financial guarantees 5.1 8.6

Provisions for Level 3 loan commitments and financial guarantees 26.7 26.1

Provisions for POCI loan commitments and financial guarantees 0.6 2.1

Provisions for other contingent liabilities in accordance with IAS 37 6.8 6.6

Total 44.5 48.9

The development of provisions for loan commitments 
and financial guarantees in accordance with IFRS 9 in the 
reporting year is presented under contingent liabilities and 
other commitments (Note 49).
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Other provisions developed as follows:

EUR millions 01/01/2019 Utilisation Additions Reversals Rebookings 31/12/2019

Provisions for litigation 
expenses and legal risks 17.4 –2.8 0.9 –2.2 – 13.3

Human resources 14.6 –6.5 9.5 –0.1 0.3 17.8

Restructuring 4.1 – – – –4.1 –

Archiving costs 3.5 –0.6 0.8 – – 3.7

Other 6.7 –0.8 23.7 –0.5 4.1 33.2

Total 46.3 –10.7 34.8 –2.7 0.3 68.0

EUR millions 31/12/2017 Utilisation Additions Reversals Rebookings 31/12/2018

Provisions for litigation 
expenses and legal risks 35.2 –17.0 14.2 –15.0 – 17.4

Human resources 14.6 –5.9 7.5 –0.5 –1.1 14.6

Restructuring 4.3 –0.2 – – – 4.1

Archiving costs 3.5 –0.6 0.6 – – 3.5

Other 10.9 –0.1 3.3 –7.4 – 6.7

Total 68.5 –23.8 25.6 –22.9 –1.1 46.3

Discounted provisions were compounded in the financial 
year by EUR 0.9 million (previous year: EUR 0.7 million). The 
change in the discounting rate led to a provision reduc-
tion of EUR 3.3 million (previous year: reduction of EUR 0.5 
million).

Of the other provisions, EUR 23.8 million (previous 
year: EUR 23.5 million) fall due after more than 12 months. 



145 | DKB Annual Report 2019 | Notes

(47) Subordinated capital

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Subordinated liabilities 747.1 652.9

Additional regulatory core capital 103.3 100.0

Profit participation certificates 28.6 28.7

Total 879.0 781.7

The subordinated capital consists exclusively of financial 
instruments in the LAC category. The subordinated liabili-
ties must be arranged contractually such that, in the event 
of insolvency or the liquidation of DKB, a reimbursement 
does not take place until all non-subordinate creditors are 
first satisfied. A premature repayment obligation at the 
creditor’s request cannot arise. The prerequisites for attri-
bution to the regulatory equity in accordance with Section 
62 CRR are fulfilled at DKB for a portfolio of nominally EUR 
733.0 million. 

The interest expense for subordinated capital is broken 
down as follows:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Subordinated liabilities 25.9 24.7

Additional regulatory core capital 7.3 1.1

Profit participation certificates 1.1 1.1

Total 34.4 26.9

The subordinated liabilities include pro rata interest of EUR 
14.2 million (previous year: EUR 14.0 million). 

Of the subordinated liabilities, EUR 133.0 million (previous 
year: EUR 96.0 million) fall due before two years have lapsed. 

An unsecured subordinated registered bond in the amount 
of EUR 100 million was issued during the financial year. 
This instrument qualifies as additional core capital under 
Article 62 CRR. 

Profit participation capital is also eligible for inclusion 
in regulatory capital in accordance with Article 62 CRR. 
In the financial year, EUR 0.2 million of company-own 
profit participation rights were repurchased and no profit 
participation rights were issued.
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Subordinated capital is broken down by maturity as 
follows:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

With agreed maturities   

Up to 3 months 72.5 14.0

From 3 months to 1 year 35.0 6.0

From 1 to 5 years 143.0 132.9

More than 5 years 500.0 500.0

With indefinite maturity 128.6 128.8

Total 879.0 781.7

(48) Equity

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Subscribed capital 339.3 339.3

Statutory nominal capital 339.3 339.3

Capital reserve 1,414.4 1,414.4

Retained earnings 1,499.5 1,303.8

 Statutory reserve 242.4 242.4

 Reserve from the revaluation of defined-benefit pension plans –38.7 –29.3

 Other retained earnings 1,295.8 1,090.6

Revaluation surplus 88.5 59.9

Consolidated net retained profits/net accumulated losses 85.0 223.0

Total 3,426.7 3,340.4
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The subscribed capital represents the share capital of 
DKB AG in accordance with its Articles of Association and is 
divided into 130.5 million no-par value shares, all of which 
are held by BayernLB.

The payments made by shareholders into equity are 
included in the capital reserve.

The amounts that were assigned mainly to the reserves 
from the profits of previous years and from the profit of 
the current year are reported under retained earnings. 
They are broken down into the statutory reserve and other 
retained earnings.

The reserve from the revaluation of defined-benefit pen-
sion plans contains the valuation results from the revalu-
ation of defined-benefit pension plans not affecting net 
income.

Retained earnings increased by EUR 195.7 million in par-
ticular due to the allocation of the consolidated balance 
sheet profit from the previous year.

The revaluation reserve of EUR 28.6 million mainly results 
from the fair value measurement of FVOCIM financial 
instruments. 

The impairments for FVOCIM financial instruments shown 
in the revaluation reserve in addition to the fair value 
measurement are shown under loans and advances to 
clients (Note 38) and financial investments (Note 41).

(49) �Contingent liabilities and other obligations

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/20181

Contingent liabilities 765.4 646.3

Financial guarantees in accordance with IFRS 9 101.5 104.7

Other liabilities from guarantees and indemnity agreements 663.0 539.6

Contingent liabilities from legal disputes 0.9 2.0

Other liabilities 20,961.3 19,512.4

Irrevocable loan commitments 4,409.6 3,845.9

Revocable loan commitments 16,551.7 15,666.5

Total 21,726.7 20,158.8

 1 Adjusted previous year’s figures.



148 | DKB Annual Report 2019 | Notes

The provisions for loan commitments and financial guaran-
tees in accordance with IFRS 9 developed as follows: 

2019

EUR millions Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 POCI Total

As at 1 Jan. 5.6 8.6 26.1 2.1 42.3

Additions from lending/purchases 9.8 3.2 16.4 1.2 30.5

Reversals from disposal/repayment/sale –8.4 –25.1 –36.2 –2.7 –72.4

Credit-rating-related changes –1.6 19.1 20.4 0.1 37.9

Reallocation to Level 1 0.9 –0.9 – – –

Reallocation to Level 2 –1.0 1.0 – – –

Reallocation to Level 3 – –0.8 0.8 – –

Unwinding – – –0.7 – –0.7

As at 31 Dec. 5.3 5.1 26.7 0.6 37.7

2018

EUR millions Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 POCI Total

As at 1 Jan. 5.3 11.7 10.5 – 27.5

Additions from lending/purchases 12.7 5.0 28.8 6.2 52.7

Reversals from disposal/repayment/sale –10.4 –25.5 –25.7 –3.7 –65.3

Credit-rating-related changes –2.1 17.8 13.0 –0.4 28.4

Reallocation to Level 1 1.0 –1.0 – – 0.0

Reallocation to Level 2 –0.7 1.0 –0.3 – 0.0

Reallocation to Level 3 –0.3 –0.5 0.8 – 0.0

Unwinding – – –1.0 –0.1 –1.1

As at 31 Dec. 5.6 8.6 26.1 2.1 42.3

In the reporting year, the total amount of undiscounted 
expected credit losses in the initial recognition of financial 
instruments with impaired credit ratings (POCI) amounted 
to EUR 0.1 million (previous year: EUR 0.8 million). 

Credit-rating-related
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The exposure of loan commitments and financial 
guarantees comprises the following:

2019

EUR millions Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 POCI Total

As at 1 Jan. 19,261.7 301.2 52.0 2.2 19,617.1

Lending/purchases 18,389.6 302.7 64.7 4.5 18,761.5

Disposal/repayment/sale –16,719.4 –549.6 –44.9 –6.5 –17,320.3

Reallocation to Level 1 779.8 –757.2 –22.5 – –

Reallocation to Level 2 –946.1 946.8 –0.6 – –

Reallocation to Level 3 –5.7 –20.8 26.4 – –

Other changes 4.5 – –0.5 0.5 4.5

As at 31 Dec. 20,764.3 223.0 74.6 0.8 21,062.8

2018

EUR millions Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 POCI Total

As at 1 Jan. 17,654.2 454.3 53.0 – 18,161.5

Lending/purchases 12,515.6 105.4 16.8 6.1 12,643.9

Disposal/repayment/sale –10,948.6 –200.6 –35.1 –4.1 –11,188.3

Reallocation to Level 1 469.4 –469.2 –0.3 – 0.0

Reallocation to Level 2 –416.4 416.7 –0.3 – 0.0

Reallocation to Level 3 –12.7 –5.5 18.1 – 0.0

Other changes – – –0.2 0.2 0.0

As at 31 Dec. 19,261.7 301.2 52.0 2.2 19,617.1
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Disclosures relating to financial 
instruments

With respect to the notes on the risks arising from finan-
cial instruments in accordance with IFRS 7, please also 
refer to the risk report in the management report of the 
DKB Group, in addition to the following statements.

(50) �Fair value and measurement hierarchies  
of financial instruments

Fair value of financial instruments1

Fair value Carrying amount

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Assets     

Cash reserves 4,432.5 1,046.2 4,432.5 1,046.2

Loans and advances to banks 2,610.8 3,688.6 2,610.2 3,687.8

Loans and advances to clients2 71,401.1 67,849.4 70,291.6 66,339.6

Assets held for trading 9.8 3.2 9.8 3.2

Positive fair values from derivative financial 
instruments (hedge accounting) – 0.0 – 0.0

Financial investments 6,196.4 6,362.3 6,196.4 6,368.4

Total 84,650.6 78,949.8 83,540.5 77,445.2

Liabilities     

Liabilities to banks 14,033.4 14,585.5 13,101.7 13,813.3

Liabilities to clients 61,582.1 55,014.9 60,766.5 54,366.1

Securitised liabilities 4,993.0 4,721.0 4,844.8 4,622.3

Trading liabilities 7.5 1.2 7.5 1.2

Negative fair values from derivative financial 
instruments (hedge accounting) 26.0 17.0 26.0 17.0

Subordinated capital 1,019.7 902.9 879.0 781.7

Total –81,661.6 –75,242.6 –79,625.6 –73,601.6

1 For current financial instruments, the book value regularly corresponds to the fair value.
2 The carrying amounts stated include the portfolio hedge adjustment on the assets side.

The DKB Group is not planning to sell any of the financial 
instruments reported.
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Financial instruments measured at fair value
Over the course of the reporting year, transfers took place 
between the hierarchy levels for the financial instruments 
that were measured at fair value. The end of the reporting 
year is used as the transfer date.

31/12/2019

EUR millions Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets     

Loans and advances to clients – – 12.8 12.8

Assets held for trading – 8.0 1.8 9.8

Positive fair values from derivatives (hedge accounting) – – – –

Financial investments (debt instruments) 5,074.2 1,030.6 29.3 6,134.0

Financial investments (equity instruments) – – 62.4 62.4

Total 5,074.2 1,038.5 106.2 6,218.9

Liabilities     

Trading liabilities – 7.5 0.0 7.5

Negative fair values from derivatives (hedge accounting) – 26.0 – 26.0

Total 0.0 33.5 0.0 33.5
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31/12/2018

EUR millions Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets     

Loans and advances to clients – – 12.7 12.7

Assets held for trading – 3.2 – 3.2

Positive fair values from derivatives (hedge accounting) – 0.0 – 0.0

Financial investments (debt instruments)1 5,045.8 1,251.3 2.6 6,299.7

Financial investments (equity instruments)1 – – 42.6 42.6

Total 5,045.8 1,254.6 57.8 6,358.2

Liabilities     

Trading liabilities – 1.2 – 1.2

Negative fair values from derivatives (hedge accounting) – 17.0 – 17.0

Total 0.0 18.2 0.0 18.2

1 Previous year’s figures have been adjusted (reclassification of EUR 129.1 million from equity to debt instruments in Level 1 and addition to disclosures on Level 3).

Based on the review of the Level 1 allocation as at 
31 December 2019 with regard to the parameters to be 
met cumulatively (such as number of price determin
ations), bonds amounting to EUR 177.6 million (previous 
year: EUR 230.5 million) were reclassified from Level 1 to 
Level 2 and bonds of EUR 616.8 million (previous year: EUR 
1,184.4 million) were reclassified from Level 2 to Level 1.
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Changes in fair values determined on the basis of non-observable market data (Level 3)

Financial investments
Loans and advances  

to clients Total

EUR millions 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

As at 1 Jan. 45.1 36.0 12.7 14.0 57.8 50.0

Change in classification1 20.0 – – – 20.0 –

Effects recognised through profit or loss 21.1 5.9 –0.3 –0.2 20.8 5.7

of which other income and expenses – – – – – –

of which gains or losses on fair value measurement – 5.9 – 0.3 – 6.2

of which risk provisions – – – –0.4 – –0.4

Change in the revaluation reserve – – –0.1 –0.3 –0.1 –0.3

Purchases 5.5 3.2 2.0 0.1 7.5 3.3

Sales – – – –0.2 – –0.2

Settlements – – –1.5 –0.8 –1.5 –0.8

As at 31 Dec. 91.7 45.1 12.8 12.7 104.4 57.8

Effects recognised through profit or loss for  
financial instruments in the portfolio on 31 Dec. 21.1 5.9 –0.2 –0.2 20.8 5.7

of which other income and expenses – – – – – –

of which gains or losses on fair value measurement – 5.9 – 0.3 – 6.2

of which risk provisions – – – –0.4 – –0.4

11 �Due to a change in estimates regarding the classification of the SPPI characteristic in accordance with IFRS 9.B.4.1.18, 
 a silent participation was reclassified to the FVPLM category.

Significant non-observable parameters (Level 3)  
and their sensitivities
Loans and advances to clients (receivables acquired on the 
non-performing loan market and secured with real estate)

Significant non-
observable parameters Bandwidth (average) Change in parameters

Change affecting  
net income

Change not  
recognised in equity

Realisation value

EUR 0 thousand to EUR 
351 thousand 

 (EUR 36 thousand)
+5.0% 
–5.0%

+EUR  69.4 thousand  
–EUR 69.4 thousand

EUR 0.0 thousand  
EUR 0.0 thousand

Realisation period
1 month to 36 months  

(8 months)
+ 6 months 
– 6 months

+EUR  1.8 thousand 
– EUR  1.7 thousand

EUR 0.0 thousand  
EUR 0.0 thousand

Interest rate
–0.46% to –0.30%  

(–0.38%)
+0.05% 
–0.05%

–EUR  0.4 thousand  
+EUR  0.4 thousand

EUR 0.0 thousand  
EUR 0.0 thousand
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Loans and advances to clients 
(loans measured at fair value (category: FVPLM))
 

 
 

Significant non-
observable parameters Bandwidth (average) Change in parameters

Change affecting  
net income

Change not  
recognised in equity

Valuation spread
–0.02% to 0.88% 

(–0.27%)
+10 BP 
–10 BP

–EUR 23.6 thousand  
+EUR  23.7 thousand

EUR 0.0 thousand  
EUR 0.0 thousand

Financial investments 
(shares in Visa Inc.)

 

Significant non-
observable parameters weighted average Change in parameters

Change affecting  
net income

Change not  
recognised in equity

Subscription ratio of the 
Visa Inc. ordinary shares 49.80%

+10.0% 
–10.0%

+EUR  8,891.0 thousand  
–EUR  8,891.0 thousand 

EUR 0.0 thousand  
EUR 0.0 thousand

Financial investments
(other equity interests in companies)

Significant non-
observable parameters weighted average Change in parameters

Change affecting  
net income

Change not  
recognised in equity

Company-specific market 
risk premium 7.50%

+25 BP 
–25 BP

–EUR 219.0 thousand  
+EUR  239.2 thousand

EUR 0.0 thousand  
EUR 0.0 thousand

Financial investments
(other outside equity interests in companies)

Significant non-
observable parameters weighted average Change in parameters

Change affecting  
net income

Change not  
recognised in equity

Company-specific market 
risk premium 0.02%

+ 25 BP 
–25 BP

–EUR  64.7 thousand  
+EUR  64.7 thousand

EUR 0.0 thousand  
EUR 0.0 thousand

Derivatives

Significant non-
observable parameters Bandwidth (average) Change in parameters

Change affecting  
net income

Change not  
recognised in equity

Default risk
0.04% to 3.41%  

(1.39%)
+0.1% 
–0.1%

+EUR  15.9 thousand 
– EUR  15.4 thousand

EUR 0.0 thousand  
EUR 0.0 thousand

Loss given default
27.51% to 43.52%  

(35.35%)
+0.1% 
–0.1%

+EUR  7.1 thousand 
– EUR  7.1 thousand

EUR 0.0 thousand  
EUR 0.0 thousand
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The measurement methods used are customary and 
appropriate for the asset to be measured in each case.

Financial instruments measured at amortised acquisition costs

31/12/2019

EUR millions Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets     

Cash reserves – – 4,432.5 4,432.5

Loans and advances to banks – – 2,610.8 2,610.8

Loans and advances to clients – – 71,388.4 71,388.4

Total – – 78,431.7 78,431.7

Liabilities     

Liabilities to banks – – 14,033.4 14,033.4

Liabilities to clients – – 61,582.1 61,582.1

Securitised liabilities 3,446.0 1,546.8 0.2 4,993.0

Subordinated capital – – 1,019.7 1,019.7

Total 3,446.0 1,546.8 76,635.3 81,628.1
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31/12/2018

EUR millions Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets     

Cash reserves – – 1,046.2 1,046.2

Loans and advances to banks 0.0 – 3,688.6 3,688.6

Loans and advances to clients – – 67,836.7 67,836.7

Financial investments1 – – 26.1 26.1

Total 0.0 – 72,597.7 72,597.7

Liabilities     

Liabilities to banks – – 14,585.5 14,585.5

Liabilities to clients – – 55,014.9 55,014.9

Securitised liabilities – 4,720.9 0.2 4,721.0

Subordinated capital1 – – 902.9 902.9

Total 0.0 4,720.9 70,503.6 75,224.4

1 Previous year’s figures have been adjusted (addition to Level 3 disclosures).

(51) �Reclassification of financial assets
There were no reclassifications of financial assets in the 
reporting year.



157 | DKB Annual Report 2019 | Notes

(52) �Financial instrument measurement category

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Assets   

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPLM) 266.5 188.0

Loans and advances to clients 11.3 10.5

Assets held for trading 9.8 3.2

Financial investments 245.4 174.3

Financial assets measured at fair value directly in equity (FVOCIM) 5,952.4 6,170.2

Loans and advances to clients 1.4 2.2

Financial investments 5,950.9 6,168.0

Financial assets measured at amortised cost (AAC) 76,556.2 70,673.8

Cash reserves 4,432.5 1,046.2

Loans and advances to banks 2,610.2 3,687.8

Loans and advances to clients 69,513.5 65,919.8

Financial investments – 20.0

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting) – 0.0

Liabilities   

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPLM) 7.5 1.2

Trading liabilities 7.5 1.2

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (LAC) 79,592.0 73,583.4

Liabilities to banks 13,101.7 13,813.3

Liabilities to clients 60,766.5 54,366.1

Securitised liabilities 4,844.8 4,622.3

Subordinated capital 879.0 781.7

Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting) 26.0 17.0
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(53) �Net results of financial instruments

EUR millions 2019 20181

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss or financial liabilities 
(FVPLM) 52.7 –0.2

Net interest income 3.0 –3.0

Gains or losses on fair value measurement 49.7 2.8

Financial assets measured at fair value directly in equity or financial liabilities 
(FVOCIM) 46.2 –3.7

Net interest income 17.6 18.1

Risk result –0.1 –0.5

Gains or losses on financial investments 0.1 0.4

Changes in the revaluation surplus 28.5 –21.7

Financial assets measured at amortised cost (AAC) 1,841.9 1,520.0

Net interest income 1,397.0 1,516.2

Gains or losses on hedging transactions (hedge accounting) 532.6 107.8

Risk result –87.7 –104.0

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (LAC) –418.9 –516.4

Net interest income –418.9 –516.4

Derivative financial instruments in hedging relationships (hedge accounting) –579.5 –187.5

Net interest income –42.5 –67.8

Gains or losses on hedging transactions (hedge accounting) –537.0 –119.7

1 Previous year’s figures have been adjusted due to the reclassification of the table.
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(54) Hedging relationships (hedge accounting)

Underlying and hedging transactions 
Information on the hedging relationships of the 
DKB Group is provided below. This includes information on 
portfolio hedges in the broader sense, hedged items and 
hedging instruments.

In the portfolio hedge in the broader sense, client loans are 
designated at their repayment cash flows of EUR 9,839.8 
million (previous year: EUR 8,485.2 million). The hedged 
items are reported under loans and advances to clients.

The hedge adjustment of interest-rate-hedged loans and 
advances in the fair value hedge portfolio amounted to 

EUR 765.4 million (previous year: EUR 407.1 million). Of 
this amount, EUR 756.2 million (previous year: EUR 406.1 
million) relates to hedging relationships still in existence 
at the balance sheet date and EUR 9.2 million (previous 
year: EUR 1.0 million) to hedging relationships already 
terminated. The hedge adjustment is reported under the 
balance sheet item “Portfolio hedge adjustment attribut-
able to assets”.

Hedge adjustments are offset on the liabilities side by 
negative fair values from derivative financial instruments 
(hedge accounting) and on the assets side by positive 
fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge 
accounting):

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Positive fair values from fair value hedges (portfolio hedges) – 0.0

Negative fair values from fair value hedges (portfolio hedges) 26.0 17.0

Total 26.0 17.0

Derivatives are broken down by maturity as follows:

Nominal value Positive fair value Negative fair value

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

With agreed maturities       

Up to 3 months 5.0 – – – 0.2 –

From 3 months to 1 year 1,060.0 10.0 – – 3.6 0.0

From 1 to 5 years 2,460.0 3,505.0 – – 1.4 9.2

More than 5 years 6,760.0 5,280.0 – 0.0 20.7 7.7

Total 10,285.0 8,795.0 – 0.0 26.0 17.0
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Gains or losses on hedging transactions  
(hedge accounting)

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/20181

Measurement gains/losses from fair value hedges (portfolio hedges)   

Underlying transactions 532.6 107.8

Hedging instruments –536.7 –119.6

Hedge ineffectiveness –4.1 –11.8

Measurement of fair value adjustments –0.3  –0.1

Total –4.4 –11.9

1 Adjustment of previous year’s figures according to Note (2).

(55) Derivative transactions 
The following tables present the as-yet-unsettled interest-
rate-related and foreign-currency-related derivatives and 
the other forward transactions. The derivative transactions 
predominantly comprise interest rate swaps, which are 
used to manage the interest rate risk.

Nominal value Positive fair value Negative fair value

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Interest rate risks 10,836.9 8,970.0 9.8 5.1 896.2 512.9

Interest rate swaps 10,816.9 8,950.0 9.8 5.1 896.2 512.4

of which client business 205.9 - 6.6 - 0.1 -

of which management of interest rate risk 10,611.0 8,950.0 3.2 5.1 896.1 512.4

Options on interest rate swaps 20.0 20.0 – – 0.0 0.5

Currency risks 24.3 23.6 – – 0.1 0.2

Forward exchange transactions 24.3 23.6 – – 0.1 0.2

Total 10,861.2 8,993.6 9.8 5.1 896.3 513.0
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In accordance with the European Market Infrastructure 
Regulation (EMIR), derivatives subject to clearing require-
ments with negative fair values of EUR 877.9 million 
(previous year: EUR 494.9 million) and positive fair values 
of EUR 0.0 million (previous year: EUR 1.9 million) were 
offset against cash collateral deposited or received.

The derivatives for the management of the interest rate 
risk are attributable in their entirety to banks in the OECD.

Derivatives are broken down by maturity as follows:

Nominal value

EUR millions Interest rate risks Currency risks

Residual maturities 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Up to 3 months 5.0 10.0 6.3 6.2

From 3 months to 1 year 1,160.0 135.0 18.1 17.4

From 1 to 5 years 2,500.0 3,505.0 – –

More than 5 years 7,171.9 5,320.0 – –

Total 10,836.9 8,970.0 24.3 23.6

(56) �Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities
The DKB Group concludes framework agreements with its 
business partners as part of its activities in specific types 
of business. Netting arrangements for mutual claims and 
liabilities can be part of these framework agreements. 
Examples of such framework agreements include the Ger-
man framework agreement for futures contracts and the 
German framework agreement for securities repurchase 
transactions. The clearing conditions of Eurex Clearing AG 
are also agreements with netting arrangements. In addi-
tion to the framework agreements, collateral agreements 
are concluded with the business partners to secure the net 
claim or liability resulting after netting. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the 
net amount is reported in the consolidated balance sheet 
if the DKB Group has a current legal right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liabil-
ity simultaneously. This relates to the netting of current 
accounts in accordance with § 10 RechKredV and the net-

ting of the fair value and associated collateral of derivatives 
that are settled via a central counterparty (clearing).

The DKB Group has also entered into agreements which do 
not meet the netting criteria, but which allow the amounts 
concerned to be offset under certain circumstances. This 
relates to derivative transactions with banks not included 
in the clearing and a netting arrangement with BayernLB, 
which, under certain conditions, provides for the offsetting 
of all balance sheet receivables and liabilities, including the 
fair values from derivative transactions.

A reconciliation of the gross amounts before netting with 
the net amounts after netting is given below. The reconcili-
ation contains information on the effects of netting on the 
consolidated balance sheet and on possible effects from 
legally enforceable master netting agreements or simi-
lar arrangements (assets or liabilities eligible for netting, 
collateral).
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Offset financial assets and financial assets with underlying netting or similar arrangements

2019
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Other financial instruments 597.2 52.7 544.5 248.3 – 296.2

Loans and advances to banks 538.3 – 538.3 248.3 – 290.0

Loans and advances to clients 58.9 52.7 6.2 – – 6.2

Derivative transactions 9.8 – 9.8 3.1 – 6.6

Assets held for trading/positive fair values from derivative 
financial instruments (hedge accounting) 9.8 – 9.8 3.1 – 6.6

Total 607.0 52.7 554.3 251.4 – 302.8
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Other financial instruments 931.9 67.2 864.7 383.5 – 481.2

Loans and advances to banks 861.9 – 861.9 383.5 – 478.4

Loans and advances to clients 70.0 67.2 2.8 – – 2.8

Derivative transactions 5.1 1.9 3.2 3.2 – –

Assets held for trading/positive fair values from derivative 
financial instruments (hedge accounting) 5.1 1.9 3.2 3.2 – –

Total 937.0 69.1 867.9 386.8 – 481.2
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Offset financial liabilities and financial liabilities with underlying netting or similar arrangements

2019
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Other financial instruments 343.6 52.7 290.9 248.3 – 42.6

Liabilities to banks 248.3 – 248.3 248.3 – -

Liabilities to clients 95.3 52.7 42.6 – – 42.6

Derivative transactions 896.3 862.7 33.5 3.1 19.4 11.0

Liabilities held for trading/negative fair values from derivative 
financial instruments (hedge accounting) 896.3 862.7 33.5 3.1 19.4 11.0

Total 1,239.9 915.5 324.4 251.4 19.4 53.6
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Other financial instruments 500.4 67.2 433.2 382.4 – 50.8

Liabilities to banks 382.4 – 382.4 382.4 – –

Liabilities to clients 118.0 67.2 50.8 – – 50.8

Derivative transactions 513.0 494.9 18.1 4.4 – 13.7

Liabilities held for trading/negative fair values from derivative 
financial instruments (hedge accounting) 513.0 494.9 18.1 4.4 – 13.7

Total 1,013.4 562.1 451.3 386.8 – 64.5
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(57) �Financial assets transferred to third parties  
as collateral as well as other transferred 
financial assets without derecognition

The collateral for liabilities or contingent liabilities was 
provided within the framework of open-market trans
actions with the European System of Central Banks, 
through refinancing loans from investment and develop-
ment banks, through Pfandbrief issues as well as through 
securities repurchase transactions. In principle, all the 
opportunities and risks associated with ownership of the 
transferred assets remain with the DKB Group.

The carrying amounts of the assets transferred to third 
parties as collateral and of the other financial assets trans-
ferred without derecognition are allocated to:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2019

Financial assets pledged as collateral to third parties 34,371.5 33,203.2

Loans and advances to clients 28,611.7 27,882.9

Financial investments 5,759.8 5,320.3

Other financial assets transferred 0.0 502.3

Financial investments – 502.3

Total 34,371.5 33,705.5

These transactions are performed at customary market 
conditions.

The transferred financial assets are offset by liabilities in 
the amount of EUR 8,538.9 million (previous year: EUR 
9,047.4 million).

(58) �Collateral received which can be re-sold  
or re-pledged

In the DKB Group, no assets are held as collateral which 
may be re-sold or re-pledged even if the party furnishing 
the collateral does not default.
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(59) �Assets and liabilities in foreign currency 

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Foreign currency assets 136.8 242.1

USD 95.5 201.3

CHF 27.5 27.0

Other currencies 13.7 13.8

Foreign currency liabilities 51.1 172.2

USD 50.4 171.4

Other currencies 0.6 0.8

(60) �Subordinated assets
The subordinated assets in the amount of EUR 17.6 million 
(previous year: EUR 24.4 million) are included in full in the 
loans and advances to clients.

(61) Risks from financial instruments
The disclosures in the notes supplement the notes on the 

DKB Group’s risk management and the qualitative eco-
nomic disclosures, which are presented in the risk report. 
Their aim is to help provide a more detailed insight into 
the structure of the risks incurred.

Default risk
The maximum default risk1 is broken down as follows:

 

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Cash reserves 4,432.5 1,046.2

Loans and advances to banks 2,610.2 3,687.8

Loans and advances to clients 69,116.3 65,511.8

Financial investments 6,104.7 6,297.2

Derivatives 9.8 3.2

Loan commitments and financial guarantees 21,062.8 19,617.1

Total 103,336.2 96,163.3

1 �For balance sheet assets the gross carrying amount is given, for off-balance-sheet items the exposure.
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Collateral is held in the DKB Group to reduce default risks. 
The main principles governing the individual types of 
collateral are set out in a guideline on collateral policy in 
the lending business.

The main collateral in the DKB Group consists of mort-
gages – primarily on domestic residential real estate. In 
addition, declarations of obligations under the law of 
obligations are also used as collateral, primarily includ-
ing guarantees and assignments, cessions and liens. The 
extent to which collateral is required for loans granted 
depends on the economic circumstances of the debtor 
and their commercial and entrepreneurial skills. The 
duration of the loan, the structure of the transaction, the 
general economic situation and the sector situation also 

play a role. Collateral is not valued under going-concern 
aspects, but always on the basis of the liquidation value, 
which corresponds to the expected proceeds of collat-
eral within the framework of an orderly realisation. The 
liquidation value is determined taking into account the 
fair value of the collateral and an expected recovery rate 
specific to each type of collateral. 

There were no significant changes in the quality of the col-
lateral held by the DKB Group as a result of a deterioration 
or changes in the collateral policy in the year under review.

Level 3 financial instruments and POCI financial instru-
ments are covered by valuation allowances and eligible 
collateral as follows:

Maximum default risk Valuation adjustments Eligible collateral

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Loans and advances to clients 745.3 829.1 273.4 266.8 238.8 131.7

Loan commitments and financial guarantees 75.5 54.2 27.4 28.11 0.4 16.3

Total 820.8 883.4 300.7 295.01 239.2 148.1

1 Adjusted previous year’s figures.

As at the balance sheet date, the DKB Group held receiv-
ables in the amount of EUR 27.2 billion (previous year: EUR 
25.8 billion) for which no value adjustment was recognised 
due to collateral. 

For financial instruments that were written down in the 
reporting year but were still subject to a levy of execution, 
the amount outstanding under contract law amounted to 
EUR 18.7 million at the balance sheet date (previous year: 
EUR 7.5 million).
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The distribution of the default risk in default rating grades 
16 to 18 between Level 3 financial instruments and POCI 
financial instruments is as follows:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Rating 16 40.9 14.0

Level 3 39.4 13.4

POCI 1.5 0.6

Rating 17 568.8 532.5

Level 3 530.4 464.2

POCI 38.4 68.3

Rating 18 179.1 293.1

Level 3 175.8 281.6

POCI 3.4 11.5

Total 788.8 839.6

Forborne exposure
Forbearance measures are generally defined as conces-
sions to a debtor against the background of financial 
difficulties. The aim of such concessions is to put the 
borrower in a position where they can meet their obliga-
tions under the loan agreement.

Concessions can be made either through modifying exist-
ing conditions to benefit the debtor or by granting partial 
or complete refinancing measures. Among others, modifi-
cations to the term, interest rate and repayment schedule 
count as forbearance measures, as do debt waivers or 
capitalisation of arrears.

The forborne exposure has developed as follows: 

in EUR million 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Loans and advances to clients 444.9 763.4

Contingent liabilities 9.2 14.0

Commitments 37.7 47.5

Total 491.8 825.0
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Market price risk

The DKB Group divides market risks for the bank as a 
whole (banking book and custody account-A) into the risk 
factors: interest, equities, credit spread, foreign currency 
and volatility. The risk capital requirement for the bank as 
a whole developed as follows:

12-month comparison 2019 12-month comparison 2018

EUR millions 31/12/2019 Maximum Minimum 31/12/2018 Maximum Minimum

Interest 435.6 460.1 94.9 297.4 394.1 163.1

Equities 60.1 60.5 43.6 47.7 52.3 34.2

Credit spread 13.2 22.9 12.1 22.9 25.2 11.9

Foreign currency 6.2 7.6 5.8 7.1 7.6 6.1

Volatility 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Correlated overall risk 472.5 500.7 153.7 318.3 428.6 180.6

The securities portfolio has the following structure: 

Fair value  
in EUR million

Banks Non-banks Public-sector issuers Total

31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Bonds 2,185.0 2,124.4 74.0 332.6 3,692.0 3,711.1 5,950.9 6,168.0

Funds – – 153.8 129.1 – – 153.8 129.1

Equities – – – – – – – –

Total 2,185.0 2,124.4 227.8 461.7 3,692.0 3,711.1 6,104.7 6,297.2

The regional breakdown of the securities portfolio  
by fair value changed as follows:

31/12/2019 31/12/2018

 EUR million % EUR million %

Germany 4,095.5 67.1 4,333.6 68.8

Europe/EU 1,785.8 29.3 1,708.6 27.1

Europe/Non-EU 163.9 2.7 175.8 2.8

USA – – – –

Other 59.6 1.0 79.3 1.3

Total 6,104.7 100.0 6,297.2 100.0
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Liquidity risk

The breakdown of liabilities and off-balance-sheet items of 
the DKB Group by contractual maturity is as follows:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/20181

On demand 52,909.6 45,905.8

Liabilities to banks 144.4 201.4

Liabilities to clients 52,763.8 45,704.4

Other liabilities 1.4 –

Up to 3 months 3,293.2 3,988.3

Liabilities to banks 270.5 915.0

Liabilities to clients 2,833.7 2,705.5

Securitised liabilities 43.7 294.0

Derivatives 60.1 49.9

Other liabilities 2.8 –

Subordinated capital 82.4 23.9

More than 3 months up to 1 year 1,744.1 2,120.7

Liabilities to banks 778.1 771.4

Liabilities to clients 722.5 1,127.3

Securitised liabilities 49.7 49.7

Derivatives 123.5 146.6

Other liabilities 12.3 –

Subordinated capital 58.0 25.7

From 1 to 5 years 10,987.1 9,753.1

Liabilities to banks 4,235.3 4,039.8

Liabilities to clients 2,916.2 3,240.0

Securitised liabilities 3,246.0 1,872.7

Derivatives 285.2 362.5

Other liabilities 56.4 –

Subordinated capital 248.0 238.0
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EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/20181

More than 5 years 13,560.5 14,943.7

Liabilities to banks 7,726.2 7,946.0

Liabilities to clients 3,174.4 3,462.2

Securitised liabilities 1,699.6 2,640.4

Derivatives 148.9 141.6

Other liabilities 72.8 –

Subordinated capital 738.6 753.6

Indefinite maturity 22,172.6 20,470.2

Subordinated capital 128.6 128.7

Other liabilities 236.0 98.9

Contingent liabilities 765.3 672.7

Irrevocable commitments 4,412.6 3,848.9

Revocable commitments 16,630.1 15,721.0

Total 104,667.1 97,181.9

1 �Previous year’s figures have been adjusted (the previous presentation based on carrying amounts has 
been changed to a cash-flow-based presentation).
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Other disclosures

(62) Fiduciary transactions
Fiduciary transactions break down as follows:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Trust assets 9.4 10.8

Loans and advances to clients 9.4 10.7

Other 0.0 0.0

Fiduciary exposures 9.4 10.8

Liabilities to banks 9.4 10.7

Other 0.0 0.0

(63) Other financial obligations

In the DKB Group, there are obligations arising from main-
tenance contracts, which relate particularly to the areas of 
IT operations and facility management.

In addition, other financial obligations in the DKB Group 
result from the joint liability for loans of EUR 0.3 million 
(previous year: EUR 1.2 million), of which EUR 0.3 million 
result from non-consolidated companies (previous year: 
EUR 1.2 million).

DKB Finance GmbH is a limited partner in TEGES Grund-
stücksvermietungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. Objekt Berlin 
KG. The limited partnership contribution in the amount 
of EUR 2.2 million (previous year: EUR 2.2 million) is 
outstanding and must be paid in cash at the request 
of TEGES GmbH. The outstanding limited partnership 
contribution was not requested in 2019.

There are also other financial obligations in the form of 
secured payment claims from the collection of contribu-
tions for the bank levy of EUR 19.6 million (previous year: 
EUR 15.8 million) and from the collection of contributions 
to the deposit guarantee fund of the Association of Ger-
man Public-Law Banks (VÖB) of EUR 19.5 million (previous 
year: EUR 12.9 million).

(64) Other guarantees and other commitments

The DKB Group has, in accordance with Section 10 (5) of 
the articles of association of the deposit guarantee fund 
of the Association of German Public-Law Banks, Berlin, 
undertaken to provide additional contributions in the 
event of default, if required. The additional contribution 
obligation is limited, for every member, and for the entire 
duration of the fund, as well as for all cases of default, in 
total to the share of the total volume of the fund stipulated 
in Section 8 (1) of the articles of association attributable 
to the member, reduced by all the contributions already 
made by it.
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(65) Shareholdings

Notes regarding Sections 285 No. 11 and 313 HGB or  
in accordance with IFRS 12.2 (b), 12.4 in conjunction 
with IFRS 12.B4 and B6 and 12.10 (a) in conjunction 
with 12.12 for the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2019, DKB has the following associated 
companies:

Subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements

Name and registered headquarters
DKB shareholding 

in %
Equity  

in EUR millions
Gains/losses  

in EUR millions 

DKB Finance GmbH, Berlin 1, 2 100.0 18.4 7.4

DKB Grund GmbH, Berlin 1, 2 100.0 0.0 6.8

DKB Service GmbH, Potsdam 1, 2 100.0 4.5 0.3

FMP Forderungsmanagement Potsdam GmbH, Potsdam 1, 2 100.0 12.7 10.5

MVC Unternehmensbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Berlin 2 100.0 3.2 0.0

PROGES EINS GmbH, Berlin 2, 3 100.0 0.5 –2.6

1 Profit transfer agreement and controlling agreement
2 Preliminary annual financial statements/IFRS package 31/12/2019
3 Profit transfer agreement
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Subsidiaries not included in the consolidated financial statements 

Name and registered headquarters
DKB shareholding 

in %
Equity  

in EUR millions
Gains/losses  

in EUR millions 

Bauland GmbH, Baulandbeschaffungs-, Erschließungs- und  
Wohnbaugesellschaft, Munich 1, 3, 4 94.5 –2.7 0.0

DKB Campus GmbH, Berlin 1, 8 100.0 0.5 0.0

DKB Code Factory GmbH, Berlin 1, 2 100.0 0.8 0.0

DKB Immobilien Beteiligungs GmbH, Potsdam 3 100.0 2.2 0.2

DKB Wohnen GmbH, Berlin 1, 3 94.5 0.0 0.0

DKB Wohnungsbau- und Stadtentwicklung GmbH, Berlin 1, 3 100.0 2.5 0.0

GbR Olympisches Dorf, Potsdam 3 99.7 5.0 5.0

Melhoria Immobiliengesellschaft mbH, Potsdam 1, 3 100.0 3.1 0.0

Oberhachinger Bauland GmbH Wohnbau- und Erschließungs-
gesellschaft, München 3 100.0 –0.4 1.0

Potsdamer Immobiliengesellschaft mbH, Potsdam 3 100.0 0.1 0.0

PROGES DREI GmbH, Berlin 3 100.0 1.3 0.6

PROGES ENERGY GmbH, Berlin 3 100.0 0.8 0.1

PROGES Sparingberg GmbH, Berlin 3 100.0 1.2 1.1

PROGES VIER GmbH, Berlin 3 100.0 0.1 –0.1

PROGES ZWEI GmbH, Berlin 3 100.0 3.0 0.0

DKB Stiftung Liebenberg gGmbH, Löwenberger Land OT Liebenberg 5, 6 – 0.4 0.2

DKB Stiftung Schloss Liebenberg GmbH, Fürth 5, 7 – 0.0 0.0

DKB STIFTUNG Jugenddörfer gemeinnützige GmbH, Fürth 5, 6 – 0.1 0.1

1 Profit transfer agreement and controlling agreement
2 Preliminary annual financial statements/IFRS package 31/12/2019
3 Adopted annual financial statements 31/12/2018
4 No actual negative assets are present.
5 Control exercised by structured company of the Group
6 Adopted annual financial statements 31/12/2017
7 Adopted annual financial statements 31/12/2016
8 Established in 2019, preliminary data
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Other joint ventures

Name and registered headquarters
DKB shareholding 

in %
Equity  

in EUR millions
Gains/losses  

in EUR millions 

AKG ImmoPlus GmbH, Berlin 1 50.0 0.2 –0.3

German Biofuels GmbH, Pritzwalk 1 19.9 –1.1 8.0

TEGES Grundstücks-Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH, Berlin 1 50.0 0.0 0.0

TEGES Grundstücks-Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. Objekt Berlin 
KG, Berlin 1 47.0 –6.6 0.1

1 Adopted annual financial statements 31/12/2018

Other shareholdings

Name and registered headquarters
DKB shareholding 

in %
Equity  

in EUR millions
Gains/losses  

in EUR millions 

Bau-Partner GmbH i. L., Halle (Saale) 2 49.7 0.2 –0.6

DKB Wohnimmobilien Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG, Potsdam 1 5.1 36.7 2.3

FidesSecur Versicherungs- und Wirtschaftsdienst Versicherungsmakler 
GmbH, Munich 3 14.0 5.3 0.6

GESO Gesellschaft für Sensorik, Geotechnischen Umweltschutz und 
mathematische Modellierung mbH i. L., Jena 4 43.1 –0.4 0.0

JFA Verwaltung GmbH, Leipzig 6 10.7 –12.8 –0.1

LEG Kiefernsiedlung Grundstücksgesellschaft b. R., Berlin 1 6.4 –2.5 0.4

LEG Wohnpark am Olympischen Dorf Grundstücksgesellschaft b. R., 
Berlin 1 7.5 –4.3 0.8

LEG Wohnpark Heroldplatz Grundstücksgesellschaft b. R., Berlin 6 7.7 –1.4 0.1

Neue Novel Ferm Verwaltungs GmbH, Berlin 6 49.0 0.0 0.0

Novel Ferm Brennerei Dettmannsdorf GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 6 49.0 4.0 0.0

TAG Wohnungsgesellschaft Berlin-Brandenburg mbH, Hamburg 1 5.2 15 3.3

Swiss Fintech AG, Zurich (CH) 7 3.9 4.0 –1.9

Visa Inc., USA 5 >1.0 34,684.0 12,080.0

1 Adopted annual financial statements 31/12/2018
2 Prepared annual financial statements 31/12/2010
3 Adopted annual financial statements 30/06/2019
4 Adopted annual financial statements 31/12/2012
5 Adopted annual financial statements 30/09/2019 (in USD)
6 Adopted annual financial statements 31/12/2017
7 Annual financial statements 31/12/2018 in CHF
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Associated companies

Name and registered headquarters
DKB shareholding 

in %
Equity  

in EUR millions
Gains/losses  

in EUR millions 

DKB BayernImmo Beteiligungs GmbH & Co. KG, Munich 1 50.0 4.6 –0.1

1 Adopted annual financial statements 31/12/2018

Structured companies not included in the consolidated financial statements

Name and registered headquarters
DKB shareholding 

in %
Equity/fund assets  

in EUR millions
Gains/losses  

in EUR millions 

DKB Nachhaltigkeitsfonds Europa AL, Luxembourg 2 84.1 77.1 1.1

DKB Nachhaltigkeit Klimaschutz AL, Luxembourg 2 83.1 50.8 4.4

DKB Nachhaltigkeit SDG, Luxembourg 2 71.6 44.0 7.3

BGV III FEEDER1 S.C.S. SICAV-FIS, Luxembourg 3, 4 16.7 17.3 0.2

DKB Stiftung für gesellschaftliches Engagement, Löwenberger Land 
OT Liebenberg 1 – 16.6 0.0

1 Adopted annual financial statements 31/12/2018
2 Audited annual report 31/03/2019
3 Annual financial statements 31/12/2018
4 Capital share and fund assets 31/12/2019

Remarks:
The voting share of DKB corresponds to the capital share, 
unless otherwise specified. Unless otherwise specified, 
third parties hold the remaining voting share.

The capital share of the subsidiaries included in the 
consolidated financial statements in the DKB Group 
corresponds to the previous year’s value.
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(66) �Related parties 
The DKB Group’s related parties as specified in IAS 24 
comprise the following groups:

–	� Sole shareholder (BayernLB)

–	� Non-consolidated subsidiaries
 
–	� Joint ventures 
 
–	� Associated companies 

–	� Other related parties – this includes the subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates of the BayernLB Group, the 
Free State of Bavaria and companies controlled by the 
Free State of Bavaria or which the latter jointly manages 
or over which it has significant influence, as well as the 
Sparkassenverband Bayern and companies controlled by 
the Sparkassenverband Bayern or which the latter jointly 
manages.

–	� Members of the Board of Management and the Super-
visory Board of DKB as well as of the Board of Manage-
ment and the Supervisory Board of BayernLB, and their 
close family members.

The DKB Group maintains a range of commercial relations 
with related parties. Essentially, these relationships include 
typical bank services, for example in the deposit, lending 
and money market business.

Business dealings with related companies and persons 
are concluded within the framework of normal business 
activities and are subject to fair market conditions, terms 
and collateralisation.
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The scope of transactions with related parties  
(excluding consolidated transactions) is shown below:

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Loans and advances to banks 538.3 861.9

Parent company 538.3 861.9

Loans and advances to clients 87.6 92.3

Non-consolidated subsidiaries 55.9 59.0

Joint ventures 31.1 29.2

Other related companies 0.6 4.2

Risk provisions 11.6 7.5

Non-consolidated subsidiaries 0.4 0.2

Joint ventures 11.2 7.3

Assets held for trading 3.1 3.2

Parent company 3.1 3.2

Positive fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting) – 0.0

Parent company – 0.0

Financial investments 30.0 30.1

Other related companies 30.0 30.1

Other assets 308.0 193.1

Parent company 304.8 192.5

Non-consolidated subsidiaries 2.9 0.4

Joint ventures 0.0 0.0

Other related companies 0.3 0.1

Liabilities to banks 459.1 613.4

Parent company 248.3 382.4

Other related companies 210.8 231.0



178 | DKB Annual Report 2019 | Notes

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Liabilities to clients 84.5 88.1

Non-consolidated subsidiaries 23.8 26.9

Associated companies 0.0 1.5

Joint ventures 1.7 0.7

Other related companies 59.0 59.0

Securitised liabilities 52.1 39.9

Parent company 10.7 0.7

Other related companies 41.4 39.2

Trading liabilities 7.4 0.7

Parent company 7.4 0.7

Negative fair values from derivative financial instruments (hedge accounting) 15.1 3.7

Parent company 15.1 3.7

Provisions 1.9 1.5

Non-consolidated subsidiaries 0.0 0.0

Joint ventures 1.8 1.5

Other related companies 0.0 0.0

Other liabilities 8.0 9.1

Parent company 1.3 3.9

Non-consolidated subsidiaries 4.1 0.9

Joint ventures 0.0 0.0

Other related companies 2.6 4.4

Subordinated capital 764.8 661.3

Parent company 764.8 661.3

Contingent liabilities 0.7 0.8

Non-consolidated subsidiaries 0.7 0.8

Other related companies 0.0 0.0

Other liabilities 1.6 4.6

Non-consolidated subsidiaries 1.6 1.0

Other related companies – 3.6

Other commitments only contain credit commitments. 
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Loans, advances and deposits
Transactions with related parties include loans, advances 
and deposits to members of the Board of Management 
and Supervisory Board of DKB AG as well as members of 
the Board of Management and Supervisory Board of Bay-
ernLB. Loans were granted at standard market conditions 
and terms.

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Loans and advances 1, 2   

Members of the Board of Management of DKB 2.0 1.7

Members of the Supervisory Board of DKB 1.9 0.8

Members of the Board of Management of BayernLB 1.1 0.3

Members of the Supervisory Board of BayernLB 0.0 0.2

1 Multiple entries are possible.
2 The loans and advances are largely collateralised.

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Contributions 1   

Members of the Board of Management of DKB 1.7 1.9

Members of the Supervisory Board of DKB 2.2 2.0

Members of the Board of Management of BayernLB 1.8 2.1

Members of the Supervisory Board of BayernLB 0.2 0.1

1 Multiple entries are possible.
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Salaries of the members of the Board of Management and the Supervisory Board of the DKB Group

EUR millions 31/12/2019 31/12/2018

Members of the Board of Management of DKB 3.5 3.5

Current employee benefits 2.7 2.8

Other non-current employee benefits 0.8 0.7

Benefits after the working relationship has ended – –

Members of the Supervisory Board of DKB 0.6 0.5

Current employee benefits 0.6 0.5

Former members of the Board of Management of DKB  
and their surviving dependants 1.2 0.9

Pension reserves formed for members of the Board of Management of DKB 19.0 13.7

Pension reserves formed for former members of the Board of Management  
of DKB and their surviving dependants 27.6 26.0

The variable remuneration of EUR 1.0 million taken into 
account for the members of the Board of Management for 
the financial year is subject to the approval of the Super
visory Board at the time the annual financial statements 
are prepared. 

A regular salary was furthermore due to the employee 
representatives in the Supervisory Board within the frame-
work of their employment contract. This is based on the 
collective agreement or results from an individual agree-
ment and corresponds to a remuneration that is commen-
surate with the respective role or activity in the company.

Close family members of the Board of Management and of 
the Supervisory Board have no influence on the business 
decisions of the DKB Group.
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(67) �Non-consolidated structured companies
The DKB Group maintains business relationships with 
structured companies. These involve contractual and 
non-contractual business relationships with companies 
that are arranged such that these are not controlled by vot-
ing rights or similar rights; instead the voting rights only 
relate to administrative tasks. The actual relevant activities 
of the structured companies are controlled by contractual 
agreements.

Investment funds
The DKB Group invests in funds that are launched by 
capital investment companies. The purpose of the funds 
is essentially to participate in the development of equity 
markets. The investment funds are financed by the issuing 
of share certificates, by way of credit financing or by issuing 
debt and equity instruments. The financing is matched by 

the assets of the fund. The scope of the investment funds 
with which the DKB Group maintains business relationships 
is determined by their fund assets. The fund assets of the 
four funds amounted to between EUR 17.3 million and EUR 
84.4 million as at 31/12/2019.

Other financing
The DKB Group provides financing funds for a structured 
company, which maintains a number of different assets. 
This structured company was established as a foundation. 
The purpose of the foundation is to promote the preser-
vation of historical monuments, art and culture and to 
support education projects. The financing is offset by the 
assets held. The total assets of the structured company 
amount to EUR 26.6 million.

Balance sheet assets and liabilities from shares in non-consolidated structured companies

Investment funds Other financing Total

EUR millions 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Assets       

Loans and advances to clients – – 10.0 9.7 10.0 9.7

Risk provisions – – –0.4 –0.3 –0.4 –0.3

Financial investments 153.8 129.1 – – 153.8 129.1

Total 153.8 129.1 9.6 9.4 163.4 138.5

Liabilities       

Liabilities to clients – – 0.4 0.5 0.4 0.5

Provisions – – 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Total – – 0.4 0.5 0.4 0.5
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The maximum risk of loss, to which the DKB Group is 
exposed through its business activities with structured 
companies, is determined by the lending business for 
receivables and, for financial investments, from their 
balance sheet book value. These book values do not reflect 
the economic risk of the DKB Group from these shares, as 
they do not take account of collateral or hedging relation-
ships.

Other obligations from shares in non-consolidated structured companies

Investment funds Other financing Total

EUR millions 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

       

Loan commitments – – 0.3 1.0 0.3 1.0

Total – – 0.3 1.0 0.3 1.0

The maximum risk of loss from off-balance-sheet trans
actions is represented by their nominal value. These 
nominal values do not represent the economic risk, as 
neither the effects of collateralisation, nor the probability 
of losses that may have occurred, are taken into account.

Obligations from shares in non-consolidated structured companies

Investment funds Other financing Total

EUR millions 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

      

Net interest income 0.5 1.0 0.3 0.3 0.8 1.3

Risk result – – –0.1 –0.2 –0.1 –0.2

Total 0.5 1.0 0.2 0.1 0.7 1.1
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(68) �Seats held on statutory supervisory  
bodies of major corporations or financial 
institutions

As at the balance sheet reporting date, 31 December 2019, 
the following mandates were held by members of the 
Board of Management and by employees of DKB on statu
tory supervisory bodies of major corporations, including 
financial institutions: 

Stefan Unterlandstättner 
Bayern Card-Services GmbH, Munich
VÖB Service GmbH, Bonn

Alexander von Dobschütz  
AKA Ausfuhrkredit-Gesellschaft mbH, Frankfurt am Main

(69) Auditor’s fee
The auditor’s fee, recognised in the financial year  
as an expense, is composed as follows:

EUR millions 20191

Audit services for the financial statements 2.5

Other auditing services 0.2

Tax consultancy services –

Other services 0.5

Total 3.2

 1 Excluding VAT (net).

The auditor’s fee includes, in particular, the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements and the annual financial 
statements of DKB, as well as the annual financial state-
ments of other Group companies, including statutory 
contract extensions and auditing focal points agreed 
with the Supervisory Board. In addition, the review of the 
half-yearly financial report was carried out in conjunction 

with the audit. The other confirmation services relate to 
the audit pursuant to section 89 WpHG. Other services 
relate to quality assurance support services for internal 
DKB projects to implement legal and regulatory require-
ments.
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(70) Employees
Average employee capacities during the financial year:

2019 2018

Full-time staff (excluding apprentices) 2,948 2,584

Female 1.392 1.219

Male 1.556 1.366

Part-time staff (excluding apprentices) 743 692

Female 609 581

Male 134 111

Apprentices 13 16

Female 8 8

Male 5 8

Total 3,704 3,292

The working hours of the part-time staff were converted 
to those of full-time staff.
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(71) Shareholders
DKB is a wholly owned subsidiary of BayernLB with its 
headquarters in Munich. BayernLB is an institution estab-
lished under public law. It is owned (indirectly via BayernLB 
Holding AG) by the Free State of Bavaria and the Association 
of Bavarian Savings Banks. The BayernLB notification was 
issued to DKB in accordance with Section 20 (4) AktG.

The DKB Group is included in the consolidated financial 
statements of BayernLB. The consolidated financial state-
ments of BayernLB will be published, as will the consoli-
dated financial statements of DKB, in the electronic Federal 
Gazette. 

(72) Events after the balance sheet date
There were no events of particular significance for the 
DKB Group after 31 December 2019.

Time of release for publication 
The Board of Management of Deutsche Kreditbank AG 
prepared the consolidated financial statements on 
25 February 2020 and released them for submission to 
the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board has the 
task of auditing the consolidated financial statements 
and of declaring whether it approves the consolidated 
financial statements.

Berlin, 25 February 2020

Deutsche Kreditbank AG
The Board of Management

Thomas JebsenStefan Unterlandstättner Tilo Hacke

Alexander von Dobschütz Jan Walther
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Responsibility statement by the Board of Management

We declare that, to the best of our knowledge and in accordance with the applicable accounting principles, these consoli-
dated financial statements, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, provide a true representation of 
the Group’s net assets, financial position and performance, and that, in the combined management report, the business 
result including the gains/losses and the position of the Group are represented such as to provide a true picture of the 
actual situation, and that the material opportunities and risks of the expected development of the Group are described.

Berlin, 25 February 2020

Deutsche Kreditbank AG
The Board of Management

Thomas JebsenStefan Unterlandstättner Tilo Hacke

Alexander von Dobschütz Jan Walther
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Independent auditor’s report

For Deutsche Kreditbank AG, Berlin 

Report on the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements and Group manage-
ment report 

Audit opinions
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 
Deutsche Kreditbank AG, Berlin, and its subsidiaries (the 
Group) – comprising the consolidated balance sheet as at 
31 December 2019, the consolidated statement of compre-
hensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the 
financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2019 and the 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. In addition, we 
have audited the combined management report of 
Deutsche Kreditbank AG, which is combined with the 
company’s management report, for the financial year from 
1 January to 31 December 2019. In accordance with 
German law, we have not audited the content of the 
corporate governance statement pursuant to Section 289 
(f ) (4) HGB (information on the representation of women). 

In our opinion based on the findings of our audit 

–	� the enclosed consolidated annual financial statements 
are in all material respects in compliance with IFRS as 
applicable in the EU and the supplementary provisions 
under commercial law pursuant to Section 315a (1) HGB 
and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations of the Group as at 
31 December 2019 and its earnings situation for the 
financial year from 1 January until the end of 31 Decem-
ber 2019 in accordance with these requirements and 

–	� the Group management report provides a suitable 
understanding of the Group’s position. In all material 
respects, this combined management report 

	� is consistent with the consolidated financial statements, 
complies with German law and suitably presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development. Our audit 
opinion on the Group management report does not 
extend to the contents of the above-mentioned corpor
ate governance statement. 

In accordance with Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we 
declare that our audit has not led to any objections against 
the correctness of the consolidated financial statements 
and the Group management report. 

Basis for the audit opinions 
We conducted our audit of the consolidated annual 
financial statements and the Group management report in 
accordance with Section 317 HGB, EU Auditor Regulation 
(No. 537/2014; hereinafter “EU-APrVO”) and the German 
generally accepted accounting standards laid down by the 
German Institute of Public Auditors (Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer – IDW). Our responsibility in accordance 
with these regulations and principles is further described 
in the section “Responsibility of the auditor for the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements and Group manage-
ment report” of our audit opinion. We are independent of 
the Group company in accordance with European and 
German commercial and professional legal regulations 
and have met our other German professional duties in 
accordance with these requirements. In addition, we 
declare in accordance with Article 10 (2) letter f ) of 
EU-APrVO that we have not provided any prohibited 
non-audit services pursuant to Article 5 (1) of EU-APrVO. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements and 
Group management report. 
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Particularly significant audit issues arising from 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Particularly significant audit issues are those which, in our 
opinion and due discretion, were most significant to our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the 
financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2019. These 
issues have been considered in connection with our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole and in 
forming our opinion thereon; we do not express a separate 
opinion on these issues. 

In our opinion, the following aspect was most significant in 
our audit: 

–	� Risk provisions in the lending business 

We have structured our presentation of this particularly 
important audit aspect as follows: 

•	 Facts and problem definition 
•	 Audit procedure and findings 
•	 Reference to further information 

We present below the most important aspects of the audit: 

–	� Risk provisions in the lending business 

•	� In the company’s consolidated financial statements, loan 
receivables amounting to EUR 69,526.3 million (83% of 
net assets) are reported under the balance sheet item 
“Loans and advances to clients”. As at 31 December 2019, 
on-balance-sheet risk provisions for the loan portfolio 
consist of individual and portfolio allowances. The 
measurement of risk provisions in the lending business is 
determined in particular by the estimates of the legal 
representatives with regard to future loan defaults, the 
structure and quality of the loan portfolios and macro-
economic factors. The amount of specific valuation 
allowances for client receivables is the difference 
between the outstanding loan amount and the lower 
value to be attributed to it as at the balance sheet date. 
Existing collateral is taken into account. The valuation 
allowances for the lending business are of great signifi-
cance for the company’s net assets and results of oper
ations in terms of the amounts involved, on the one 
hand, and involve considerable discretion on the part of 

legal representatives, on the other. In addition, the 
measurement parameters applied, which are subject to 
significant uncertainties, have a material effect on the 
creation or amount of any necessary valuation allow-
ances. Given the aforementioned, this aspect was of 
significant importance within the scope of our audit. 

 •	� As part of our audit, we first assessed the appropriate-
ness of the design of the controls in the relevant internal 
control system of the company, taking into account our 
understanding of the business organisation, the IT 
systems set up and the valuation models used, and 
tested the functionality of the controls. In addition, we 
assessed the calculation methods used by the company 
as well as the underlying assumptions and parameters in 
order to evaluate the individual and portfolio valuation 
allowances applied. Furthermore, we assessed the 
measurement of client receivables, including the appro-
priateness of estimated amounts, based on random 
samples of loan exposures. In doing so, we assessed, 
among other things, the documents available to the 
company with regard to the economic circumstances 
and the intrinsic value of the corresponding collateral. In 
the case of property collateral for which the company 
furnished us with value appraisals, we gained an under-
standing of the underlying data, the measurement 
parameters applied and the assumptions made, critically 
evaluated these and assessed whether they fell within a 
reasonable bandwidth. Overall, based on our audit 
procedures, we were able to satisfy ourselves as to the 
appropriateness of the assumptions made and param
eters used by the legal representatives in the impairment 
test of the loan portfolio and the appropriateness and 
effectiveness of the processes implemented by the 
company.

 
•	� The company’s disclosures on the risk provisions in the 

lending business can be found in sections “Note 9” and 
“Note 39” of the Notes. 
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Miscellaneous information
The legal representatives are responsible for the mis-
cellaneous information. Other information includes the 
corporate governance statement in accordance with 
Section 289f (4) HGB (information on the representation of 
women). 

Other information also includes the remaining parts of the 
Annual Report – without further cross-references to 
external information – with the exception of the audited 
consolidated financial statements, the audited combined 
management report and our audit opinion. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements and 
Group management report does not extend to miscellan
eous information, and accordingly we do not express an 
audit opinion or any other form of conclusion on such 
information. 

In connection with our audit, we have the responsibility to 
read the miscellaneous information and, in doing so, to 
assess whether the miscellaneous information 
 
•	� is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 

statements, Group management report or the findings of 
our audit, or

•	� otherwise appears materially misrepresented.

Responsibility of the legal representatives and the 
Supervisory Board for the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group management report 
The legal representatives are responsible for the prepar
ation of the consolidated financial statements in accord
ance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and the additional 
requirements of German law pursuant to Section 315e (1) 
HGB and for the presentation of a true and fair view of the 
net assets, financial position and results of operations of 
the Group in accordance with these requirements. 
Furthermore, the legal representatives are responsible for 
the internal controls they have determined as necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial state-
ments that are free from material misstatements, whether 
intentional or not.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the 
legal representatives are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. They are 
also responsible for disclosing, where relevant, matters 
relating to the continuation of the company’s activities. In 
addition, they are responsible for accounting on the basis 
of the going-concern accounting principle, unless there is 
the intention to liquidate the Group or to discontinue 
operations or there is no realistic alternative. 

The legal representatives are responsible for the prepar
ation of the Group management report, which as a whole 
provides a suitable view of the Group’s position, is consist
ent in all material respects with the consolidated financial 
statements, complies with German law and suitably 
presents the opportunities and risks of future develop-
ment. Furthermore, the legal representatives are respon
sible for the precautions and measures (and such systems) 
which they have deemed necessary to enable the prepar
ation of a Group management report in accordance with 
the applicable German legal provisions and to provide 
sufficient suitable evidence for the statements in the 
Group management report. The Supervisory Board is 
responsible for monitoring the Group’s accounting process 
for the preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the Group management report. 

Responsibility of the auditor for the audit  
of the consolidated financial statements and 
Group management report 
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance as to 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatements, whether intended or 
not, and whether the Group management report as a 
whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and 
is in accordance, in all material respects, with the consoli-
dated financial statements and the findings of our audit, 
complies with the requirements of the German legal 
regulations and suitably presents the opportunities and 
risks of future development, and to issue an audit report 
that includes our audit opinions on the consolidated 
financial statements and Group management report. 
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Sufficient assurance is a high degree of certainty, but no 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Section 317 HGB and EU-APrVO in accordance with the 
generally accepted standards for the audit of financial 
statements laid down by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer 
(IDW) will always reveal a material misstatement. Misstate-
ments may result from infringements or inaccuracies and 
are considered material if it could reasonably be expected 
that they will influence the financial decisions of the users 
of these financial statements, made individually or collect
ively on the basis of these consolidated financial state-
ments and Group management report. 

During the audit, we exercise due discretion and maintain 
a critical attitude. In addition: 

•	� we identify and assess the risks of material misstate-
ments, whether intentional or not, in the consolidated 
financial statements and Group management report, 
plan and perform audit procedures in response to these 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to form the basis for our audit opinion. The 
risk that material misrepresentations are not detected is 
higher in the case of violations than in the case of 
inaccuracies, since violations may involve fraudulent 
interaction, forgery, intentional incompleteness, mis-
leading representations or the repeal of internal controls.

•	� we gain an understanding of the internal control system 
relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and of the precautions and measures 
relevant to the audit of the Group management report 
for planning audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of these systems. 

•	� we assess the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used by the legal representatives and the reasonable-
ness of the estimated values and related disclosures 
presented by the legal representatives. 

•	� we draw conclusions about the appropriateness of the 
going-concern accounting principle applied by the legal 
representatives and, based on the evidence obtained, 
whether there is a material uncertainty in connection 
with events or circumstances that could raise significant 
doubts about the Group’s ability to continue its activities 
as a going concern. If we conclude that there is material 
uncertainty, we are obliged to draw attention to the 
relevant information in the consolidated financial 
statements and the Group management report in our 
audit report or, if this information is inappropriate, to 
modify our respective audit opinion. We draw our 
conclusions on the basis of evidence obtained by the 
date of our audit opinion. However, future events or 
circumstances may prevent the Group from continuing 
its business activities. 

•	� we assess the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements present the underlying business transactions 
and events such that the consolidated financial state-
ments give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations of the Group in 
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and the 
additional requirements of German law pursuant to 
Section 315e (1) HGB. 

•	� we obtain sufficient, suitable audit evidence for the 
accounting information of the companies or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements and the Group 
management report. We are responsible for the manage-
ment, supervision and execution of the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements. We bear the sole 
responsibility for our audit opinions. 

•	� we assess the consistency of the Group management 
report with the consolidated financial statements, its 
compliance with the law and the picture it conveys of 
the Group’s position. 
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•	� we perform audit procedures on the forward-looking 
statements presented by the legal representatives in the 
Group management report. On the basis of sufficient 
suitable audit evidence, we follow up on the significant 
assumptions underlying the future-oriented statements 
made by the legal representatives and assess the 
appropriate derivation of the future-oriented statements 
from these assumptions. We do not express an inde
pendent opinion on these forward-looking statements 
or on the underlying assumptions. There is a significant 
unavoidable risk that future events could differ materi-
ally from the forward-looking statements. 

We discuss with those responsible for monitoring, inter 
alia, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any deficiencies in the 
internal control system which we identify during our audit. 

We make a statement to those responsible for the monitor-
ing that we have complied with the relevant independ
ence requirements and discuss with them all the relation-
ships and other matters that can reasonably be expected 
to affect our independence and the safeguards taken to 
that end. From the matters that we have discussed with 
those responsible for supervision, we determine those 
matters that were most significant in the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements for the current reporting 
period and which are therefore particularly important 
audit matters. We describe these matters in the auditor’s 
report, unless laws or other legal provisions exclude public 
disclosure of the facts. 

Miscellaneous legal and other legal 
requirements 

Other disclosures in accordance with Article 10  
of EU-APrVO 

We were elected as Group auditors by the Annual General 
Meeting on 13 September 2017. We were appointed by the 
Supervisory Board on 23 November 2018. We have acted as 
the auditors of the consolidated financial statements of 
Deutsche Kreditbank AG without interruption since the 
2019 financial year. 

We declare that the audit opinions contained in this audit 
report are consistent with the additional report to the 
Audit Committee under Article 11 of EU-APrVO (Audit 
Report). 

Responsible auditor 

The auditor responsible for the audit is Mark Maternus. 
 
Berlin, on 25 February 2020

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft [audit firm]

Signed Mark Maternus	 Signed Michael Quade
German Public Auditor	 German Public Auditor
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Multi-year overview 

Earnings indicators

EUR millions 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Net interest income 950.5 945.1 935.2 795.1 790.4

Risk result 1 55.9 111.8 127.3 128.7 143.8

Net commission income –34.5 –33.7 –39.2 6.9 –1.3

Administrative expenses 541.4 474.7 446.3 417.0 376.8

Profit/loss before taxes 297.8 301.2 264.7 331.2 236.0

      

Cost/income ratio (CIR) in % 56.7 51.5 50.8 45.8 48.0

Return on equity (ROE) in % 9.5 10.2 9.6 12.4 9.6

Balance sheet figures

EUR millions 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Total assets 83,754.4 77,387.6 77,322.9 76,522.3 73,428.8

Equity 3,426.7 3,340.4 3,255.5 3,019.1 2,945.7

CET1 ratio in % 2 9.05 9.7 9.4 8.9 8.2

Client receivables 69,526.3 65,932.5 64,552.2 63,228.3 61,582.1

Customer deposits 60,766.5 54,366.1 53,931.0 53,438.0 48,558.2

Client figures

 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Number of clients 4,367,494 4,073,875 3,761,498 3,518,055 3,250,968

Number of retail current accounts (DKB-Cash) 3,248,569 2,980,293 2,746,526 2,501,689 2,214,771

Employee figures

 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Average FTEs  |  headcount 3,704 | 4,016 3,271 | 3,564 3,049 | 3,331 2,992 | 3,273 2,900 | 3,179 

FTEs | headcount as at 31 Dec. 3,839 | 4,148 3,431 | 3,731 3,084 | 3,379 3,032 | 3,316 2,937 | 3,220 

Average age in years 42.7 42.9 43.1 42.8 42.5

Average length of service in years 8.1 8.4 8.5 8.2 7.9

Gender breakdown m | f in % 44.6 | 55.4 43.8 | 56.2  43.3 | 56.7  41.7 | 58.3 40.5 | 59.5 

Gender breakdown by management position m | f in % 64.2 | 35.8 62.4 | 37.6 60.5 | 39.5 61.1 | 38.9 62.5 | 37.5 

Workforce availability in % 95.3 95.1 95.1 95 95.3

Training days/employee 4.0 3.8 3.4 3.4 2.4

1 Risk provisions until 2017
2 After adoption of the annual financial statements
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Contact and legal notice

Our contact details

Deutsche Kreditbank AG
Taubenstraße 7– 9
D-10117 Berlin
info@dkb.de 
Tel.: + 49 30 120 300 00
www.dkb.de

Postal address
Deutsche Kreditbank AG
D-10919 Berlin, Germany

Deutsche Kreditbank AG is a company of BayernLB.

Points of contact

Press
Tobias Campino-Spaeing
Head of Press Office
Tel.: + 49 30 120 30 - 3605
presse@dkb.de

Investor Relations
Armin Hermann
Treasury Divisional Head
Tel.: + 49 30 120 30 -2920
zentrale.treasury@dkb.de

Public Affairs & Sustainability
Dr Andreas Gruber
Head of Department
Tel.: + 49 30 120 30-3378
nachhaltigkeit@dkb.ag
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Additional information
Further information on our company can be found at www.dkb.de. 

Notice
This Annual Report published by Deutsche Kreditbank AG contains forward-looking statements. These statements reflect 
the current views of the company’s management and are thus based on estimates and expectations. They are therefore 
not to be regarded as guarantees that these expectations will also be met.  

The information provided in the Annual Report was carefully selected and originates from credible sources, although we 
did not check the veracity of the information. The DKB Annual Report 2019 is also available in German. In the event of any 
discrepancy, the German version shall prevail.

Legal notice
Publisher: The Board of Management of Deutsche Kreditbank AG
Concept and design: Berichtsmanufaktur GmbH, Hamburg

Version: March 2020

© Deutsche Kreditbank AG, Berlin

Inclusion and diversity are of great import
ance to us. The statements in the document 
therefore apply to all people, irrespective 
of their identity. For ease of reading, we use 
gender-neutral language in the text.
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